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iiiiorris Littman, 189- 200-
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was retained by the comdefendunt, and he desires to. 

the VNO defendants, I ask yourlonor's permission.to.w, 

draw from the case and that Mr. Hoffman be attortv 0 

of record in both cases. 

TH10, (CORT: All right; suctiod granted. 

...... 

'MAX,N: It i oneaded by counsel for the 

defendant that the.Veople have duly proved all of the 

material allegations of the first count of the indictmem,p, 

of the defendants or  trial. 

THE ;OirrtT: 'What is the allegation of the first - 

count of the indictment? 

IT. O'MALLEY: 'm allegation is that the defendant  

Isidore Eaplan, was, convicted of the urime of an attempt 

at grana larceny, in the second degree on the 22nd day 

of October, 1908, b fore Honorable James T. Malone, 



Judge of the Court of General Sessions of theZmwMO 

and for the County of New York, and was thereafter se 

tenced, pursuant to that conviction. ' 

THE COURT: And in regard to the other 0110 

O'LALLKY: , The allegations of the indictme 

are that the defepdaht, ois Littman, otherwise called 

'YozePh Grembere, was-, in due form of law, convicted of a 

fOlony, ,e .0T1111 of an attempt. to commit the 

cratd t-4roeny in the second degreev,befere Hon. 

Mulqueonl .Tudg  of the Court of General Sea-

ion of the 2eace 1 ir 4n6 for the, County of New York, - 

on v.,..ue 2nd day of 117.-aroh, in the year 1909, and wag there-

after duly sbntenced„ plVsuant to that judgment of 
to . 

eonviction. T sholad add) T 
A 
that at para-, 

gral tiliA the suie, defsndunt„ iu.orris Littman was 

convicted under the narn of Xoseph Greenberg. 

0. *0 Mir0  

IA X STERN, called asawitness on behalf of the 

people, brAng first duly sworn, testified ae follows: 

DIXOCT 5.1XAi,INATION BY LR. O'kELI-AY: 

What is your name" A Max Stern. 

W-Lere do you live A 194 East Third Street. ' 

Valerc do you work') A I work for L. i. Barron., - 

Q What is his address') A 137 Greene street. 

thl.) City and County of New York' A. Yes, sirs 

• 



• •-;:vr 

Q And were you so employed on O. 

19109 

Qi 

A Yes, sir. 

Were you at the place of busine 

Company on that da:le) A Yes, sir. 

.1,,L4ce 

'In the afternoon"? A Yes, 

Did.„ roil, at sqiiie 

sir, 

time in the afternoon, leave that 

business with ortain.iJaer boxes'? 

HOYEIA17: 

'0OURT: 

TZat vere yO tloinr 

skirts, cild we hud 

voont, 

21r TIO COURT.: 

What dieyo 

question'? A I had 

01-/ected to as leading. 

..ction sustained. 

afternoon'? A I was picking 

a lot of shipments to ship out. 

N,rou take oa 

(No ammier) 

-any hoods out of there that af.ter-

do in reerence to thenatter here in 

a lot of 9a01-aGes; we had six packages 

for the Yuderican, and two packages 

Expresz Company o it was about a 

foT the United States 

quarter to five, and.1--

told the elevator man, at five o'clock, before lie goes, 

would he come up and take the packages down., se 'we Should 

be able tootake them to the office. He brought eight 
Company • 

--oackaceb; and the American Expresseagon was standing on 

the corner; so I took the six packages for theAmerican, and 

brought then over, and I loft the two United States Packa-

ges near the elevator, and when I returned I found only one. 



1.10R 0 ILAILLEY: 

What were in those package 9 A at irt- • 

Women's skirts' A Women's skirts. 

Did vou see t togize put up i 'those boxes" 

Yes, sir,  

TR. EDPRKAl: 0)jected.-17,0. 

. ore you up air 8, wjensop, in was put into 

iggitt; NiD.0 plat Lr 

ou see 1;13A3 

it color"

raeraber exact12,r. 

And, viLen you came bac, you say two boxes that you 

left near th): elevator were gone' k I found only one. 
- 

R. HOYPKAN: Ojectedto.. The witne s has not 

mde •any such stateent.. 

You found otla.27 one" A One, I found , 

THE COURT: I understand the witness to say that 

six boxes were, delivered to the AYfierican Express Company? 

TirA lEr.;7,71?,SS : Yes, sir . 

kiow o) out tho o tiler two boxes" A I left the* heap-



Near 41e-elevato in your buildine 

when I returned for these boxes, it took MO only about twø 

Minutes, ard when I returned, I. found only one boX. 

One of those two A Yes, si 

0 ti.hALLEY: 

Describe to thu jur.;- the aplie ranee of those boxes 

bm‹. 

3.;:t inches wide, of how, of 

Ana. Li. ow :Long ̂ Give you2.- beet judgraent"' A About 

e eel? o Wentr 

Diu Cd...0:112ryj ny wwitinc, on 110 A Yes, sir. 

The p Jer was marke'd-- on them two war InaeXed, "Wheeler, 

Mother St. oseiha, 

BY TH711 COURT: 

Can !t1 you )611 it  or write. ,it  A •am not 

pociAive how it is spelled. 

Q. Well, dO the best you can with. it. 

writes, "Wheeler, Mother, St. Josephs, Mo" 

"P,Y iB. 0 '1,LALL'iar: 

That name wason both boxes, was it, A Yes, sir. 

Do you know whether these are the boxes (Exhibiting 



saw° to witness) A These are the boxes 

V,^ 

uti •c4 

the paper. There was e. different paper on it. 

Where was the writing, A - On the other paver. 

MR. HOMAN: I object to the statement that there 

was another paper on it 

q These are the boS in which they were A Yes, str. 

And  tst was on the "box, if anything' 

On he bOx, it was wrapped Up in paper, and on the 

pa,per was mared the nahes, 

When did you next see any of the boxes'? 

A I saw them Ionday iornini, in the detective Bureau, in 

Plien FAreet. 

What day or j_e week was it tha,,, you missed these 

boxes'? A On Saturday night. 

5e1;tenter 17thn A September 17th, 

And the next luontqty morning you .were at police head-

quarters were Y0119 A Yes, sir. 

And there di6 You see certain goods'? A Yes, sir.x. 

I show you iL,:se boxes, and *ask you if these are the 

goodu you saw at th?.: ileadquarters the following morn-

ing'' A Yes, sir -

0 Now, I show you a paperind. ask roll if you have seen 

that before'? A Yes, sj . 

Q, Where did you, see W" A X aw it before Ltook them 

down, and then I saw tIteM at the detective bureau, ilondaY. 

" 



A 

BY 

QJ 

Q Where was this paps This 

up on the box. 

By THE COURT: 

You tie n , the box wae *rapped up iT1 that PaPer, 

Yes, sir. 

. 0 tii.A.M.BY: 

And it contained an ndorsement on it, did ito 

A Yes sir. 

BY r   COURT: 

Just as it is the. Just as it. 

Do Q, oo vou kno whose handwriting that i 

Yes, sir. 

WhoHe Is it A he shippinf clerk' s 

what is Ills naver) Leo 

• --9-1-a-n A lc- -p-1-i-

shippily e.-Lerkt A Yes, sir. 

Is he now i n em.oloy of 'Baron ek Coalpany9 

No, 

Dc yo u know taLere w is" A he is on the 

He aint in town. 

Y 001.1R5:1 

What does that ean'-' Sellin 

in  goods. 

Dy (1)(1.:ALTIOtt 
(I Did you exar.ine t kese goods when you we 



headquarters, A Yes, sir. 

Is there anything on those skirts 

you to identify theeas the property of 11., Is 

pany9 A Yes, sir; I have got it in the boat 'every 

of skirts, and how many skirts of each style. 

Can you say now  of your own knowledge, whether 

this is the iirol)erty that was in those boxes? 

A Yes, sir. 

And you saw those at oIxok neadqu 59 

/5s, sir. 

WIRT1 Are tilos s irta tagged(' 

01.0A.T.;JAY: Tney are, your Honor. 

OMIT: 

00 you r copaik;e thoe th.gey A Yes, sir, I 4o. 

ATV :they th firiu tags'? A Yes, sir. 

And the goods you put in the box, and: labeled that 

way-- that were afterwards laTieled that way, all .had tags 

on the like that'? Tvery one of then. 

Tne firn'E3 tasn •k Yes, fiir. 

:R. 01.0ASI: T offer these -for identification, 

togettier.with the l, 

(jeceived ir eviu.snoe t4nd z647.4.ed, "People's 

Exhibit No. 1, for identification", af this date) 

Your witness. 

• 
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CROSS EXAMINATION BY HR. O'MALLEY: 

Mr. .Stern, on the 17th day of Septedber, previous 

to that day, how long were you working for Baron & Company' 

A Well, I was working only about three or four weeks. 

WAat were your duties in that place of business? 

A I was taking-- receiving skirts from the contractors. 

You were receiving the skirts as they were coming 

from the contractors'? A Yes, sir. 

Did you have any other work prescribed' to you' 

A Used to •do errands, and pack. I used to pack. 

Q On this day, how riany packages did you take down 

stairs') A Eight. 

tn those eightpackages, were there contained all 

of the save skirts, of he same style" A No, sir. 

How man2:t styles were,. contained in those eight 

packages, if you know A No sir, I couldn't exactly tell 

you how many styles. 

0 Co you know anythlng about the style of a skirt'? 

A Yes, sir. 

Can you explin in what respect Lhe skirts now here 

are different to th; skirts that you shiped on that diEw9 

Well, for the swfle 1,,iarty 

HAIN, esany styleP, were contained in those eight pack-

ages, if you known 

tell you how many styles. 

A No, sir, I could not axactly. 



are different to the skirts that you shipped on that die 

Well, for the same party we had the same skirts 

shipped, the same as we got over here. 

Q 00 you want the jury to understand that there was 

more than one bundle shipped to this party in Missouri on 

this day(' A Yes, on this day was only .one package shipped 

and one as was taken away from us, We had two packages 

ready. 

You say) two packages were made up"' A Yes, sir. 

Q You testified ir the iiolice Court, didn't you 

Yes, sir.. 

Do you remeriber the question asked of you as follows: 

"You did not wrap them up'' A No,sir." Was that 

statement correct') 

TK UOURT: Referring to what(' Read a little 

ab.ead, so he can get the connection. 

q "Cross Exaviination and so forth." "You did not 

You did not wrap up the skirts. 

that answer in the 'police Uourt A. I did 

Now, then, is it not a fact that, on this . day, you 

diet not wrap up these goods' A I did not wrap up those 



n 
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skirts, but I wrapped up different skirt*, that went out to 

different firms. 

• -*Q Now, then,'- you want this jury to understand that 

on the day in question you wrapped up skirts, but that you 

did not wrap up these skirte A NO sir. 

Is it right, that you did not wrap up these skirts" 

Test sir. 

Tiu..001JR : The one that has just been exhibited 

to you, you did. riot wrap those up? 

WITNESS: No, sir: 

You want the jury to understand that _Kaplan wrapped 

upl also, bundles on that day A KaPlan wrapped up . 

them skirts. 

You did not wrap up those skirts' A No, sir. 

80 testified. 

Now, then, if you did not wrap up the skirts, can 

you explain to the jury how it is that you testified 'before 

that you knew what were in these skirts^ 

ThE COURT: In the boxes. 

i. O'MALL27Y: In the boxes, yes, sir. 

BecauSe was standing at the time near him, when he 

packed them up. He said, "Wait, and I will take them 

right down." It was iretty near five o'clock, and I 

haa to get then down for the express; it should not be too 

late for the elevator to go down, 



4 

(I Now, Mr. Baron makes thousands of these skirts, 

doesn't Yes, sir. 

There is no way of your telling whether the skirts 

which are now here are if the skirts which have been shipped 

somewhere else and brought back into this City 

.A (No answer) 

q I will ask the question again. You can't tell 

wh.ether the skirts now here are skirts which had been sold 

and brought back into the City A (No answer) 

You won't swear tnt 4cese skirts were notsold and. 

afterwards brouGht back into t-he Gity A Yes, sir. 

You will swear tit bey were A They*went out 

from our place tizat Saturday night. 

You want the jury to understand that these skirts 

are 44nutactured 1)11 3a:n 6: Company', A yes, sir. 

And you also want the jury to understand that Baron 

m eoxkiany Banufactur,e thousands of those varticular kind of 

s:kirt A Not that style. 

Ebw- oany of this style are manufactured. by Barori* 

Oompany9 1 Well, I could not exactly tell. . 

Q About .IIDW You claim to have been a packing 

clerk. You know sone. 'ling about how many skirts go Out9 

A Rive or six hundred. 

Piye o 61X hu7ldree 

ti :re 

Yes, sir, 

anything on these skirts which lead you to 
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believe that they are not part of the five or six hundred 

that have been o1d A Yes, sir. 

What is there on the skirts 9 A I have got the 

same numbers, because we have their numbers. 

You Lave numbers? A Yes, sir. 

THE 0011TRT:' 

Is every skirt nux.ibered,-

172', RCIPAAilt: 

Oid ylitt fut any 'nutters On* these skirts? 

I didn't i.)ut ',he numbers or. 

now, then, if you did not Alt .an7 numbers on these 

irts„ you oan't tell when skirts they are; is that right' 

A I don't understand the Tlestion. 

Q If you ,id not put the nutabers on these skirts you 

are not able to tell whioh.of the fiie hundred. tiese 

0.icirtf) ate• A Well, that day, I didn't have any 

,.,..arks of til.z4 number; we had just *fifty-seven skirts, and 

We sent out Ilhirty-ti , and 'twenty-fourwere taken away. 

(que tion reveated) 

relAl tnat day, we did not have any mark of that number. 

Yes, sir, 

We 11E:4 just fifty-seven skirts, and we sent out thirty-three, 

and twenty-four were taken away. 

( uestion reveated) 

A Vela, we diet not add that fifteen hundred. 

Ni. Witness, you claim that your firm manufactured 



in the neighborhood .of five hundred skirts 

Now, that is right A Yes, sir.' 

Now, then, is there any way of your telling-Wh 

of these five hundred skirts these .are A W 

don't manufacture them all. at one time. We .get an orde 

and we make them separate; but, on that day, we had on 

fifty seven. 

tr Did you see the nuMbers as they were put on the 

:if  Yes, sir. 

Did you put them on  A No, sir, I didn't. 

Q. 1Ifrf, nutabers were pU on tnese skirts' A Wells 

can't reraember. I got at& them all marked in the book, 

were put down. 

.(III.iniaj.nc. book to witne.$)' 00 you. write in. this 

book':' A q the ship94ni, cler.;. wrote. 

Q Now, then, j the shippinc cler.k wrote in that book, 

you don't know what nurdbers he assigned to these sk1rts9 

A I vas there when he wrotei .he wrote the same number on 

the book that was on the skirt. 

Did yon see him wri!`,e in:the bool0  A Yes, sir. 

Did yon do any cullin'gOfA I used t -A° it. 

caliett 

1kt -Ii) yOn ca1. of A 

1 foeQ1 04.1cad Aonse, 

Not them skirts. I 

oars Roebuck. 

.14,4kat, wort•o 4;13 numbers called off on that day? 

I could t remenber what numbers), 'boo use we send 



thousands of skirts to Sears & Roebuck. 

You don't remember any numbers that were 0041e 

.off? A No, sir. 

(4, What were the numbers assignee" to St. Tosephe 

Ilissouri? 

them? A 

BY THE COURT: 

you know the numbers that were assigned 

sir. 

Have you eot a book that will show that! A 

Have you got it with you? A :Yes, sit& 

TEE COURT: Do you want him to refer to the bock? 

R. HUMAN: Nol sir  

BY AYL HOF,YANI 

9, The five luin ed skirts thatyour 'firm manufacture4, 

cd.ia taey tal carry the same huMber? No, .sir. 

w,It,vias one. style, wasn't it? Yes, sir. 

How diei, your firm know the style that was Bald, if 

you did not carry one style nuMber? A The2r have different 

numbers for different custo.4ers; each one might get the same 

style. 

Zile records in your businees1 didn't that—have one 

, . 
. number for the sante. style? A 1%11 nol. liftery:ous7 

toxert his nuxiier is. different, 

TEN COURT: The style number is. wt. counsel 

wants, 



Way; 

(1 The style number, for the protection of 

so it will know what skirt a company is ordering, 

have one number, A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, isn't it a fact that one 'number was put on 

skirts which would go out  A We don't put the numbers 

ofi the skirts. We just put their awnnumber.: 

BY ZEE COURT; 

q• You don't put -the style number on the 

c, si:r; inst the oustoer'n nimber. 

day of this' _rvesh, about wilat time was •it 

when. .8 bundls were cried down stair A It was 

abont %an minneso.f i ei about five o 

)id yon oarrz' the bundles down alone 

another b or carried t'aem down. with me. 

CI This bundle which is now here, Aid ypu. 0 

bundle down' A Yes sir. 

q When. yo u carri d it down, where did you 

A Right near the elevator of our building. 

That is in the hallway" A •It aint 1;1 

it is right outside near the elevator 

hallway there. It is on the sidewalk. 

On the sidewalk'? , A . Yes, sir! 

Did you instruct anybody to stand there  A 

s1r. 



• 
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14 And the elght bundles that you took dvwn, lbilLnisio 

of them had already been across the street, or d sposed:0 

A Well, 1 took always six. 

BY '11'75 COURT?, 

T c the AuLerican A To the Amer can. 

And you left two-- A left two for the 

Wilted sTWte-s J.9*.press. 

You saa  you left two bunc1les A Yes, sir. 

Q. When yOU returned, were the two htindles-missirie 

No, only one Was mi sing. 

That was you say, at five o'clock') Yes, sir. 

Did you see these bknr J-11 that street at that time, 

A No, air. 

Previous to your seeinr them in the Police Court, 

did you ever in your life see these "6oye7 A No, sir. 

Were they uv in your -building Did you see them 

there thitt day, at any time') A NO, sir* 

q Now,. then, it was five o'clock -- it took you about 

a few minutes to cross the street, A Yes sir. 

Were you talking to 'some one when you crossed the 

street'? A No, sir. 

While delivering the bundles to the express wagons 

did you look across the street, to see that your-bund146 

were still t1ieie A No,. I had two packages it ipziok me two 



minutes until he signed the r 

Q• During those two minutes, did 

around to look at those 1undles A NO 

You aay it took you two minutes' A 

Do you know how long it would take you to. cross 

.Ttreet) about how loncr it took yon to cross the street' 

P. It did u take me more than five minutes. 

It took you inutesr‘ A 

to sign t4 receipt. 

FI've 4.1inutee 

cross., and Wait, 

how lonp. a tia did yon'Oeix, YOUr eyes on those  

) 1e8.c7 Until Ok thea aWay. 

You say 't ook youmines to deliver the 
• 

bundles A About tha t, 

Our inL7, that time, did you I 

any time") A No, sir, I didn't. 

aoro s the street at 

Were -yo-u right op9osite the wagoe 

BY Tag COURT: 

BY the way, what wagon was it' Th American 

!bc.press Company wagon 9 A Yes, sir. 

How about the United States Express Company wagon' 

ras. it t.,te 

_1J.•. •j  

You say it V4E1.5 an kmerican Express Com.lany wagon' 



- 

es, sir. 

uouRT: That took the six. 

B:0:5`131A1T Yes . 

1:13 inlystl*:, And the pther two were put ne 

(1007.1kay,

 

ox the sidewalk" 

T"?, 717wqM811: 7e 5sir. 

At f oot of the elevator'? 

• , Yes •sty' 

Wai )1..n Gr the United Express wagon 

to come 

' 1::  

As understand you, *befor you oar "1 ed the six bun-

class -across the cxtreet, b.euattSe 'Iron otouid not carry any more 

than tisals you carried one o ci.t e," 

A. I took three, and the other boy toOc three 
_ 

Q, You had, ano er toy with y'oul? A _Yes sit, 

g, He took three, and you took three' A Yes, sir. 

131- 'LIP; 

Qi 'What is the ether bog's Tlatn 6 ? - 0% Green.: 

a J. Green'? _4_ Yes, sir.. 

c4 . "Where is he'? A He is Working. 

Por L. I. Baron. 

137 ;2. HtTYP'ilLA1T: 
• 

While you two boys were crossing the street-, in the 

act of deiiverin theé bundl es to the 4xpress-c-ompany wagon 



you again, did lyou turn, around, 

Moan you returned, one of thead tun 

00 understand tha, while you were returning front 

the Pnarican Bxprese OompRny wagon one of the two'parceli 

w is$n Ae 

C, 

Yes, 

;z j;; sv.gen you .went on the elevator* 

jo, '174161-i - retro-led from the iierictn Express wagon. 

Yon coing across tne street(' 

ty 

Anti thLu yvu ware oepobitinc your three parcels, 

an6 T treen wzoi deliositinr his three iJarcels--

dei3ouiz,e aii six; Us jUut brought them over,. 

9k-J wer, Ap-43 

T '1 ' 

1 soon as lie brough the bunCleR ove7, he crossed 

the titreet9 A He went over, and Mum pply una bundle. 

When he crossed the treetl ounc 1.urrn.Rn 

YeB, sir, 

Vih dio he do then 'I' A BAS 00.1 ed aLts) and Asxed 

we if I aicz not make a mistake, and. give it-to the American.. 

Durinc the time you found one bundle was mis ing 

what did you do' A I went to tie American-- the wagon 

t 7,ith our pacAagee, ana I went to the American offices 



to find out if we had made a 

more than one bundle. 

q You now agree that you were not surea 

n fber of bundles you took over  A I was ewe.: 

WP did you .go to the American ftpress Oppany, 

A I said I am not sure, and Louis Kaplan 15475) Perim:Ps 

-I (116 miodke listarite,I. to4 him T vas .ure I took over 

may six. 

WS. 

taIs. 

un with you at. tiPter' he WØ Up-

Aiu know •t4,4i„ we .1o8t one -or the bundles 

tpook: 2ron out a few minues o cross. the at 

And ttv.i.,3 wagon 1043 air atl.y in front of. your 111,ape_ _ 

of 1-dusInese P 

sP On tue ;street.' 

"qhen you went back, o:r your partner went ba41 

.111ndi missine i -.E1E, 

304,u, 21210dY or„tr out t-14,t eoneb06,2, WUS 

undle Oiu you hear any 4x 1144*;*.tion of anybody.' 

olr. 

..You aecx any exolana ion of anybody'? 

stealing 

A No 

you oee any peopla wd olAr door at hat•irne9-

e. 

70u oa.w nobody :440:1'd•41446• an• eXpreSSI 
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which brought some of our goods from the contraCtors. 

Q Five o'clock, on Saturday on Green street, there were 

many people on the street" A Well, there was quite a 

few. 

THE COURT: %Mat street was that' Greene Street' 

MR HOPFKAN: Greene Street. ' 

THE WITNESS: Grene Street. 

Were' you. careful In looking, at any time, after you 

withdrew your 'six bllndles" A. I dort nd erstand. 

721-17 COURT: Yes, .e a little more definite than 

4 

Did you ii any atteniA to watch all the bundles 

While ?you croesed the street', A No, sir. 

Ana 'you are sure the tiiie was five o'clock' 

Yes, sir. 

When you found one bundle there did you make any 

-report to your. boss" A Yes, sir; I• started to.:look 

around., an6 I sent up, to tell Leo Eaplan thht one of our 

bundles was rds sing. 

fitter you did that, did You go for policeman!, 

o: die you telephone the police- A 

_ . . . . 
You did not telephone 'the police' •I did not, 

hut on; of our book-keepers went up-town, 'because he said. 

th wacon Went uptown with ten bund,Les.-

FAren after you foun0 bundle was missing, You were 



not sure whether °the bundle could not have: - 

express wagon' A I was sure, but the bp 

shipping clerk says perhaps I made a mistake: but I was 

that I did not. 

Q Then when, for the next time3 did you 000 any of e 

bunales A Ronday morning. 

Street. 

cas 

In Gou!;giq A No; in the detective bureau" Al2e0 

• You talk to any. one about this case 

• TOPPL- That is ather Vague and indefinite. 

Oxt.

 

:L r-  the Oi t ict Attorn TY about this 

Yes,

 

T. 

'Mien'I in What C urtn 

,an wi this Oistrict A,torney" A Yes, sir, 

W.11,en tAii, you taix with him' A • I don t exactly 

remem er when. A few weeks ago. 

Is t6 any statement which you made to him which 

;ou ui( not ',Jake, hPre to-day  A NO, sir. 

And what you told hiixi was precisely what you testified 

.re to-dalr Yes, sir. 

i. That is all. 

a; ,ixAlint?IoN BY ER. 0'.i4ALLgY: 

• r t- uc if aci-4, •OPt, 01. t ,em •be rs a certain 



and this is the style. 

Q What de you mean by "Their own number") 

The firm's number, the customer which we got,the. per* 

son which buys, in St.; Josephs, Missouri. 

0„ And what is that number') Call it off") A . 202. 

Is that on all these skirts' - A No; not on 41. 

Look and see how many9 A 214. 

Q Whose- nu.Oleri.i thate A Also their number, but 

it is a different e_yle. 

Go ahead' P is 225, 

t fjr n (es., e is 

Y071 that ady. Now, was o r shipment 

tais oolwern, in St. Xosevils on that d 

two boxes. 

es these 9 Nu, sir. 

Tilere ,e.tt two boxesL:kat -r, w_1(.1 this was 

I44 Yes, oir: 

And you are positive tekt tho hoes-- one o_ the 

box t o% aeyosited on tlau sid -a:LK rear the elevator 



q Look at the 

September le/th? 

MR. HOMAN': 

looking at the books. 

11R. OINIELLEY; 

him. 

nd ttErfl to then 

I object to the District Attorn 

He is pointing Out the 

I did not point out arArtilin 

goTirl,:A.N: X object to the introduction at this 

time of the book  in the Laann ie Oistriot Attorney 

showed t 7,ritness. He opened it at a certain i  

place, and banciec it the witness. T as.K. that the 

witnes$ ulce. the :book. 

.t. I have not seen it before. I don't 

Knoll/ 'VOL, o„.4-....nea it 

are 

• 

A 

• 

%;01111 Glc•e the hook. 

I !lave not offered .it. 

M4at naya you in your hand(' -A The shipping book. 

Of L. T. Baron (ic Company', .k Yes, sir. 

• Lure yoli'Crie entries of S )tember .17th, of this year, 

Wait rot, ) e se turn to tilem A Yes, sir. 

0# yo/4 find any entries 4.2,ere showing a •shiphent to  

Gouri'7 

LOTPRit,AN: I object, unless this witness ma e 

. kAALTIWY: '11,e hs..aiready testified that he 



saw them made. 

MR. HOMAN: 

R. 0 BALMY: 

ficient, I submit. 

TrIE COURT: 

That is not sufficient. 

That he saw them made; 

Yes, if he saw them made. by the man 

whose regular duty it was,. in the :regular  course of 

buthes in that firm, to rake the entries, he may testi-

fy to th4t fact, because he '11(.0 testified that that man 

is not now in the City or in the State of New.York„ but 

somewhere IA tille west, sellinp goods. 

Ji[07&01:I Object, on the ground the istrict. 

Attorney Jihli f4iieU to prove by evidence that he .had 

atta*ted to_brLn6 this witness, -.nd that, by reason 

of his indbilitL, to bring him, h.e nts this evidence. 

attem.vt. 

U011111. he need not ii,alz".e Lny proof of an 

The witness. is not within"reach of the court,. 

and 4,e cannot subpoena him; we cannot Subpoena anybody 

outside of th., State of New York. our subpoena has 

nu vLildity oubside of the State of New York. This 

viitnesp, testifies--

UOURT: 

Q, 
. . 

WhOUU. you say rade those') 'A Leo Eaplan. 

Le was the shipping cIericd A Yes, sir. 

And gou say he is now on the road  selling goods9 

A Yes, gir. 



• B. O'MALLEY: 

Q. And did you see him make certain entries 

on September 17th" A Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Did you see him make the entries in question, 

•A Yes, sir. 

And „),rou were Irorefient, A Yes, 

• 

Q, ,you Y01/ were Present when t;he goods w 

wrapped up, these  600d6 now shown to you, these skirts 

A Yes, sir. 

TM) UMW: Have you any other objection If 

hav  you can spread it on the record. 

HO-PWAN : That is Lw only objection. 

• UOURT: Objection' overruled. 

FR.HO1 Exception. 

L21,-. 0 'ALALL-14In 

please tell what entries were nade on that: 

.residepting shipmsent Goods to St, Joseph,. Missouri"-

. •I object to the form- of the. 'cluestions 

. Wait until I finish: 

(Cont nuin To iie custoiLer; litrler and-

Yes, sir. 

Ii0WA) : Objected to as - leading. 

? UOURT: We must not So all over the books. 

fiir„icy fhave been a hundred entries .on. that 'day. 



, 

• He can direct his attention to some part 

41.R. 0"44ALL3r: That is what I 

• Bave you found it' A Wheeler, Mot 

. Joseph Missouri, United States we had sent litallUt 

seven skirts, so we marked on the books 

four lots shi'pl'ed* 

Da those fih 

that day tiventYm' 

s any numbers, or anything of that 

kind(' A Welk T have got a bill her with, the.numbers. 

BY thA UOUrekt 

ahow the nUmb Vol the b Ok 

shows only liou Jany skirts, an. it S.6.0ws, the number of th 

am. • 

•  . 01LAMEY: 

1i•4G nuuber of bole 

I T nunller01 thQ box was ten thauand,, nine hundred 

0 irVY-nine, 0,11d fort:1*, on boytes, they. Were marked. 

Whiott box was shipped afterwards, do You know, which. 

iOjjwen 

O. n you find the box nie On this box'? 

i at on the Ldaver mark:ed. 

pa..Airc A Yes, sir, on the same paper. 

IL tt the only place wj_ere the number was on 

qusi.J)1,32ven -

could not tel:t you 

a•piece of this i,aper gone.--• DO you knOW 

to the parties in laissouri that day, 
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I don't know exactly. 

Q One of the boxes went A Yes sir. 

Q What have you there, a bill? A *Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see it made out? Have you seen it before 

A 'MB, sir. 

Q Who hiade that out9 A The book-keeper.. 

BY ThE COURT: 

What is his name? A Abe. Hertsberg. 

A Yes', sir. 

BY U. O'LALLEY: 

Q This covered the shipment to St. Josephs illseCitre 

Yes,- ir. 

To "W-Aeeleoie & Company Yea, air. 

41;li WhiALLEY: I offex that  in evidence. 

44E. Objected to. 

THE COURT: Objection.sustaned. You can get 

Baron's book shoving the entry showing from which that 

al; !Jade up. 

0'.51AL.LEv: Well, I won't co into that unless 

beeal!ies necessary. That is all. 

HOYIelv.AN: . 

You 54.1,6 the skirts that were shipped on thattleY 

Were LL. oi' ono style? A No, sir, not all of one style. 

iowzany styles were not shipped' Four or filre • 

*; 



Don't you remember, when I examined you as, 

nuiLiber of skirts of this particular style, yoU sa 

were five hundred and of these five hundred a -der 

. were shipped on that day  

O'NALIZY: I think he is ids-stating the fact. 

He said they had lanufactued about five .hundred skirts 

asI re 4,11 it, certain' style. 

L4ny OUrto of one Style were-nAl ,ed to Mls o 

on this day? A WeU, I could not ativmdber exc.t1y how 

zany skirts of eaeiTI. tyle/ becLuse OcUt five or 

Oix tyles. 

Vaa six WiZa.-!sil)lied on that day', 

o 'Asz;otzeir) 

'ere five or six s 
• 

c .iy• adin tile 

oafore you? A - .fizz 130v, 4ilud4 

u4-, one, hnd hoT,, 'ouch 1fl t °lie. 

)jjyontake the  skirts arell Out. Vie genera , 

D3 );' .ricifenit into this ore buOdie A • Well, there 

.wup ono vi fifty-seven skirts; we put them in a box, 

sluall box 2,R.cl a big box. 

0

 

Thefifty-seven skirts, are they now here' 

10 eir. 

How mAny are h ve9 A Thirty-three were taken 



• 14 The twenty-four we have here' did 

twen y-five in that box'? A No,, air, •Itso Kap 

• If Leo Kaplan put these skirts in the box, .y 

te.tifr tO Wilat Was cOntained in the bdx, A 

standits aaar hin4When :he packed them up. Of course, he• 

t •nick, Envh wanted to rt,, l'ady right away to go 

Ii' tao l'irst tine you saw these skirts 

in btndlel No sir, 

azAv in fX044 en't!:aotors, and when 

' it 'Ant;:on tiCerts1 and iiac ed. their, Up. 

Se4t3Artiz,;iS • 4'etty busy diozt • 

OJEAMAY: 

JOblY 41oltoe 

2.111130011AT.: 

Piatzwitail;;y of it. 

HOPPIIAN: 

Havsntt conH) over- this, 

Yes, I think BO:• X dontt a 

That is an* 

gio ••• am. so. * 

e the 

33 A R.0 N, called as a witness on behalf 

of the People, beint; first duly sworn, testified as follows:. 

T 1IJIN BY LNe 0 ' =LEY : 

Q W.iat is your . naxu.e.c A -Louis I. Baron. 

Q, Where do you live"? A 405 Layette Street, 

Yorx. City. 

What is your business9- A • Skirt nanufacturer. 



• 

itIL what Co nu ern a.re you o ected? 

'Bar on & Company. 

• niat is 4 corporation? A 

And doinr, business where? 

Greone Strer.A-

r 

193.0r," 

• 

Citcv 001.111%.:.. 

Yes, sir. 

In New York Cit 

New York' A Yea, air. 

iloy n.ed Max St ern in your employ? 

l) iJi noW in .0.011.7 t A Ye. 

A:flu yis.13in you: euplOy_ of September, 

nd yotir •01 iS what"' Manufacturing of 

Ana• ember14 J., were you. at police 

kt. e f.i.dquart Oitt. go tii,-'er) A No s . 

,:,,,fi•fju atarly ti/P Fiec any .skirts at any place' 

(lid 

VILlere9 A In :Essex Court. 

When wa.:3 t" A I c 0111,0.11 ' t rbér the date 

it inar after a certain 1,.4i.o.w.4ce al sap e 

yob.r ,Aace of business? A Yes, sir. 

h COURT: Well, he can say after the 

le skirts in question. 

ThIlt was after the loss of certain skir 

d from 



s_Lr. 

Yes, sir. 

Did you see certain skirts there' 

q In whose pos ession-were theyE The °Mese' 

TJ1.e oUicr, yes, sir. 

Q. I shov you certain skirts. Will you look at them, 

please? 

(Witness ex:II-Aries skirts) 

Yes, 
ax,e Lae 

Gliosel‘skirts you aaw? 

Q Do yo l,Kño ioe property they are 

beim to L. T. Baron & Company. 

LR. 0 'T1j. That is ail'. 

BY TITS COURT:. 

Yes, 

- 
1L•x. Baron, how about Le Aapla.W7' Where 

A We left enployi 

They -

her,. 

q Do you know wiere he is? A I o lieve is - Cr 

What understand, he is in 1as11iad1181 Tennessee. 

in Teineesee A Yes, r. 

Q, 'Wa e a shipping clerk? A Yes, sir. 

And do you know his hand writing 1 A I d 

THE COURT: Snow him that book, ana ask him if 

that is in the handwriting of Leo Kaplan, the shipping 

clerk. 

Turn to entries made on $eptember 17th, of the present 



Year. Do you see any of aplan's .handw 

A tley are all his handwriting. 

Do you see ary entry tiiere of a Shipment to Wheeler, 

Vi.other, St. j-osephs, 148souri9 A I do. 

0 And co yol). know that is in Xap1n's handwriting" 

Yes, it look!: Wtty to . 

"If TE.1 UOURT: 

Axe Vtie entries Lade in tiaa', book made. in the'regu-, 

lar course of your business? A Yes, sir. 

An  tut,. A.6 one of your regular books? 

The &?..ipvinr clerk has g t to show whatever he ships 

out (luring fl..11.e 

And that. bOui. ,is for that -purpose?. A Tee, sir. 

Lu your business? A ..1e01 

CROSS nATIYATION BY li.(11. EnT,TLAN: 

q 10. Baron, the last witness, who Wa8 in your employ, 

.1,1x. Stern, claimed Kr. Kaplan was out on tb0 road for you. 

That statement was incorrect. 

MB„ 0'14ALLEY: I beg your pardOn, X don't \think 

the. witness said that. He said he was out on the 

road. 

-Is he working. for you, this Kaplan" A He was. 

How long ago did he leave your employ? ASeveral 

• weeks • 

tot 



Baron, these skirts are not made OU1' 

they, or your employes? A They ure. 

q These skirts which re on this table? A AT010 0: 

:by our employes. 

On your ,oreviIses9 A NO, sir. - 

Isn't i a: fact they as. -made by contractors/ 

G-ulitx6.dtuxs. 

Llese skirts, re they w.de by yO., Or are they 

ideby coTitactops I. I don't understand. the  question. 

You know w.Lat Et, contractor is, doil't.you? Yes, 

sir. 

0,• You know wnat, an employe is. Are there skirts 

made b yonr evilaoyes, o a7,e they nad8 by coiltractore 

I eoula not exactly say tg,at, but believe this lot was 

de •our own alovloyes. 

WDRZ: 

Oo you yar by the piece, or do you. 'pay them so 

much •day, or week, or.hour9 A We have different kinds. 

You hieue somo of your goods made one way and some 

.anotherc r, Yes, sir. 

BY haPlitAN: 

TIlese its which axe now on this table, have you arw. 

idea how many hundreds of them you made durintr, the month of 

Zeptenbee A 2417 sir. 

q . About how any  A I, nave no idea at all. 



_ 

• Q Did yoU make .more than eightthousand? 

Of these here 

Yes-. A I oeuld not tell, bso use we make ao 

ma.ny different styles, anj I don -it know exactly the'quanti 

ties of each style. 

So that, you could not identify these skirts as in 

any way telling youwhen they wer brought into your place, 

or when tady Were sthipved, you ?aresnally? A I lave not  

been in tat a-i'temoon at all. 

Q, so tq.b.t* you know nOtilini-4;. ii.bout snipment° 

A Personally, L•.  

'Wen erf-: you inforole . 34.:.i.ron, that there was 

sEirt,i tut:4 rti wissing9 A I believe on 

illidadt-L.:r LA./ I 0 c.4• 

yoa in yorar plaoe of busines on Saturday after-

been five 'nci ix I No 5 ir. . 

10..,031-1 pl,pi leave your place of Vosi.:.r.1 on that day' 

A i ft ear. in tdd after400n. Iuon't reatember tae 

• 

fv4 itat notifiea of rie 136-3 of tese 

3_:IvIzr Lt7),,to.tvr mexninc. 

1(4 -uora was bronEvt 4o Iron, On 3rtar by any of 

Jour (11B4O or o, sir, not as fx as I reale:ober. 

tY, 

Nave you u P Yes, sir. 

Veva 'Luis 0.1,aA4iler ..isre you lxve A He does. 



Q. Did you see him after Saturday, the l7th Of'Se 

ber, after five A Na, air. 

Q The first time you saw him was on Monday A Monday 

Do you know whether any of your employe* made.an 

attempt to get in tough with the Police after they :found 

the bundle was miseine 

gR. (CP-11kLTAY: ,Objected to as inmaterial., 

EDIT-tylANI I ask him'if he knows, 

Mini COURT; e can ota.te if he knows. It is not 

very itLaterial. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Do you no  e of Stour employes reported' 

the lose 4age to the police, and, if so,. when' 

40 not icno. 

Did:, amr ol im eVer s,.eak to you on the sUbjept 

of glaking •a report to the police A I don't remember.. 

26/ 

Wao notified yo on Monday of the loos 

A I caLie over ,o the place of bUsinese, and. they spoke about 
it 
in the office. 

On ondayuioniinç, you weoe notifed by one of your 

At ,Ine of ice, they 8,9oke about it. 

After you riere notified, did you get in touch with 

We police" A I luxe beri 1.Led oyer tier, to Essex kar-

at Owxt. 



_ 

3 

What time were you notified of the loss, What 

: 
hour in the morning by your employes.? A I don't 

remember the exact time. 

(4, This is h very serious matter, the loss of goods, 

When I come into the place, I don't remember the exact 

time; it must have been about nine o'clock. 

Q As soon 48 this information was conveyed to you 

by your employes, id you communicate with the police, 

A I did not, b ecause they informed it me that they found --

q I as.  2011 did you communicate with the police' 

A 1 did.not. 

Did you instruct any of your employed o communi-

cate with the police" A X did not. 

ITORNAXI Tht is all. 
7 

LP OTAALTRN I offer in evidence the entry 

in tait.i bo61.1 anuer date of SeL,0:aNb,r 17th, 1910, being 

tae en made by ,Wie ship9ihc elerk, Leo Kaplan, in the 

;41.Plair of L. I.  Baron., Company, in regard to. a. cer-. 

ta4li sAiladent to Yfr.,Ileeir. Mother, St. josephs Missouri.' 

,41t. RD7RHAN: Objectd,U, on tile ground the ois-

t.4,1ot Attarne7 Ald.s, failed to shoW :that he had made any 

for 66 get this witness in any way, shape  

or T14/8 case has been marked ready.for•at • • 

. least ten uays. . 

:„Inirsvr: 7,416 witnef9 says that the witness in 



question, Kaplan, formerly his shipping 41414c4 

Tennessee. Do you know how long be hats been 

Tennessee? 

THE WITNESS: I guess a couple of weeks becia740 

before he isft he came up and asked for a cecommendatic0-

and I know it was given to him. 

MR. H077MAN: I press my objection upon the further 

ground there has been no attempt made to locate this man 

in any way7 ehtl.toe Or ELanner-

0 KAMM Why is that aerial, wh.en we have 

the direct eyidenoe that. taR, entry;w4it M4de by hie 

Th2i COURT: 443 vtrau:vi. L'aVe to get him if he were 

within the juioin. The witness hiNself, or the 

veroon yaw wonld, of course, be the 

best evutenc Nbw, not within ',he juris-

4:4G6ion ol".ocur o, you oan t produge.hil4, and' you would 

ao trid qext .bess tui4ff. 

0111ALTFY: With the OOrrt 'S errsion, I will 

ut,1(.4ot, Va4tib. 

OT Yes,  whil an lookinF this -latter 

irli:62# • 

RIF OIRMT 14XALTYPTIO'V BY ER. O'LWWW: 

lioNd Long have roiz bf..en in thii siLese, Of manu 

rocm Lr A Abont nin4=! , ten years. 
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(1 And during that time, you have bought and sold skirts, 

I assume') A Yes, sir. 

Q And do you know the reaednable-,Market value of skirts? 

Did you, on September 17th, know the reasonable market value 

of skirts which you were manufacturing' Yes, sir. 

Q Look at these sicirts, and tell the jury what the 

reasonable it.ar1,.e5 value was of that quality of skirt on the 

17th of Septeibr, 1910; Ut is, referring to People's 

Exhibit 1 for IcleaGificatiOn' A 

two and, a •varter  

About two dollars, or 

HoN, n.any .1!ere' A About twenty-four. 

- That woulc, be how rindh*" Fifty to sixty dollars. 

HOF:NAN: IT your honor pleases, 1 don't .want 
tie 

to tae to) . tie 1\ ie court. have no objection to tl  

,e aptry "being offered. 

0'11,041;a: 1 -will• just read the entries.' 

azatit.t.ed ReoW7a of 9hipments from September, 1909, 

t tuat is, tue hool, tict was in use on September 17th 

191O  

WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

mpt. Under a4.te of Septei4ber 17th, 1910, 

:I, elauAn5, 'or' z)hipmentsft, entry, "Wheeler 

Mot!ur eroiti1e Coiair, St. Joseph Missouri U. S. A. 

States E:.„1./res fifty- even skirts, two packages, 

1O 1W ,no 40"• Th41, 18 Oa. 
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SAMUEL LEITNER, called asawitness on beh 

of the people, being first duly sworn, testified as followst-

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. O'MALLEY: 

Q, 

thEt is Your name 

-Wire do You live" 

A Samuel Leitner. 

A No. 2 Rector Street. 

What is your business' A Private detective. 

Q And in volose employ? A Special agent for the United 

States Express Company. 

Here, in New Yori, Cty A Teo, sir. 

Ware you so employed, 0. 

year' A Yes, sir. 

Q On that day, did you at 

defendants  i% Yes, si- .

September 17th, of the, present 

any time see either of the 

Q When an(. vilere9 A It was around half past two, 

or a varter to three, on Broome and 

•Q, And ere ti botri 'Wgether9 

And when you ref r to 1; 

Greene Streets. 

A Yes, sir. 

C defenuants 

tn sitting here.' A Yes, sir. 

Do you know the nal,os of eitilerc. 

r.ebeFil)er 

you illean these 

But tuese were st,..,± two Lien taat you -$aw- togetherc-

A Yes sir. 

Now, theni wbat did yon see theM I think. :trou. 

Aulct bet6er. recil;e1 briefly, 

iiefencian..5 (to at that time 

tn the jury, wikat you Saw the 

A There was one of our 
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wagons United States Express Company Wagon 

the corner, when these two boys came along, 

of stopped; they walked up and down the wag 

of them went into a hall. 

. Whidh one', A This dark one (Indicating defendant 

Livia,&n) went alonside .of the wagon in the hail, N,Vhic.4 

the other pan went right in b lor the wagon towards 

t i.tttr slde of the well am 'he was- watching the driver 

and he seen there Was nothing 40ine iAnd he a1edup ed 

Loi 

S,,,L.74:I move •t stette that 0 

earE CO.NIATt St ike out, "He saw there wge. nothing 

Le t;I:ere was n 6Oing. 
7 

HOPRLAN: I 1,nn-e to strike tat out.. 

COURT: strl.ite3 but. 

lamdca

 

D1( tiie witnes:s Say it Was about 

tree oclookV 

Abow, two thi: 

Go alleau. 

'toun, qrouith Greene 

txtez: 5010ed wo 

,dnt,t;13..T..141:w of 7r3leeolter Street., anu, tirey done' the same 

tainc . 0-1-W went in a 4.00r way, anti the, ot:ier wal)(ed. up • 

,Jet utVWL: 

IT . 

A trileu they aay, towards up-

as far as Eighth Street but 

turee .94aoes, were they seen t!is Wagon, 



Q, Whtd 

Wagon. 

DY Tiqk COURT: 

you mean by wagon' A 

A United lbcpreSs Company Wagon" A 

was a New York •& :Boston Express Wagon. 

BY ifrt.. 0 : 

Go ahead. A An  they walked up and down, and 
away, 

they walked 31.11* the t -o of them -together, and walked Up 

again,  when dr:Lver got on his wagon, and they .walked up 

through University Plac e wen. into Tenth Street; frOa':Tenth 

tre;4;, over to Broadway; from Broadway, Over to Eleventh 

Street.; I" roBt Faeventh Streoto bac..u. to Univereity Place; 

Univerol'uv Plawe, into Tuelfth Street flá. 'then back 

417Evca(plz-il' 

0 

Broa,e2,wIcy; lockire: 

11 ' 

)61 

r y 

Yof, clon! 

‘L..f 

-741' a :lel. 

, 

.,eca Lc:1.3R r,:fsh.st 

eetionBtw.- wagons; 

Twelfti. •Stroet ana 

, Thirt,-1 th Street into 

6 ay went u jrals Six teerib 

" 

New YoTr. tk: Bol,ton bispatch 

13,0; 1 1,):Ly S'Ll-,:fy What 

:3oston t4.5,tch 

seen noilt-

topLIsefi the Wacr P No, 

:1 0 

tiar.J warsin za.vze&sZy St° liked" Yes, sir. 



The wagon Was backed up again 

A Yes, sir. 

Wnen tney got up to that wagon, what did the -

This dark -fellow went up on the side, Which the other' 

Don' say"which the other "And the other 

man". A And the oth,=4, zian. 

NR. O'N_AWTY: Is the oth ,Msxbconceded to be the 

'defenclknt 

10. HOTTkAN: Y :ir® 

TM-41 "WITNESS 

right aloneside the lia1Oom4 the wagon was-i. I 4 n't know, 

Kaplan went in the saloon; it was 

but it dint uannt 

again, and he lifted 

10h Hap.tur came out 

othgr fellow Ora.': tut&urd4 am, 

211.) OtliALW: 

n you refor•t " en0Eaz bz! 

gaz;-rdoL.2liy when :ti..17 lifted his .114.;,. • 

OCIE-0 

P 

a ,7 

'.,ed his hat 

Litman  

Su sozn nan 

nd ditin ,sej: driver, 

„ :1-‘5. • 7aror, and,s0it an • 

5sto 'REles 

ari,pncl, 

Dean c:, wq 

Pifth Av'..inuev 

El. 

e drive to opte.. When they 

away* hey wen'. tmNar 

tho Gver to Eighteenth Street, 

eunth Street, &ta:v ala3 Sixth Avenue. Then they cams 

bc).04 on 45:uteenth Street- TA,ere is a buil i whic. runs 



into Nineteenth Streetand they went through 

Q. To what street/ A Into Nineteenth Str410 

11P and down the street, 'net then walked through that -building 

bao.f‘ again into Eighteenth Street, which I done t;he• sms 

thing. Then we went as Car us ;Fifth Avenue, back again 

towarus lagbx4 Street, into Oroc)n, all the ways over 

to Houton. -Y14). ere VLO Cilu of oil- ,,,acons, a United States 

tvress wa6on z5zere, 

Z71.terol a A,L3oriccl1 

.0.3311 U,,,:Y74 was another wap,on 

Greene Street$ vat of ''t;Len 

vk,or.e ron CTy'eere 

DezIr 

caz. n CPO; 

02b7c,on dale(as 

.0 you know Ta0 VEW Greene Street 

ths way at 137_, 

, 

_ It sne;teen 

Betweon-wLut tuc treets is tnat9 A. etwesr 

- Houston.ana Prince St'eet® 

Now, WILt uict you see when you got there. 

AmanI go,; LL,.ure, Uley stopped like, and didn't 

to 2f,01), nd I walled on c.i.ead and pot in front 

Then th v crossed- over, whldh they  seen a little b 

• Tell Wtr yOU saw A I saw a little boy carrying 

pact.„Lges over towards our express 

Y-€A 

agon and then these tw9 



defendants hare Rap and LiXU?fliafl, went over and too 

a. package Of the wa.lic, in front f 137 Greene &tree 

wwec tovaras tad corn b_nd turned the corner. 

both deferdants go up to where these 

n'es vtere'r".• 

.And o -I- •-f' J,rernises v.Lis in .1 

.,-f-eolat of 1 $ Greene 5tr" t. 

o" tqo defendimts do 

Ye si.e$ 

TM- COURT: 

7Tii!ES: 

ttwun tOO 

J?.. 

s,,o4aces and Littiao 

of Lim, 

R. EAMAN: 

itIPT Wiyo.0 saW each one 

7,4pp1. H. 

took the 

W1Q4 in b4ck 

05VO tO otIn'ke Witt "TOti 

eytiinr is all riGht" 

Thi COURT: Lotion grtented. 

.jTjwITNASS: He walked towards the corAer. 

whioit 1:zly di(: he Go on Prince Stree'V 

Q, 

He went west, tlyrned a-.,:ound the cor. 

I------, 

ft 137 Greene Fitr,et wli_ich way did he 

forth, or. 3ollt,h9 A He went south. 

Q Towards Prince Str et/ A Towards Prince Streets 

Both toGether'' A Both together. Q, 

L

Q, d ci y o tivoi do9 A Then they turned the 



corners with the package, 

Q, Whoihway east or west" 

•On G e ne treet,9k On Prince, and a oar 

;.1„, Avis, whioll, tls,u two of ;11%1 jumped on. 

was A East, 

oa2;s1 and 4431, roue tio:o10.1. Stanton Street, 

;A:.11,1VW 

13,.i0.1"-.2 on 

a 

1,0v, 

I,' 

•N 

Li ttrnan and Kaplan', 

-.L. ike, 0.)1U ‘.-a.ixed, to .t.rds a. 

.C.")._rnt;r, and -Went in th,ere with  the 

of wits e 5 r) OStaritofl and 

:fon notice 1,.1 -!30r4.,oL bu,ilainf-,. that was" 

t....*A 0,7,bez) fiA,  

Vha; sort of a toe"s  

You 6- w thaj  

• At that timb 

you saw 'LT 

A Yes , s 

A 

A 15 

ltabroiderr. 

itao .storeo Iv=31 

Stave the sane pao 

in fsmn.1; of 137 Greene Str 

tliat 

Men what did ,you d4o9 A I walked right ;Woes the  

w_ay, OI tn east -- .north cor.aor.. There is a drug tOrt0 

tsiere whIGh I went to work and telephoned to 17 Allen 

•n, 

police heti.dvartere. I teleIihoned for 

PitzPatrick, which they have been doing 



_ 

work for tJe.Unjted States Hacp es Company 

They st.d they Was not 

sent two other officers to Stanton and Ludlow Street 

.icitl-J:t...officers came to iue, T said, "Suere.is two bo 

would get them in. 

' 

Las stolen a 1.,aciqtge on Greene Street". 

You •oi..4n you sid to officer coming 

'jcs, 

W.b.0 

.0 

0. U., 0,Lers9 .Sullivan and I don't re-

onf.4;. 

it Gireran.i." A Yes, 5ir . 

0 

o 011 cOrn r* 

And _then1 after 

'‘Jent eigilt into the store. 

What store do. you a4a0 

rIZero Cue two aefendatt-were* 

t 

. Ye 

Q Ana did yo' gb in/ A No,sir, 

the dcor. 

rt 

After rd  you see the officers co 

Yea, sir, 

And 141;.o as with then') A These two defendants*, 

Ther what was done A They were taken over to 17 

Llle tret, a brancL of headquarters., 

Q And;ht did the officers, or. ither of theeon,. 
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daUt s- have at that time with them') A A package. . . 

Had you seen the package .before A Yes.. 

Q, And what was it? A It was a long pac„kage. 

Q Where had you seen the package before'? 

I seen the pacace in Green Street, and I seen the • 

pekag e in the car, and I seen the package in ,headquarter s 

It J.ELs the oarna package you saw the defenatInts have 

r ;en;-,c  into - tor en A Yes, . 

A eet9 Yes, 

u0i.TRT: 

I? !....L,Len Street° 

:riT.. OLAJ3LPT: 

e of 1...tte, cie tee t iv e bure:ktu., 

A yes, sir.  

4 I(.1. t„ :(2)1A ao9 

1.10111 CI • Titey tolt' 

You wen. 

morning. 

-„ When 

_t 0771-.1,1216. 

I went rig17.it 

; Colirtc A .The next 

A Yes, 3ir. 

And they er,°! id for the grand Yllry') No, sir; 

it 'i/as Yf'f 

Aaj on red A Adj o tr.!: n ed yes,sir. 

And :ion v,ofereLLer again the n4t 

Yes, 31r. 

And 14er 

64. 

tiZ'.' fr the Grand Jury 
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Q, Now, at any 1; trie did you exactine the box, the con-

tents of i,he box they carried9 A No, I jiist 'only 

looked. at .he box, to see if U. S. is on. 

Will you .pleasi step here arid examine this . Is 

there anything about this paer or 12a st eboard that enables 

y'Du o ident.Vy it as hav inc seen that. bef ore/ -

Mtn es s exaiclin -3 s blind 2- 

Q Tie boy.„_ t., :at you saw the defendant take froma .137 

Gre,Qne -Stt^i`i ) s tor on the southwest corner 

Of Stanton and Ludlow with tiastke sane boa( that you .saw the. 

of -L' lc er tufiyuff,to 1? A11en street; is tz,. at ri8hts) 

A Yes, si C. 

Ail a 

Y 

Yes., 

:.h. 0 

b1.1 IuOon ' , ,  

Your 

adcluartexsafterwards? 

:-.)n It, with tut frindorsev3ent-9 

3 

lE th.L2. eVLdenoe - now, 

i. c1). the o thr If ic er 

CRO ; ETA, . ;.  

Virile I, s A -Private detective • 

Privatq r, e A - es sir • 



sir. 
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You are licensed as a ;?rivate detective' 

What' 

Ar,.. you licensed as a private detective' A No, 

Do you know that it is necessary, in order to hold 

youxself out as a private detective, that you hold a. 

'license' A Well, I do special work; only :watdh our 

wagons, cold wee that nobody steals anything. 

In answer to the District'Attorney's question, 

YOU said you wete a r7t,v.h1;e detective' A Well, I am 

doing irivate wori. 

now ask. r“-Jvt tthe n r yon know, that in order to 

d yourself 

law, be -licensed 

I Itriirs-, 1:-.• 

..4rivate you 'Lust, under 

Ller of tae State of 4eW 

:es) 

Filen ..!ros.1 '' , ir1O.. -; n. UV' ) (AO you want ic 

unuerstinnd 

P, Tha 

car y 

How 19, 

e 

Who i.e., 

L 

no% it Ltv t.o. now' A No, sir. 

,ivate detect,v9 wor, you 

ensed" A No, i:r. 

1 ,ivate de ire work' 

er, "re,.  Vor4) 

States EXp tAPO--1 OompEtny's 

, 



Court,-, didn't you.' 

The Dist:  

af that Ck.ica-';, 

At c.orn? in :igss ex p.lax 

try el,  

1104 Woi! 

• 

1)0 y" 
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Before you -entered the express comi)any work, what. 

Were you doing? A What. 

Before you entered the Express cOmpany work, the 

kind that you say you were doing, what yere you emplOyed. ti 

A I was driving a wagon, a fruit wagon. 

Q, Were you ever convicted o.r a crime? A No, sir. 

Sure about tha? A. Aarried man, with three chil-

dren. No, sir. 

I ai not you about three children? 

A No, sir. 

You are not on trial? A I know that. 

asA you whether you were ever convicted of .6* crime? 

No sir. 

In this sti-, ) or any fitheP otate? 

Aol sir. 

r. Lei,  you in the aagi .-rat es' 

sir. 

ea.ssiend 137 this Court is 

g--- itno• t.ere 'is , Dis trict 

Yes, sir. 

LiILL in Asse2, ,d,Las 

Attor-,i0v. A Y s, sir. 

,;(.. less in i• 1 oasein 

;,1 ) tt18 Gified eci,Te 
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. 

' as you testified here') A No, sir. 
Do 
AYou want the Ju:r.,y to understand that you are not now. 

testifying in the sapie way in which you have been testifyint 

in Essex .EL,-.0.et,9 A Yes, sir. 

hiR. 0 : I obj Jot to that unless he 

if Le 8 in What espect..-

LR.  I don't ii.ave, to tell the witness in 

wIlat resot. 

.1y4.`/:•z. 0 ' 1,.-LAL)", : All rig.tit, 9roveed. 

.-(Questi,)n and Wi8WQ;f ,ead by stenographer as follows) 

"Q.
 Do you want the j 1.1r2r to understand that you

• now testifying in the SEtklie way in which you 

e been  testifying in ssex kti..rk etc A Yes, sir. 

;y2rt. 0 1RALLY-T If ::.tee.rts that he did. not tell 

• !,..iame story

°.C.tiT-4; t301.11(1,: 

}tax 

o sir 
7 • 

W.) .1.atred9 A Nu sir. 

If • any. hatred., .411.1. yolu 

tu•
 

b. 

0 ' 

Ou ru 4i:hat out, on re-direct. 

;Lieacainst these two boys(' 

/Las 

Thr4 .),T; 

not • 

• ;! 

cidq.06 JOU:4" taotimony° 

T. ebt to that , unless it appears 

-L .1-

I object to it as impro )er. 

!.a.1.4-J chanced his -;estimony.• 

Lel'. Aim state sr-theth he has Or 
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Have you chanE;ed your testimony'? A No, sir, 

have not. 

Will you tell this jury nether you have added 

any testi,uony here which you did not brinc out in Essex 

Sar4et Police Court') A I was not asked. 

I didn't ask you that. 

(Quesion rehu uij stenograpner, 48 follows) 

ft Ct Will you tell this jury whether you have 

added any te3tiv.ony here w:olch you di not bring out in 

Essex Lar et ,Jolice Court" 

O'hALLTIY: If !oil know.. 

You is  tftat you 

'1U. tzdded tiu not testify to 

in. '",-11.0 Police 0°u0.. 

trio did not asL. 

Answer 

r. 

in  in the Police Court 4 

ou;:.af, Inaitted to arim-. 

r 4,; th .itrtes gave 

zertalr glstrateb' Crt, and 

Ls  

BO can  

D bno'i; put to  



. tf 
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can't. say. That is absolutely good law. 

KR..HOP7MAN: Yes. 
• 

THE COURT: The witness says he answered ail: • 

the questions .put to him them, but practically More 

questions were put to him herb. Tilt is practically what 

he says. 

LR. HOIPPMAN: I want to ask hi 4 this question: 

live you added testimony in this Court which you 

not testify to in the Police Court.' 

LR. O'hiolLEY: Objected to. 
1 

TM COURT: Well, I will sustain that. The 

•:,1tner3,3 does not v...dd an'ything. questions may be put. to 

6). uitness, and Ae - test 

6ia 

certEdn thing o that 

e. : you azf uiw, have yen 
p. 

1,1 this Court tria.;. you did not 

tes%ify 1.a) in ;.Le JAtkci0 Court, that. v7111. be 

allor.ct. 

the question I iant. 

q • Did ,,,lythinr in thifl Court, in regard' 

fuos,F wi-jch you did not testify to in the 

police Court' A ",. . 

q pio yo, -f:„11 LO (:;Ve-' tuat testimony in i:11,, Police 

Conrt for iAT%, , -,:..011i.,- --eason" A They to not as.,: ae. 

Eltury queu;;i!n ',..,.1v A45.-!,1) 1 hnsWerea. 

11 U1/1- you testified as follows--



YR. 0'34ALLEY: What are you reading froe 

R. liOFFI.AW: From the minutes. 

kR. O'NALL2Y: Refer to the page. 

MR. HWN'MAN: Pace six. 

O'MALLEY: 00f the ninutes in the Police 

Curt() 

H01-11Aii: Yes, sir. 

Q, "WI s your name Samuel Leitner. Q,Where• 

dc you live'? A 324 East Ninety-first Street. A What 

is your business) A Private detective in. the Express 

Coy:61)&11y . Direct Extilination by ir. NAtchell." That is 

iat,t rr A Yes, sir. (1 
At 

,arter .0ast fiv . 

J I ,..1'..: 11111.,ed StaCeS Express Comoanv 

, re -Ire.„ sir. Q. Alld you Were 

111 :CUntU tlz5 1-1,7 —;410 Stroet9 A yes, sir.. 

Ami A.) ''.);1 in front of thesej?remiles, did you 

see t!Lese Yes, sir". In the Police 

you L. .L ,),3t.een five um a quarter 

J7)- .-1-,J,Ii31A.Li36 from tile hiagistrate the testiLlor.y. 

:Y 0 U. 14:vit 1-31-t .frAh ; yOU had seen tilese 



on Greene Street on thiS day, at two thirty" 

car. aay been answered. 

58 

Objected to, on the ground it as 

He has given his rearion. 

TriE Well, he can answer it again. 

NT4ry (dun't you :,estify to that before the City kagis 

trb.te A They ased me at what time the package was 

4-.  E.nd I answer d from five o'clock to a quarter past. 

BY .oul. • : 

You nave volunteered testimony a few minutes ago 

wY.A.ch t.Lc our e:.:cluded„ when 

L.nd ther 

•.. 

GIA c.,,rp. 

Th., : At, 

L 

You 21.13.e,, 

t.1.1 it tiLs 

Pr.Z 

VOU saia, "I saw him go 

eine.• You are a pretty 

'1.0aestion, coun lor, 

tAilat out, .n the jury Wila 

Litflt lfl your timony, 

have testified to 411 . , 

al; L t::estc; CAL: on thatdii 1rio)-7 

r 

Ci 

' 

Llun's believe I understand the 

•L:2' LO I. What is the p,ro )c)si-
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tion? That this witness should have instructed the City. 
2 

,Magistrate? 

MR. HOPYhAN: The purpose is that this witness has 

changed his entire testimony. 

OquALLEy: I object to that. 

THE COURT: The Jury is instructed to distegard 

that statement of counsel. The verdict is to be 

rendered upon the evidence, and not upon statements of 

counsel. ' Of course, if counsel can prove that to you, 

that is a different proposition. This witness says that 

he .made ,certain testimony-- save certain testimony' before. 

the City Magistrate. That he answered all the ques-

tions put to him, but he did not give all that testi-

mony there that he has given here because the questions_ 

were not asked him. Now, a committing LagistrAte, 

of course, only hears evidence to justify 

him in holain6 a defendant, and no more. He does not 

go into it in detc.:.11 as we do here. That is good law. 

He only nears 3ust enough to satisfy him in his mind, 

and he hol,b Ain Of discharges him, as the case may be. 

But he does not Dti' into it as elaborately as we do here. 

You diu not, in the Police Court, testify to things 

wriich you saw the defendant do on the 17th of December 

between the hours of two and five. You offered no testi-

mony of the various things which you claim you saw them do 

a• 

r 
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on that day; is that right? A I testified that 

seen these boys take the package in front of 137 Greene 

Street. 

That is not my question. A That is all I know. 

All the questions I was asked, I answered. 

THE COURT: I 'think you had better be a little more 

specific. The witness says he answered every ques-

tion put to him there, but he did not go into certain 

Now, if you want to know what those details 

.

 

are, 31011 wli ask him if ho .testified thus and so 

before tJle City Lagistrate. 'or instance, you want 

to know, I 0resume, whether he told the City Magistrate 

oi Ilavinc, trailed the defendants.' 

HO?FMAN: Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Did you til the City Magistrate that you trailed the 

defendants that day.' A No, sir. 

BY NR. HOPYkAN: 

Did you tell the Distrift Attorney/ 

A Yes, sir. 

q • You told the District Attorney that you trailed these 

• defendants.between the hours of two and five' A Yes, sir. 

That was when they .rade out the affidavit. 

In the Police Court  • A Yes, sir, 

And, you testified, you followed: these boys for 
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three hours? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you lose sight of them at any time  A . No., 

When you claim the package was taken from Greene 

'Street) what time was. it? A It was about around. five; 

-.perhaps a little afte five; I didn't exactly look at the• 

time; I don't remember. 

Dia you see these i)ackages brought down stairs in 

front of the premises" A I seen the laying right in front 

of the door. 

Q,. Did you see them brought down stairs? A I saw the 

boy take packages across the way from there. 

Before you saw hini take these packages across the way, 

old' you see anyboay else with this boy' 

Tia,p; COURT: W ioh boy"? 

kR. HOTTIAAN: With the boy whom you saw? 

No, Sir-. 

He was alone? A He was alone. 

Tnere was no one with him? A - I didn't see any one 

with him. 

•0, You saw nobody assisting him in carrying the bundles' 

A No, sir. 

Your testimony is correct on that point? 

A Yes, sir. 

You were very careful, weren't you?. A Yes, sir. 

You watched that place for how long? A For a Itecond 

- 



For. 4 second? A, Yes, sir. 

And. 6.id that second bring about the loss of this • 

'article A• Yes, eir. 

It all hakpened in a second, A In a second, Yee', 

Q Now, then, before you got to these premises, Where 

were you? Where were you before you got to these -premises? 

A On Greene Street. 

How lone: were you on Greene Street?A  

about fifteen or twenty minutes. 

You were on Greene Street about fifteen minutes? 

Yes, walking through Greene, from Eighth, all the ways 

over to Houston. 

Were you clobe to these defendants? Well, I I' 

was about a hundred feet away. 

Now, 'then, before you got to 137 Greene Street, 

where were you, ana wiTere were these defendants, how far 

apbrt? A They ierk; togetrter. 

iere were you? A I was across the way. 

Directir across the Way A 'rest sir. 

Were you in front of your wagon? A In back of MY 

wagon. 

Q And you looked across the street, or where did you 

look? A I looked right aCrOS8 the street. 

THE COURT: 

Were you on a wagon?A No, sir. 
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What do you [lean when counsel asked you were you 

by.your wagon'? What do you bean by that? A That means one 

of our wagons, United -States ibrpress Company wagons. 

BY R. HOFITAAN: 

Q, What attracted your attention., across the Street?' 

watced for these two boys, to see Whet they Were 

going to do. 

BefoT vou watoned to se,- what they viere ...going to de, 

was your attention attracted to these bundles? 

A.- No, sir; I was watahinr then boyB. Whey they 

walked along, tLey picked up the bundle; and, walked. right 

ahead. 

When t,Ley picked up he bundle, where was this boy 

who was bringinr tJese bundles acrosE the -treet9 

On my side o: the street, where I was. 

A, Right near 'aim? You were right near 

A No, sir, he went over towards the American Express 

Company wagon. 

(1 how many feet away was,ne from you? A Twenty: 

feet. 

You dinstictly saw this other boy? A Sir' 

You distinctly saw the boy that was carrying 4114 -

bundle" A Carrying the packages. towards. another 

wagon, not my wagon. 

Was he in your sight'? A Well he was not much: 

of a distance away from me. 



How many feet' 

or forty feet. 

Q. You said before twenty' A I couldn't just eiactly   

measure the feet. 

64 

I don't know. Maybe thirty 

When you 'saw the bundles picked upl by .one of these 

• defendants, dic. you make a rusli for this boy who had been -

in charge of t;.ese bundles, or who had been carrying them 

he Was too much of a distance away from we. 

Q, Did these boys iiick the bundle up and run away vri.th 

it A They 1kèd kind of 
not 

DiyOu have an opportunity to call this boy' 

A Yes, sir, but they walked so fast I had to walk off after 

them. I couldn't cal71 this Loy. 

you LLJC an &Lttip÷, to call tnis boy/ 

Because it is too near to the corner. When they got 

. to the corner, and tuned around, there was a car there, and' 

they jumped on car, d.11(1 I 1,(1 to get right after them 

on the car. 

Before td.is bundle was picked up by the defendant, 

how any bund)e 8 were there in front of those premisee 

A .Two _bundles. 

Two bundlee-, A Yee, sir. 

Did you see any more than two' A Nol sir. 

Sure you didn't see any more than two'? A Well, 

may be mistaken. 

2_ 
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Q The question was asked of you in the Police Court, 

• 
":Row uany bundles did you see on the wabk the first time 

you saw it  A About five of six packages." 

A That was alongside of these two. That was a: little 

distance from each other. 

Q, That is what I am asking you? A Another man had 

his pile, and this boy had his pile. I didn't know the 

other man. 

How do aroli know how these .piles were divided?. 

A The only thing -1 xi know was these two boys. at 

one that took the .packagel there was only two packages 

there at the time he took that package. That is all. 

I can remember, because I can't remember when the boy car-

ried over a few packages, but I thought you asked *me the 

question how many packages was at the time they took that. 

package. There was only t of but before that there was 

quite a few. 

Q But, in the Police Court you said five or six, 

A Something like that, yes, before they stole the package. 

HO71KA: I more, ."Before they stole the 

pacilage" be stricken ol)Lt 

-11Y Thi, COURT: 

Before they took the package? A Yes, sir, before . 

they took the package. 

BY LT. HOFRKAN: 
Before the package was taken., did you pee any tio-"-* 
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standing in front of these packages? A No, sir. 

Q, 

86 

Nobody there? A Nobody. 

Do you know the boy that carried the bundle across 

the street?A Yes; sir. 

Is he in Douit? A Yes, sir. 

Q Point him Out. A That boy with the light. 

coat. (Indicating) 

q That is Mr. Stern? A Yes, sir. 

Q And he was the only boy that was carrying bundles 
A 

from premises 1$? Greene Street on that day?' 

A That is the only one I seen. 

Q, 

You saw nobody else? A No, sir. 

You saw no one wih hie No sir. 

NOW,c, then, when you !,7,-ot on the 'car, were there 

people on the car? A Yes, sir. 

Did you get the name of any person on the car? 

A No, sir, I just took thf,car number. 

You asked nobody for their name' A No, sir. 

Q Were tnere people on the car? A -Ys, Sir. 

.Before tihese boys ot on the car, did you attract 

the -attention of any Gitisen? A I tried to look around. 

for an officer. 

I as  you, uaL. you &tf,ract the attention of any • 

citizen? A Well, I couldn't see anybody' It was 

around five o'clock. They Fot on the car too fast. 
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q They got on the car too fast' A Yes, sir. 

Q, 

Didn't, they .walk dawn Greene Street, A Yes, sir., 

About how much distance is it from the premises 

where they took the bundle to the place where they goton • 

the car" A Center of the block. 

Q Did they get on the car on that corner' A Around 

• ,jthe corner of Prince Street. 

• Q On what corner did they get on the. car? 

A .0n the -corner of Grene and Prince. 

Q Corner of Greene and Prince? A . Yes, sir. 

BY ME COURT: 

How far was that from where they took the goods? 

A It was about one hundred feet. 

HOPPIAN: 

Q. Didn't you testify in the Police Court that they got 

on the car at West Broadway' A Well, that is near Wet 

Broadway, Tiler as,Ked ne, and I says it is near West 

Broadway, were they got on the cart. - 

Q Now, wIat was it  west Broadway, or Greene Street' 

A Right ariumn.  he corner, when they got on the car. 

Q What co you nean by that'' You are a,amart witness. 

k'e11 Us what you mean. Was it on GreehenStreet they got 

on the car':' A Not on prince Street. 

Q, Prince _and wena., corner' A Between Greene and 

Wooster; r.onehAny 1ik t t.. I (,iidn't take notice. 

Sc 
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I was so excited, I was looking around for an officer, to 

try and get these boys, so I didn't recollect what it was. -

Q In -the Police Court, you testified 

A I said it was near 'West Broadway. 

BY THE COURT: 

4110 

Why didn't you arrest them yourselfl When you saw 

them take these goods? A I cannot arrest them myself. 

Q You can't? A No, sir. 

Q Any citizen can arrest for a felony? A I could 

hold them, but there ib two against me. 

Q Any citizen can arrest, or for a misdemeanor committed 

in their immediate presence. 

BY R. HOP N: 

You say you were excited. What do you mean? You 

were excited? A I was excited to make .,;he arrest. 

You were excited to Liake the arrest? A Yes sir. 

New, then, when they—took the bundles, do you say 

they walked fast? A Yes. 

Did yoll come across no citizen between--

A Nobody. 

Q, There was nobody on the street? A No, sir. - 

Q The street was deserted', . A Yes, sir._ 

How lonc di 6 they it for this car? A They didn't 

wait at all. The car just came along, and they run over-

with.the pacAQ,ce and jumped on. 
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Kindly tell nm how many people were in this car 

at that time? A Sere was about four or five people. 

Q were you standing outside, or inside' A Outside. 

Q, Where vvere they? A Inside. 

(I Was anybody else outside? A No, sir. 

Wasn't the conductor outside? A Well, yes. 

Did  you pay your fare? A lig, sir. 

You paid your fare on the outside of the car? 

A On the outside of the car. 

_ Didn't you  talk to the conductor., and ask him to, 

identify these two boys, so you could use him as a witneas? 

A No, sir. 

You didnft think it was necessary/ A No, sir. 

You didn't think it was necessary/ A No, Sir. 

Q, Men you got to Stanton and Ludlow Streets, you 

claim they got off the car, and so didyou/ A Yes, sir. . 

You say you telephoned to Police headquarters/ 

A To a bran,L of ,11.-e Police aeadquarters, 17. Allen Street.. 

No mistake about it/ A Na mistake. 

Q When you rang up, di f- you recognise the party who 

spoke to you ave4he wire/ I No, sir. 

You *a:' tit,  when you got to police headquarters, 

at !alen Stree, you asked for Horton .rld FitzPatrich/ 

A Yes, si:1-4 

You also 8id. that you liad formerly done business 

IlrommE 
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with Horton and FitzPatrick" A They have done business 

for the United States Express Company. 

Where you 

arrest? A Yes, sir. 

Where was the lest case that you, and Horton and 

were instrumental in bringing about an 

FitzPatrick had. Give me the name of it? A Well, 

there is one here, about two weeks ago, with Horton. 

Give me that name" A 'I don't remember the name. 

It was in Special Sessions Court. They pleaded guilty. 

You don't remember the name? A . No, I don't 

take the name. When the officer is. there to see the crime 

committed, I don't need to go to Court at 411. 

Give me the case where you did. business with Horton 

and FtizPatrick" A Well, not me; but Mr. Yayo, the 

Special Agent. 

Q I aril talKinG to you, Witness" A No, sir. 

Q, pia you ever do any business with Horton 014 Fitz-

Patik in any case') A No, sir. 

Did you ever have them with you in a case? 

sir. 

Trien, why, when you. telephOned•to 17 Alien Street, did 

•you ask for horton anc itzPatriokc - A Because they 

have been ui in our office. They cone up there occaSiOnall, 

Tney oone up o your ofice occasionally" A Yes, sir. 

Is that the best answer you can give  A Well,  I 

a 

•••• • 
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know they had a couple of prisoners there, and they had 

business With my boss, and I don't know anything, so Horton 

and FitzPartick, they gave me a card, and they says, "Any 

time--" 

Q, "You want us, call us--" 

A fAnytime you see anything, and you can't get 4nYbodYI 

try to call us up". 

You know it is not necessary to call up any parti-

cular detective, when a crime .is committed, don't you"• 

A It is, wheel there is no officer around. 

Q Don't you know you can telephone to headquarters 

At any time.  and in every instance they will .send you a 

detective! A Well, being that I knew these two men, I 

telephoned to them. 

Q They were your friend's" A Not myfriends, noi sir. 

When yc.) say you knew them, what  do you mean" 

A I know tiiem from coming. Rig) •to our office. 

you Tvlea,r ti.u.t.t you were not in any case with 

them, outside cc tiie case in.SiJecial Sessions, before the 

17th of Sepelpber, with Horton and Fi.tzPatrick" A. Yes, sir. 

!Jo,d no case 'with them' 'AI 

Will rou gi1r3fJ1:: the name of any detective • at 17 

Arren Stree, 4no was associated with you in one of your 

cases' A In ono of my cases' 

Yes, w.i.Lere you vier e ?the cration of the arrest' 
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A Hooker and Rainsberg. 

.(z Were they at No.17 Allen Street.' A Yes, :sir. 

Q, What was the name of the case? A Horse and Wagon, 

the Hildebrand Bakery Colei:eny.. 

Q, You have' nothing to .do with bakery wagons!: 

A I was standing on Fulton Street, and I was 

watching one of my wagons. They were walking up- and .down. 

I thought they were going to take a package off the wagon, 

so I followed them, and I seon them jump on a. bakery wagon 

and go over Brooklyn Bridge. 

Q, This was a larceny of a 'bakery wagon" A Yes, sir. 

MR. O'MALLEY: I think this is 1..mmat aria'. •. 

THE -COURT: Absolute 1-,i;r 

• Hopmalq: That is ply defense. 

TH UOTTRT: Whi....Lt is your defense' 

KR. HOFF.MAN:. A conspiracy on the ,.)art of .this_ 

witness. 

• u OURT: To do• what, 

LA, 1{OP1nAY: To bring about a false arrest, and 

I will ,,rove it. 

:;00-RT: Well, I assume, from what this witness 

and the ,-)ther iiLiess testified to, that these two men 

wert. fo,unu \Vitn ,;e /roods on tnexa. 

Which is no doubt correct. 

1,71i4; I asstune that is correct? At a pay:ti- •. 
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ets1itr place. Now, where is the conspiracy in that, 

in the first place. I may be very dull, but I can't 

.see any Conspiracy there. 

MR. HOFP:KAN: Well, your Honor will be able 

see it-r 

TITE COURT: I may be obtuse, but. I can't see any 

conspiracy; but all these questions _you have been

latterly asking the witness are wholly • irrelevant, as far  

as the guilt or innocence of the defendant is concerned. 

Suppose he (lid trail two young men) who afterwards, -in-

stead of robbing an express wagon., robbed a baker's 

wagon. Now, that nas nothing to do with this cate. 

MR HOF:PLAN: Very well, I don't *ant to.be 

I don't want to take up the timeof tthe Court. 

THE COURT: I don't think it is material. It 

does not discrebit the witness in any respect, nor is it 

a discredit to him in his occupation., if that is whet you 

want to bring out. But, at the same time, if the 

0 

tdinK ,,re entitled to form any opinion that 

they think, as honest men, they should. 

HOFFiiidtN: I will withdraw that theory, and 

proueea to one w.aich I think is more important. 

Now, Leitner, you say you telephoned to Police 

headquarters" A Yes, sir. 

Q While you were telephoning, do you know what these, 

lit-..?4,..f!;110.4a00#1ti 
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You couldn't say what they had been 'doing in this 

could you? 

MR. b1MALL3Ti What store? 

IIR4 HOF:TRAM: In the Store in which they were 

arrested' 

A No, 

You telephoned to Police headquarters, as you clairn. 

you did, to get a detective, detectiVe Sullivan, I believe, 

to make this arrest' A I went right to the store, and 

watched these two boys. 

Q,. When, SulLivan came, he arrested these two  defendants" 

A. Yes, Sir. 

Dia.n.e arrest the owner of this store' A No, sir. 

"Did you go with him into the store' A No, sir. 

'Why did you st;4,y outside' A Why did I stay outside' 

Yes. A Because I don't,have to go inside. 

. I a a 2r0-1,1 vihy you stayed outside" A. There is some 

cases in which I don't have to be used in Court. 

You had an idea that in this case it- might•not be 

necessary that your testimony would be used; that is correct? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q But you were the only one who saw this alleged. lar-

ceny/ A Yes,. sir.. 

Q Now, beinc the only one, you knew that a conviction, 
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could_never be had unless you woli1.4, go inside-- you would 

join the detective' 

O'iliALLEY Objected to. 

THE COURT: Let him express what he thought. 

Way didn't you go inside with the detectiTe,_ 

A Well, I waited. outside; -I was watching these boys, what 

they Were doing. 

BY ..CHE COURT: 

The question was, why didn't you gro in with the 

officer when offioer went in to make the arrest? 

A The officers didn't call me inside; I didn't Co in. 

Is that the only reason that you had' A Well, that 

is all I know. 

hIR. HOYFAAN: 

Did you .go to Police headquarters with- these do-

Yes, sir. 

Tha,: evening  A. Yes, sir. 

Did Q Did .rou give your name to the man behind the desk? -

A No, sir, I gave the officers that came, and they s 

I should ,.;ome down to Court next w)rning. 

Q . When You got to Police headquarters, did you maks, 

your statement to the man behind the desk', 

A No, sir. 

You made no statement to him"- A I don't 

roulember. 

rs 
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Did you give your name a A To the 

officer. 

Q, Were you in Police headquarters' A Yes,. sir. 

Q, Then, you went along with these defendants,. 

No, sir. 

Q, When 2rou fpot to Policle headquarters, was the man 

who as the- ownfir 011;4. • stove arested" A NO, sir. 

Did the detective take the owner of the store with. 

these defenda1t89 A The detective told 

Didn't he arrest him' A No he did not arrest him. 

(2, You Si.1N i;ne owner of this store in the -Police Court) 

didn't you' A Yes, sir, the following morning. 

Qi You knew tdat de was arrested' A I didn't know 

until I reached tae Court. 

Q, But, wnen you reached the Court, you know that the 

store kt3eer was arrested' A Yes, when the officers told 

11le • 

Q. Do you lalow what happened with this-Man'S case, the 

store-ke3uer' A He was discharged. 

MR. 0 MALLEY: I don't see how that is material. 

TH]f.:00.133: That has nothinc to do with this 

case. He had never received the goods. 

Qi Tlie only answer, and the best answer you can give, 

for not Going inthis store with the detective is beoauSe 

detective did not call you; is that right' A Yes, sir. 
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121. HO3ATh That is all. 

THE UOURT: Now, Gentlemen, .we will suspend here 

uhtil to-1or7,:owl at Two o'clock. I have to draw-

Grz7Lnd Xurors at the 'CommisFsioner of Jurors, With some 

of the oth,lr JuCves and won't be able to reach this 

Court House until ,Two o'clock. So, gentlemen of the 

Jury, in the :meantime, you will not.nake up your minds as 

to the c;uiit or innocence of he defendant, or discuss 

any of the mkittars amonE yOnrselves concerning this casei 

unli 7.A0 urc:tter is submitted to you for your verdict. 

The Cony co7dIngay took a recess until to-morrow, 

Tuesday, Oeceptaa- 6th, 1910, at Two 
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New York, Tuesday, December 6th 1910. 

TRIAL R E 5-UM E D.. 

Present :-

Hon, Edward Swann  T. 

and a '-.11ry.. 

n C. 5 - ppen 

same as Before. 

° The Defendants are arraigned at the Bar. 

ICHAEL SULLIVAN, called asawltness an 

behalf of the People,, being first duly sworn, testified 

as folluus:-

DIRECT AXAKINATIOIN Ah. O'AALLEY: 

q What is your full name/ .A Michael Sullivan. 

the City 

You are a !ember of the Municipal Police Force of 

f New York/ A Yes, sir. 

How lone hi,.ve you. been such member/ 

and a half. 

Attached where? A Detective Bureau. 

Four years 

And were assigned to what branch/ A First branch 

of the detective -Bureau, on  Septeldber 17th. 

On the 17th of September, of the present year, 

did you see either of these defendants/ A Yes, sir. 

• • Where/ A At Ludlow and tanton treets. 
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Did you see a man named Leitner taere? 

HOFFIrAN: I subdiit the District Attorney shouild 

not lead this witness. 

THE 'COURT: Let him state what he did see there. 

Q Who did you see there? A I got a telephone message 

at the datecti,te 3,311reaul and was . 

3Y THI!ii COUR: 

As b. result (),' tit telephone. communication, *hat 4i4 

-you do  A 1 went to Stanton and Ludlow Streeta. 

BY MR. 011ALL'ELY:. 

• Who with you' A Detective Gore-ran. 

Q, Wao ytrl see at Stanton 

A On Ludlow Strat?. 

and Lublow' 

about one hundred, and fifty feet 

from Stanton, I met Leitner,-- Sam Leitner. 

h 2revious iitnese here, wa s he 

A Yes,. 

Q. Af;.- you Leitner, what did you do ' -

A I waw. o a store. Leitner informed me there were 

two bos •ttre i1O stole a package from. Greene Street. 

*LW yi.ks•v*ii:,ii you' Detectiye Gorevan. 

You went In tthe store, did you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And 

and Kaplan. 

W.0.0 iiid you see there" A The defendants Litlini4n 

whut were they doing at the time A Defendant 141;V 

man was standing over he package whiah is here, on the desks 
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and-ha had A akirt in his hand and his coat off.: 

hat was the other defendant doing' 'A Kaplan 

was sitting alongside of the counter, about two feet from 

the package. 

Who else was there, if anybody' A There was a 

man who owned the store, by the name of Saffer,lals 

daughter .and his wife. 

BY THE COUR'.2: 

Saffer was his name, S-a-f-f -e-r? 

-a-f-f-e-r. 

Saffee. A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. O'MALLEY; 

Did you are a conversation with either of the 

defendants' sir, Detective Gorevat had the con-

versation. 

Diu. volt Ulre,TilaJ: any conversation Detective Gorevan 

had with tae defendants, A • Yes, sir.. 

Q, State' what it wia87 A Detective Gorevan.aaked 

the defendant. Littman where he had got that:paolgage. 

He sada ie i4d got it on Greene Street, off his father,  132 

Greene Stxt:et. 

else9 A And we placed them under. arrest. 

Do you recall hny other conversation  

A (No answer) 

BY THE OURT: 
Did LittN,In say he got the package from his, 



fra 

A 

81 

Li”man's father? A He said he got it from his fathet. 

And did he say where his father was? A 132 

Greene Street. 

BY ha. O'MALLEY: 

You -spoke about a package? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Describe that package a little more fully to the 

jury? A A pasteboard box, containing a lot of skirts, 

twenty-four skirts. 

Q, Was there-- did you find any paper there, any . 

wrapping payer/ A Yes, 
- • 

I show you that wrapping paper and ask you if you 

saw that (handing saxue_ to witness) ? A Yes,  

.Q And is the box that you .saw.9 A Yes, sir. 

Q That the astehoara,Oox? A Yes, sir. 

Q, With its  contents? A - Yes, sir.' 

Q, Twent;y-four slcirts? A • Yes, sir. 

Q, ATICi, what aia you ao with that box,, if anything? 

eiefencLant Littman to wrap' them up, and, there 

was.five or six skir-:;ss behind the counter, and Saffer's 

daughter gaye them bao.k to Littra4n, to put in the box. 

We wrap,ve(L r,it.ein uji, nu ia,ced them under arrest. 

Q. Dien, wilco, did you do? Where did you go? 

First BrLoii Dete,ut LtvF, Bureau, at 17 Allen Street. 

Q Wit..7ti0 roi to ith the box? A We opened it .up, 

and seen as 

*WIC 

Wei 

- 

LIU 
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Q. Did you leave it in the store or take it away? 

I took it with the defendants. 

Q To the detective Bureau? A Yes, sir. 

At any time after you took the box to the detective 

bureau,- did you see either L. I. Baron, or a boy named Max 

Stern? A Yes, sir. 

Q Wheve  A In the Police Court. 

And were you vresent at 4ny time When they examined 

tire cntents of this box? A Baron identified one Of the 

Skirts. 

MR. HO31itilA3T: Objected to. 

171,e,e was this' A In the Police Court, 

BY THE COURT7 

Were the deferdants present''A No, sir, they 

were not. 
_ 

BY 14i. O'NALLEY: 

Do you recall any time that Baron caws to the 

detective bur a,111 Or Stern Ome to the detective -bureau? 

A A chivying clerk ome tAere, to the detective bureau. 

Q, tLis ,:r.,c.kaTe in Court, did you, when the 

defendomtb ,vere arra.Lgned9 A Yes, sir. 

Ant did Bron or Stern identify the clothes

-Bbafon 1.-.,en%If1eu. them. 

DY 

Do ,,1).e name of tha. shiRoing clerk 1 



whom you say. appeared before the City Magistrate? 

No, sir, I do not remember his name. 

"SAR. O''PAALLEY: t offer the box, with the contents, 

in evidence, including the paper wrapper, referring to 

People's Exhibit No. 1 for Identification. 

(Sae is received in evidence and marked "People's 

BY 0 

CROSS MAIIINATION BY le. HOPI-NAN: 

A I was in the detective bureau, the first branch 

detective bureau, at 17 Alien. Street, on day duty,. 

You were on day duty there'7 

Whkit do you mean by day duty/A In the ofice, 

fr-omiLLf,16.st eight until six P. lk.; eight thirty in the 

mor,lin, until six P. 

)n tit cLay, ict. you leave the office at any .hour of 

ay have Went out a .couple of times,. 

to invest.igate olmplaints. 

tlmes were :ou out on that day? 
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A Will, I should judge about twille. 

Q. Between the hours of four and five, did you leave 

police headquarters/ A NO, sir. 

cz When the telephone call that you testified to reached 

17 Allen Street, did you answer the telephone? 

A Will, there were two telephonesi two telephone messages. 

Well, now/ let us see. When the first telephone 

message reached 17 Allen Street, did you answer the tele-

phone call', A I did. 

WUB ttl'at telophona-call with reference to this parti-

cular transaction', A I could not tell you that. 

Well, when you referred to a telephone tally., What • 

are you talkini: ed)out'' A Wel"A., TJeitner Called the first 

branch cidte,oti:ye bureau up, and asked if detective Horton, 

or detectiTe 7itz:Patrick was there, and I answered nol and 

hung 111.) tfle reoeivt. 

• 

When Leitner called up police headqu4rterd, you.got 

on u.ewire, you say') A He did not call up police head.-

quarters. 
- 

Nean A1Ien Street. I don'-t :mean Mullterry Street,: 

- or Geier Sts-e2t" A he did not call up police headquarters 

he Uiu no; c..11 on tne police wire at all. 

He did not ()ail on the police wire, A No, sir., 

he di6. not. 

Oo yoit iLtv. a di.fferent wire? A We certainly 

-1(11111er 

f , 

1.1_71 
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What was that wire for? A That was for outside 

people, anybody who wanted to ring up for a detective.  

Q, When you say an 'outside Wire', you --mean that it 

belonged to the polioe department? They paid for the-
. 

telephone services? A On, yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

But has not the police department -what is kn6wn 

as a police system of telephoning? A Yes, sir. 

They have a sort of interior system between the 

various branches and departments? Then they have one for. 

public use? A Yes, si 

- BY IAR. HOPI&AN: 

Whet telehone did this party call up on? 

Was it tae police telephone, or the othr telephone, which 

you refei'red to" A "i-as the other telephone, the 

When you say "Private • telephone", do you mean that 

it is the telephon,i of the police department? A No, Sir, 

„.1.n outfilue wire. 

3Y Th.,. JOURT: 

What 1;e1eohone is it" 'A The .number is 1271 Ordhard.-

Is it in he telephone book" A - It was, yes, sir. 

Q Under w/. !lead" A Under the City. 

Unde he City of New York" A Yes, sir. 

:A1110 
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Then, it is a public telephone? A Yes, sir. 

Q It is one of the City telephones? A Yes, sir. 

Q in the Police •departNent, detective bureau? 

A Yes, sir, 1271 Orchard. 

. And there is another telephone which you can only 

reach through Police headaue.rters? A Yes, 10.T. 

q And they will switch You to one of the branch 

detective bureaus' A Yes, sir. 

(1 Right away, if they think the public service demands 

it; otherwise, they wont' .k Yea, sir: 

Q But this other is a telephone that any. citizen may 

ring up the detective bureau osi? A Yes, sir'. 

BY R. HOPFKAN: 

Q 

Stre:s 

The telephone number is 1271 9 A Yes, sir. 

Isn't it customary in police headquarters at Allen 

-1;1,J2: telephone should be answered by the person 

in cir.L8trge/ 

iR. I don't see • how this is material-

obect to it. 

PH txnuve: '1 don't see •anything material about • 

,it, hr. O'kalley, but, at the same time, I -am in hopes 

that i tl.t une. light before a while. 

T except to that statement of your 

},onor's. 

„oURT: What connection has it with the guilt 

; L. 
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or innocence of the defendant, 

R. HOFFMAN: I want to see whether this man was 

doing a private business at headquarters. 

TH3 COURT: Supposing he was. 

HOFFAIJN: That is for the jury to say, whether 

\ 

he had a right to do that. 

THW. COURT: We are trying one case, Now, you " 

are tryinu, to _switch it. off to the trial of this police-,. 

Ma ri • Now, the jury have their minds centered upon these 

two men. This .policeman is not indicted. He is not 

called upon to defend himself. You are trying to make 

it appear he was doing samething outside of the police 
dO 

duty. He has nothing to with the guilt or innocence 
A 

of the -defendants, except that he arrested- 'them. 

MR. HOFFMAN: I again insist on taking an exception -

THE COURT: Assuming th'0., the--

ROTICTLAN: I do not care to argue the case with 

your .;ionor. 

Unless you show me something that is 

bordorinE upon the issues, something that actually ap-

,.ro cries r.lie issue, I shall not rule against you, because 

W e not trying the officer. 

M HOP-WAN: I take an exception to your Honor's 

r rx.• I want your honor to understand that I believe - 

this is proAier cross examination. 
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THE COURT: I call upon you to shoe me, by soma 

statement, wherein this is relevant, and, if you do, 

you can go right ahead, and , if you do pot, you cannot. 

MR. HOFFLAN: Very well. I will except to the 

statement made by the court. 

BY 11R. HUMAN; 

Whose dutyl.Mr. Sullivan, was it to answer tele-

pho#e calls at 17 .Allen• Street'. 

MR. O'YLALLAY: I object -to 'this. your Honor. 

THE COURT: It has nothing to do ,with the case, 

but he may answer it. 

A There wasa clerical man there who answers the outside 

wire, ,and, if he was not there, and the lieutenant was busy 

there at the desk, any man in the office could answer it. 

Isn't it .a rule of the department that when a cull • 

- is sent ini at 17 All  Street, that a record of that call 

r - 
be ,.Lade upoli tixe books of the department'' A Not On the 

outsiue wire. 

Will you say, under oath, that it was not the duty of-. 

the officer ir ciLarge of No. 17 Allen Street to record t4is. 

telephone comnunication" A Well, I don't know nothing 

about tilat. 

NB, O'IdALLEY: Objected to. How does this man 

know that the duty of an officer w'as on the telephone. 

MR. HOPPIN: I ask for the production of the tele-, 
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phone book that I subpoenaed. 

(Books are produced) 

Q Mr. Sullivan, I ask you whether there, was kept, at 

17 Alien Street., a hook in which were reported all of the 

incoming telephone communications. What is your Answer/ 

IR. O'MALLEY': If the Court Pleases, I have al-

ready obj edtec. f-,6 this. 

TH.7, OUT: Yes, I don' t see its relevancy,. but 

will the question. 

iuR . 0 'itziALLEY: I obj ect to it upon another ground. 

It snoul,f epar whethkir. Or not this witness 
knows.HOPPEAN:

 I am asking him if he knows. 

BY (;01,113t{': 

uo 40Jov, 

tht is .8.1.11 ,as far as I know. 

BY . 1-1071IAN: 

Q, • What if-) hat') A Over the police wire, as far as 

know, a record was kept. 

Q, So, you now make the statement that, .as far as you 

know, the only records of telephone communioatione.are those 

which are sent across the police wire, A Yee, sir, 

cz Don't you know that that record is kept in police. 

headquarters') A I don't know. 

You don't know that" A No. 
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WrA:o brought these books which were brought here' -

I brought them here. 

q ask you to look at this book, and I will ask 

you whether this 1.5 not the hook kept at 17 Allen Street, 

and it contains all of the telephone communications incom-

ing: from thu wire not the police wire. Look at the books 

A (*Witness exakiire,s books) 

BY 9515,, COURT: 

Dice you uver see that book before' Yes, sir. 

This book contains lavcenies and burglaries, received from 

different precincl,s in the district, first branch of the 

detective bureau. 

BY b4j,. HOFIPLAN: 

Will you swear that there is not contained in that 

book telephone cammunivations received on the wire other than 

the police wire which you refer to A (No answer) 

BY TH74 COURT: 

Q. In, other words,- from one police department to. 

another' Is there anything- in that book which would  

record a call made by a private citizen to the police 

department over the public wire that you speak of' • 

R. HOYTTLAN: That is the point, your Honor. 

NR. WAIALLET: If the Court please, I submit this 

witness should not be required to answer that question, 

unless it is shown it was his duty to keep that record, 
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and that he knows.. 

Do you know of such a book? 

BY R. OIMALTaiTY: 

air. 

Du you make entriee in that book yourself 

ANo, sir, I do not. 

Do you know nose duty it is to make entries, 

A The lieutenant behind the desk. 

A 

its Is your su erior officer,• A Yes, sir. 

You nel,,r made an entry in that  

slr. 

You ilave no 4,nOwledge of 'what entries .are'made there,. 

except what you might see 

A Txia i about ali. 

THL COURT: 

yourself; is that right'. 

Do you somtime receiTe the. in.coinin calls, When 

you Aapezi to b -present, on that telephone whi.dh you say 

is sort of vublio telephone, for the use of. any. citizen" 

A Ah3r use that for i$ to call a detectie, or a man. 

assigned to thc? case by the bureau, if he is in the 

office ox nol;. 

Q, Who answ rs that telephone' A Tile clerical man1. 

f he is busy, any man in, the office. 

Q Anybody in the office? A Yes,air) any officer 

in the office. 

Q When you answer it,do you. make 4 record, in writing, 

_ 
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of that call? 

BY la. ROPYRAN: 

Q won't you swear 

.92 

No, sir. 

now, that it is your duty to enter 

televhone which you 

(No answer)-

la774 COURT: 

receive on the private wire 

Do yolk ever receive calls on the private wire, whet 

Is JeLna6711 as tht prlyate wire, between the various depart-

ts of police? A 

Thil, COURT: 

No, sir, not that I know of. 

He has not stated, as" recall it, 

tbJlt he ever received any message coming over the police 

wire, but lie said, any time he happens to be present, 

or ally other officer was present, or any person present, 

they answered the telephone_ 

HOFWAN: That is correct. He tells the 

truth. Nov, the next question I want to ask As this: 

By 1M HON:' 

Is it the duty of the officer, or persons .in the 

del)artment, when answering a telephone call, to make an 

entry of it, or cause an entry to be made,. 

THE COURT: Over this pU151ic wire. 

MR. ROFYMAN: That is right. 

A Not that I know of. 

Q You swear, as a 

of any such rule? 

detective, that youdon't know 

A I don't know of any such rule. 
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q Now, pleas d look at the book which you brought, in 

Pursuance to my subpoe na, on the date of September 17th 

and tell this Court and jury whether there is .contained 

anY entry of the telephone communication from Leitner to 

the police headquarters, on that day? 

THE COURT: He says that it came over. the public 

telephone; it was not--

LA. IT,070i'hAr: 

at the record.

TH.J0OURT: 

Iudge, I an asking him to lock 

All right; September 17t. 

1 blese is no record of it. 

Tnere is no record' A No, sir. 

Now,ofl:Icer, where did you bring that book from?. 

The day I sent it from Police headquarters? 

çg who rave it to you  A. Lieutenant Dunn. 

Is i n authorized office*" Is he an officer of * • 

the Department? A He is a Iileutenantl attached to *kir 

InSpector Ru9sell's Staff.. 

9, Look at the book, and tell. the Court and, jury 

whether that was the telephone book which was kept at 17 

Allen Street in the month of SepteMber2 

MR. 0 '1v.iALLEY : Objected to, unless he shows he 

knows. whether it was, or not. 

Thb, COURT: he is asked to tell Whether he knows., 

BY THE COURT: 
Did you ever see that book before, A Yes, sir. 

11 
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In what precinct was that kept' A First branch 

detective bureau, 17 Allen Street. 

BY MR. HORAVAN: 

That is where you were stationed, A Yes, sir. 

HOPYMAN: I offer that book in evidente. 

MR. 01MALLZY: Objected to as incompetent, irrele-

vant and imnaterial. 

TILI COURT: Objection sustained. 

1141B. HOFF1AN: If your Honor pleases, I served a 

subpoena upon the Police Department to produce the books 

containing the telephone calls that were sent to 17 

Allen Street. In pursuance to the subpoena, this 

officler brings it. He now testifies, in the regular 

that lie cot it from one of the officers; that he 

looked at. the book; that'he recognizes it, as the book 

h.e.pt in that office and as 4 record. 

nlis COURT: Viere is the trouble. He says that 

is a book which only records dommunicationa made between . 

one police precinct and another, and there is, in addition-

to t.interior system of telephones which the police 

have, a public telephone, in each precinct,  that any 

citizen inay use, and that it is the only way of commu-

nicating with the detective bureau bya citizen. If 

you go to a telephone instrument, and  ring up 17 Allen. 

-Street, you ring it up r on the public telephone. Now, 
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he says thtA is a pubo ic telephone, and there is no 

record made by anybody of any incoming or outgoing 

communication over that public telephone; but the book 

that he 11i3 is presented with, and the only one that is 

kept is the private wires between the various departmihts 

of polige headquarters. Now, he says that Leitner rang 

up over the public telephone, as that is the only. meana' 

any citizen has of communicating with 17 Allen Street; 

that. no record is .1de of any incoming communications 

there. Did you receive that communication/ 

ThE WITNESS: I received it, yes, sir. 

THE COURT: That he received it that he made 

no record ot; tbat he was not in the habit, nor is it 

the halit of tite DevartNent, to make any record, make 

any record of the incoming calls over that telePhone. 

hOMAN: I don't believe this man will stand 

later part of your Honor's statement'? 

?iiA COURT: That ig te.e way he testified. 

HOFPLAN: I want to be honest with your Honor, 

and honest with the witness. The infornation.I 

received from Po,yice headquarters -- and, if your Honor 

wants it, I will bring the third Deputy here, who will 

corroborate the staterlient, thLlt it is the duty of each 

,recinct to maKe a record of every incoming call, where 

ci,..:ect.cves are requested to go out ilAid do work. If your 



A 

96 

Honor wants that evidence, I will bring the third 

deputy Commissioner here. 

'MR COURT: If you think it is necessary, bring 

him, but I do not see what relevancy it has to the 

guilt or innocence of the defendants, unless your con-

tention is that the defendants were not arrested by 

officers from 17 Allen Street, because the testimon# is 

that tiese offiLerxs went from 17 Allen Street; but, let 

us assume they did not. They arrested the defendants, 

and that is all they are testifying to. They testified 

they arrested the defendants, and an the defendants found 

these goods. Now, that, from your argument yesterday, 

assume is not contradicted. I assOme, in all fair-

ness, you will state that is so, beca:se the testimony 

seems to Oe ovrwhelming to that effect, and I think you 

eaie.. so icesterday. 

.AR, HOPPKAN: I take an exception to your Honor's 

sta-7;ewent. 

uOURT: If you did not say so yesterday then I 

withdraw tit, but I understood you did say so yesterday. 

. HO-41PLAN: 

I will Lirove. 

But your Honor wanted to know what 

T will atempt to prove, by this man's 

o%rn testiony, t Re was never at 17 'Allen Street, and 

no tele:J.)12one communication. reached 1r Allen Street. 

7 -OURT: Tha t

 

wh w not tnere' 

AtratiamtftwwW.ort. 

liMME1110 
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MR. HOPFkAN: That this man was not at 17 Allen 

Street, and that that arrest was had by arrangement. 

THE COURT: All this witness testified to is 

that he arrested the defendants. He does not say they 

are guilty. 

MR. HOFFEAN: He says he got a call at 17 Allen 

Street. I want to prove that he did not get it., That 

record shows he did not get it. 

ME COURT: No. Objection sustained. And if 

you want to produce the third deputy police commissioner, 

you may do so, but I don't see what relevancy it has to 

the guilt or innocence of the accused. In every case 

of this kind, counsel endeavors to try the police depart-

ment, and we are not going to try the police department. 

MR. HOTTJoAN: In view of your honor's statement, I 

think it is. pro)er to ask that a juror should be with-

drawn. I ara not tryin: the police department. I have 

a right to exaiiline that man. . I have a right to find 

o wAethr he is tellinq the truth in any single detail, 

anu, df the witness lies in any respect, the jury has a 

riffat to disregard his' entire testimony;, and I am attemp-
and - 

',II %c) aliCYVY Ile is not telling the truthl:Aby reason of. • 

yonr Aonor's remarks, I respectfully requeetmthat a 

juror be withdrawn. 

ETD UOURT: Well, your request is respectfully • 

01/ jry'uleci We are goinc to try two defendants, and we 

; 

erk644i1 

WNW 

fir) 
T " 
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are not going to try the Police Department. If any 

one has a complaint against the police departMent, _there 

is a way to do that, but we won't Shunt off, or side-

track, the case of any particular defendant, in order to . 

try the police department. 

HOPFkAN: I respectfully submit that I am not 

in a position to proceed with this case, in view of your 

Honor's statements. Your Honor knows I have a right to 

shake this witvies,s te,;1:inn117, if I can. I realize I 

am not tryin,s. him now, but I may try him later on. 

THE COURT: If you desi,-e to, I shall aid you in, 

everyy I can, and When you bring him here on trial, 

4,1 

)rolalse you ti-.t nobody else will be tried but 

. HOPTEAN: Nov, will your Honor admit that book' - 

in evidence'? 

•Dlif,'00URT: • No. That is overruled. Take an 

exceptio and you have your remedy, if I 9,:pi wrong. 

R. HOW,'LAN: r Your Honor will gilte iwt the benefit 

of al exception/ I as your Honor to iWruct the 

iiay any attention t,-) any rejnarks about 

Depart,lent? 

;OURT: Gentlemen of the Jury, we are not trying. 

depe..rtblt;, _.tnu you will, therefore, .direct 

your ,;en;iono t.kie uilt or innocence of the defendants 

.) • 

iforstii 

t. I 

I 
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MR. HOP1111AN: That is right. 

BY 1R. HOPPMAN: 

Now, officer, you don't know much about the tele-

phone book, and I will ask you to place that aside.. 

THE COURT: Now, gentlemen of the jury, any 

colloquies that pass between Court and Counsel, Should 

not be considered by you in your deliberations as to the 

Euilt or innocence of .tie defendants. You Should not 

be influenced either on  way or the other, either for 

or against the defendants. Your verdict must be based 

upon the evidence given on the stand. 

Mr. _Sullivan, this other book which you brought, 

you brought it in yarouanse to the subpoena which was served 

is tozt ik Yes, sir. 

Q Is,311.e book which is noY hero tile police blotter/ 

Known as- the police arrest blotter. 

Police arrest bloter' A Yes, sir. 

c, This arrest Was i!iaue on the 17th of September, 

wnat tjm.e A About five thirty, or five forty. 

About five. thirty of what'? A Between five. thirty 

J.net five forty, axrestea tile -defendants. . 

Now, then, tance between 17 Allen Street and' 

Stanton an  Ludlow, wcuia tke you how much tinel 

A I should judge. aboutfifteen minutes.. 

Fifteen lAnnte59 A Yes, sir. 
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-(1 • What time did the call reach -Allen Street? 

A About twenty Alnutes past fivej. something around- that. 

What tine did you get back to  Police headquarters 

with.'these defendants! A First branch detective bureau? 

Q Allen Street? A I should judge about twentjmin-

utes of six, 

. Twenty minutes Of six,. About that. 

Is it the sustom that when these defendants are 

brought into the station house, as you may call it, that 

a record be made of the arrest! A. Not always. 

In this case, was there a record made .of the 

arrest! A  No, sir, not as oon as they were fetched in. 

How soon after they were brought in was a record. made! 

Well, perhaps about an hour, or an hour and a qutlirter, 

maybe. 

The volice bloti:er says six thirty-five; so that 

is correct! A About that. 

Q Who made the entries in this book on thatday, if 

y011 remaNb4r9 What was the Lieutenant's name, 

trib COUTZT: He might tell by lookinc, at the han1-

WIT7ES8: •- Your HoOor,: we ra nothinfr, to do 

vi eOooks. We are not aliowea to see those bOoks 

at eLLi 

T'Y 
q Do von ha-ei ±no the 4A., inc of the lieu--

00@eitr 
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tenant who made it? .State, if you can, If you can't, 

say so. We don't want any guess, officer. 

A No, sir, I could not tell you. 

BY M. HOMAN: 

Q

 

to you know the name of the man who was in charge 

that night? 

THE COURT: Is there any objection to his reading 

off the record? 

MR. O'MALLEY: It is not material. 

THE COURT: It is not at all material. Do you 

object to it? 

yd.R. O'MALLEY: I object. 

ThN COURT: Mr. Hoffman, I would not ask an offi-

cer who hadn't anything to do with the hook,  and says he 

seldom sees it, because there is a way to do it right. 

You can get the officer who made the .entries, 

. liopFmk11: 

Have you the subpoena that I served? A No, sir, 

I aave not jot it with me. 

Mi c AOFFI4A).i: I ask for the BAJI wno made the  

entries itad the eit-Ln who kei)t these books. 

fH ;OURT: If you would send there and inquire--

B.  I served a.subpoena requesting that 

\_ the officer who :aade the entries an the 17th of Septem-

ber ap.L)ear here. 

ofigibtp 
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THE COUA1T: It is an official record-, and you 

can read it, without producing the person who made it.. 

MR, O'MALLEY: I want to have it noted on the 

record,that this examination is collateral; it.is not , 

iirover cross examination, and he is making him his arm. , 

witness. 

T.H7 COURT: Yes. 

MR. HOFWLAN: Very well. 

Q. Officer, who furnishes the information to the lieu-

tenant regarding the entries of names? Who furnishes the 

gentleman tht writes in this book with the information? 
_ 

A The officers: in the case, 
• 

In this case, did you furnish the officer with the 

informAion? A No, six, I did not. 

Q,, Who did? A It was one of the officers whose names 

ur,3 on tuat blotter. 'Which one, I really could nottell 

you. 

Thg COURT: Readtit. 

TAR. HOPTAAN: The officer's names are Michael 

Sullivan, Gorevan, F. Horton, FitzPatric:41 and T. 

Cuniss. 

THTi] WITITUS: Yes, sir. 

Which one of these officers, if you know, furnished 

he information to be placed in the police blotter? 

A I could not tell you. 

-7••• 
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Q That is right. Who went to make the arrest, how' . 

many of -axle five officers? A Detective Gorevan and I. 

Q Why have you the nanes of three additional deteCtivne 

here' Why were the  given t'aree additional names other than 

torevan and yourself' A Th y were asked for by Leitner 

when he called on the telelohone. Leitner asked if Horton 

or FitzPatrick was in the office. 

Q And because Ae ,ask 1 -- 

44 An6 ey in the fZiCe when we g t back,  and wnen 

we got bac.i. ther, we left the two defendants in :the office, 

in charge of Gorevan itzPatrlok Id Cuniss,-while Went . 

out and got ;...lie -eceLver, who was Sam Saffer. 

Now, then, you say Leitner-- I woWt say you ,said, 

Ileuf:Ja you c.tiu, not say so. Dia Leitner go from Stanton 

Street aric Ludlow to Police headquarters together With 

tueso ...tetectIves that night' 

k. O'hALLW You mean the defendnate' 

A'"1. HOPP.LAIT: Yes, with the defendants' 

Did he follow us' 

Yes. 'A He waited outside until we got the 

defendants. 

Q, Do yon know what I am asking you. You are smart.' 

.1 am asking you did Leitner go with these defendants to 

17 Allen .Street, together with you, when the arrest was 

made' A Accompany me there, 
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Q; Yes. A Not that I can remeribe.r. . 

Not that  you can remember? A Yes r. 
Q And +11.at is the best answer. you can give this jury" 

Yes; he 'flay have followed us there; I don't know. 

Q Did he go Iiith you up stairs, in the clerk's office' 

A ( No answer) 

BY MK COURT: 

Have you any memo randum, of it, A I have no 

4innoranthua of -1,43i trier. s coming. 

Hays you any memorandthu of this arrest in your book, 

Septelthe 2, 17 th9 A (No answer) 

dates? 

Honor. 

mean, don't you have it according to the date? 

Don' t you have it in regular order, according to 

A I have burglaries and everything, your 

A ..Yes. It is all mixed up, though. • . 

IBY HOPli'MAN: 

- There it is. 

Q, Look at the book, for the .ourpo se of refreihine; your 

memory, and tell me wheth,u- Leitner was at Police head-

quarters tna.t evening, together with these .de-Lendants, when 

the arrest was made? Have you any record of it? 

A I Latve no record of Leitne,r being at police -head-

quarters with these defendants. 

Isn't it a. fact that Leitner was not at police. 

ileadqua.,-ters that night? A Yes, sir, he was there that 

night. 

;111E"---01,1 
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Did he go With these defendants when the arrest 

was made" A I don't think he did. 

MR. O'MALLEY: He says he does not remember. 

ThE WITNESS: T don't remember. I don't think he 

Officer, in order to have wade this arrest, didn't you 

deem it necessary to have a complainant' A No, not 

necessarily; it was on information and belief that we 

L.rvasted those defendants. 

0, On whose information and belief' A Leitne'r's 

information. 

Q, That is right. Didn't you think that it was 

proth3r that he should go with you to the police station, 

togeth-r with the defendants'' A No. 

O'MALLEY: Object-ed to as inoamoetent, irre-

levant and immaterial. 

THE COURT: 

ahead. 

Q, 

Q. 

T don't se ri t:ile relevancy, but, 

Didn't you donsider him the complainant" 

.sir. 

Who did you consider the complainant' 

A The man who owned the stuff. 

On the evening of SepteAber 17th, did you know who 

the owner of this stuff was  A Yes, sir, beir it was 

marke'd on the wrapver. It was marked right on the Wrapper 

_ 



If Ieitner had been at Police headquarters that 

night„, would his name appear on that blotter, 

A I don't -think it would. 

Q, Don't you know it is customary that the name of 

an important complaining witness appear upon the blotter? 

a. oIMALLW: Objected to. It does not appear 

Leitner was the complaining witness. Na simply 

pointed these defendants out to the officer who ar-

rested them. 

TEE 0OURTI Let him answer the question if he

can? 

Not that I know of, not a complaining witness. 

Mhat part did you think Leitner had in this trans-

action? A That be seen these man take thea package i that 

about all; and televhoned to the office -that they had 

taken it. 
• 

q That was an important witness wasn't he? He was 

an important witness? A Yes, sir. 

Q I will again ask you, considering the 'man, as you 

say, an important witness, didn't you think it'.was right 

tht he should go with you to 17 Allen Street? 

A Not necessarily. 

Q, Did you have an arranL:emnt With him, wnere to Aeet 

hi A No  øi r,  41.4 not. 
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What was the understanding between you and Leitner? 
' . 

' . . . 
I. . . . . . . 

A Triere was no understanding at all between Leitner and, 

How was, he to get to you, and how were you to get 

to him, A - I have seen Leitner dozens of times in the 

first branch detective bureau. 

Was he a friend of yours' it Yes, sir, by aeeing 

him taere, thi.o: is all. 

In answer to Ur. O'Malley's question, you claimed 

you wet Leitne70 about on hundred and fifty feet from Stanton' 

Street" A I met him on Ludlowl about one .hundred and fifty 

feet from Stanton. 

How did you go from Ludlow Street from headquEirtere 

What route did you take' A From the office, first branch 

detective bureau' 

. q Yes, W.14, revex you .went". A 'Went u.  to the. corner 

f Canal and Allen, rode on the L. from Canal and Allen 

to Rivington, got off at Aitington, walked over to 03=1 

Ludlow, 

R, 

and rightdawn Ludlow—Street to Stanton. 

You met Leitner one hundred and fifty feet from the 

corner of Stanton, on Ludlow? A About. 

Q Won't you swear it was two hundred feet? 

A No. 

3wear it was one hundred and seventy-five feet! 

A No. 
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You are pretty. sure it was about one hundred and 

'fifty feet' A About one hundred and fifty feet.' 

41_ Tell Us accurately the number Of feet" 

A  About from this end of the roam to the other end of  

the roam. 

q And you Consider this distance one hundred and. fifty 

feet, A About that. 

Was it light, or dark, at that time Wellt it 

was light. 

Q, 
Light? A Yes, coming on evening. 

Was Leitner alone, or with somebody else' 

A He Was alone alone when he not detectives gorevan 

and I. 

Re was alone/ A Yes, sir. 

Was he standing, or Walking towards Riving ton 

Street' A He was standing on Ludlow Street iti1 he seen 

Detective Gorevan and myself. 

Q Standing on the sidewalx, or in the gutter' 

A StandinE in the gutter. 

Q In the gutter' A Yes, sir. 

There L6 the entrance to this store; where these 

defend' ts were found/ Is it on Ludlow Itreet, or Stanton 

Street' A Well, there is an entrance on Stanton Street, 

and there is an entrance, a little door, on Ludlow. Street. 

Whet entrance did you take that night' A Stanton 

traer,. 
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Q That is right. You took the entrance around the 

corner. As you were earning down Ludlow streets you took 

the entrance around the corner, namely, on Stanton Street/ 

A Yes, sir. 

Q You are positive in your testimony that you met 

Leitner one hundred and fifty feet from the corner of 

Stanton and Ludlow Streets' A I said about one hundred 

and fifty feet. 

Q, If Leitner testified that he was standing on the  

corner of Stanton and Ludlow, he was mistaken' A He WAS. 

Q. Don't you know that I withdraw that question. 

MR. HOPPMAN: At this point, I will accept your 

• Honor's suggestion and read into tae record the entry 

Q x the blotter. "Arrest Number --" 

R. 0 MALLEY: What is the purpose of it' 

THE UOURT: It doesn't is  anr difference' 

HOPTAN: "Arrest No. 516. Ninth month, 9, 17, 

10. 635 P. M. Grand Larceny, Morris Littman,residence 

206 Delancey Street, Manhattan, age 21, Nationality, 

flniP,ed StkLtes, hlissia, business, clerk, read,and write, 

yes. The officers names are the oft'icers which you 

.114, Sullivan, Gorevan, .Horton, PitzPatrick and duniss. 

ae of cowiiiainant, Louis I. Baron, 137 Greene Street, 

niattn. P7rest o. 517, 9-17-X0, 635 P. M. 

mirceny, isiuord ,4‘.1)1.,-,nl 242 East vourth Street, 
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Manhattan, age 17, color white, nationalitY, UAi 

States, clerk, Officers. Horton, PitsPatriOkAind Cuniss 

Do you know who furnished the na1ne Of that compla 

on the night of that arrest' A No, sir. 
• :1" 

Q Did You furnish the name of Bron & Company? 

A I did not, sir. 

MR. H070MAN: That is all. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Have you 'anything in your note book there of this 

arrest that has not been brought out, A No, your Honor, 

thzt is about all; j us t about the same. 

RE REZ T `:;13)CAlv1INAT I ON BY AR. 0 ' MALLV 

• Have you an entry in there at, all! 

Yes, sir. 

R. O'ILALLEY: T think we ought to have what is 

entered in the regula course:, follOwing the arrest. 

Tal; •UOURT : 00 you object, Mr. Hoffman', f-

AR. H0Fv.:44N: I certainly do. 

THE 00URT: Objection sus ta ined. 

MR. HO7WAN: Just one que sti on . 

7Y MR. HOPWAW: 

You know nothing o tnii larceny on Greene Street!-

go, sir. 

c,OURT: No, na has never intinated that he 
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knows.a thing about it. 

BY MA. WAALLEY: 

You, as a police officer, frequently become a com-

plaining- witness yourself in the Magistrates Court? 

A Yes, sir. 

Look at that paper. Were you made the complain-

ing witness in this case? Didnit 'you wear to this aril-. 

davit? A Yes, sir. Do you want to know how Ice to 

do that/ 

4R.-04WAILEY: No. 

THE COURT: Would any member of the jury like to 

ask the witness a question; but let It: bear on: the Issue 

in the case which is, did, or did not, the defendants 

steal the box of goods; .t114t is the question we are 

trying. 

BY MR..WIAALLTEY: 

You made no entry in this last book at all' 

No, sir. 

THE UOURT: He said. that. He knows nothing 

about tae book. 

LICHAE L T. G OREITAN, called asawitness 

on behalf of the people being tirst duly sworn  testified 

as follow8:-
OIRSOT iiakirTATION 3Y AR. O'MALLEY: 

Q. is youi- full name, A Michael J. Gorevau. 
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Q You are a member of the Municipal Police Parce 

of the City of New York? A I am. 

Q Attached where/ A Detective Bureau. 

Q• Holt long have you 'been such medber/ A Going on 

seven years. 

Q On the 17th of September, this year were you at. 

tached to the Allen street Detective Bureau' A Yea, sir. 

Q Did you go, with officer Sullivan, to Ludlow 

Street? A (No answer). 

BY ME COURT:. 

Bid you have anything to .do With the arrest 

these defendai ts? A I did, 

Q Tell as all about it/ A On the date Mentioned, 

was out on what they call day duty in the office, and a 

teleohone laessage, on the outside wire, what we had in the 

office, came oyer. the wire, and he asked for officer Fits:-

Patrick or }Lorton. 

BY MR. HORTON: 

Were you talking/ A Was I t lkine 

Over the wire A No, sir; officer Sullivan was 

talking. 

R. HORPAAN: I move to strike out the conversation. 

TH DOUBT: Strike it out. 

a't+; V.I9".,7,5S: Officer Sullivan was talking over the 

wire, mrid ne says to me, "Come NI Mike, around to 
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Ludlow Street. "so I went around 4uisp, 

\. 

UR. HOFFMAN: I 1110170 to strike out, "Comm arOnU 

to Ludlow street". 

'r 

THE COURT: It is harmless. Those little 

take up time, but hurt no one. 

MR. HOFFMAN: Yes, but I want to get a record. 

THE COURT: It takes up such an immense amount Of 

time for nothing. 

THE WITNESS: Officer Sullivan and I proceeded to 

this place. We saw a young man there, and we went in-

side,. When we went inside, I saw Littman, with his 

coat and hat off. 

BY THE COUn: 

Which is Littman/ A The one on that side 

(Indicating) 

The further one, fi Yes, sir, and Kaplan was sit-

ting alongside of him. I says to Littman, "where did you 

get t.n.,.t stuff" he says, "Why, what is it to you'" 

I says, "1 air! a 1)oliceman, and I have got information that 

you stole it". He says, ".T didn't steal it". I says, 

"Viliere (Ad you get it' " He said, nmy father sent me 

around here with it". I said, "Where is your father's 

place of business9" He said, "132 Greene street". 

I said,_"Are you sure your fath.Ex sent that,around here" 

he saitl, "Yes". I sai6, "Novi, you are telling me a lie".. 
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.He says. " I will tell you; a red beaded fellow 

to me. I will go out and see if the red beide, 

is out there". I said, "You will do nothing of the kind. 

You will sta,y here". I went out -and looked around for th 

red headed fellow, and I couldn't See anybody, 00 we bro 

them to 17 Allen Street, the detective Bureau. 

BY -MR. 0 '11ALL1Y: 

Q, Did you see this bundle there at the time A I saw 

two dozen skirts. 

Q And this Was -brought along to the detective bureau! 

A ,Yes, sir. 

Q, And when you tot to Ludlow and Stanton,Streets„ did 

you see any one before you went in the store? A I did. 

MR. HbFFVX : Objected to as leading. 

TH COURT: Objection 0 ex uled. 

MR. HOPYEAN: Xxception. 
4 4 

L46 you see anybody? A I dicl. 

Who'? A A younE 14 -an naned Samuel Leitner. 

After you carue out with the defendants, you went to 

Allen Street, you say/ A I did. 

00 you ro1. Whether ox not Leitner went with  

roj 1 He follawRd rLht beLind He. 

And veni u the detectil,e bnrean9 A And went 

e ett,eotiTe buTeal,. 

the only e. 0111rersel.t ion thfeft... youi had with 

,rou r c 
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I asked Littman was be ever arrested before., 

!tne. I says, "You better tell the truth, where 

this stuff". He says, "A red headed fellow gave it to 

We brought hilm'to Police headquarters, and up to 

the Photograph gallery, and up there we had his finger 
fl 

prints taken, and his picture was brought forth from the 

cabinet, but he denied that it.wae his picture. 

And then you afterwards arraigned the defendants in 

lesex Market' A Yes,. sir. 

And they were held for the Grand Jury? A Yee, sir. 

By THE COURT: 

How about his finger prints' A His finger 

Trints

 

showed his picture was there. 

did he say when confronted with that  

He denied his Picture. He said, "That is a 

th.at ksint . 

How about the thumb print' . ht- say those 

4.18 thIla rints' A He i6.1 not deny that, be-. wers,r 

cause we Jere sure they were. 

Dic 10- say anrthinc 

ckerlot, 

gard to that' A He simply 

:.i6 ittxe was there.. 

;j1. hOTYPIXN: Objected to as incon, tent, ele-

wza' ' t.al, and not binding in this case, 

,:ixitNePt Objection oyerruled® 

. ICAception. 
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•41 What did he say, if anything? Didn't he say 

anything in regard to the thumb prints? A No, he didn't 

say anything in regard to the thumb prints, but *ha denied 

that was his picture. 

Q, Are the thumb prints on the picture? 

No, it is on a separate piece of paper. 

You know hothine about the guilt or innocence of 

these defendants in this case, do you? A No sir, only 

I saw them with the goods. 

Q Only you know they 

A That is all. 
_Th 

You don't pretend to state where they got them, 

A No, sirl.I do not. 

had these beeds? 

CROSS EXAKINATION BY MR.. ROPYRAN: 

Q, Officer, where did you and Sullivan ,meet Leitner 

• that, evening' A On the corner of Stanton and Ludlow, 

right outside the store. 

q Right outside the store? A On the cornet. 

The store is on the corner. 

Q, If Sullivan teatified that he met Leitner one hurl.-

dred and fifty feet from the corner, he did not tell the 

truth, or he was mistaken? A I can't ear-that. I know 

saw Leitner on the corner. 

q were you and SulliTan together! A We were, yew* 

sir. 
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Did you both meet Leitner together? A yes, s r. 

q So that, if Sullivan said that he met /Agit/2er 021 

Corner he was mistaken? A :Well, he might have been 

a very poor judge of distance. 

BY THE dOURT: 

How far was this xan, Sam Safford--

A He was behind the counter. 

Raw far is his shtp from the 'corner? 

It is right on the corner, but the entrance is about 

fifty feet from the corner. 

BY NiP. HOPPMAN: .• 

You took the entrance on Ludlow Street/ 

A On Ludlow Street? 

Q. -.Yes. A On. Stanton Street. 

Why didn t you take the entrance on Ludlow 

Street? A Stanton runs the same as Houston. -

You were walking on Stanton? A Yes, sir, walked 
• 

east from Allen, an Stanton-  

You are not mistaken about it, A That is the 

street, Stanton Street. 

Q You walked dawn Allen Street! A Waked north' 

on Allen Street to Stanton. 

q That 4s right. When you got out or liolicelleadl. 

quarters, ,you walked north on Allen Street? A North on  

Allen Street. 

*7, 

v. 



Until you 'got to Stanton Street.. A lr 4 11 
1111en you got to Stanton Street, you-10216sdirovla 

to the corner of Ludlow? A Yes sir. 

4 That is right. That is all. You did not ride 

on the Elevator9 A No, sir. 

Q You and Sullivan were together 4 Yes, 

You did not ride on an elevator1 A Rode as far 

You rode on the elevator als far as Where' 

TEE COM,T: You mean an elevated train! 

LB. hOFFKAN: Yes, air. 

A Ye8, Second Avezue elevated train* 

Please look at me. Don't look.a anybody e eV 

I au* looking at you. 

TERk COURT: What was the object of the remark' 

Zt. BORFKAN: 

back of the room. 

Raw diu you and Sullivan leave !llen-Btreet' Wha 

way did you travel to Ludla Streetc A We got out at 

17 Allen Street, and Cot on a Second Avenue mu L. Train 

at Canal and Ar4,en, and went s far as Rivington Street,. 

and we proceeded then to Stanton Street, on Allen. 

On Ali. Street' A Yes, s 

In words, you walked down Allen Street 

froti Rivinet,or to Stanton'  A Well, I couldn't say 
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*ether Rivineton its ahead of Stanton, 01' 

You are in that precinct A I was only there ..ao 

oho wkille. 

r 11 COURT: 

Q Are you there now*, sir, I am in Brooklyn 

HOPPLATI 

Allen Street zc the ixee where the Elevated road. 

rune A /es sir* 

)9/en you Got to Staritoril 'Ocak d east!' 

A Y'es, sir* 

And you 84y yon met Leitner directly in front of 

the doorl A On the corner* The entrance aint at te 

corner. 

You met him at the i2U.Gt him at the 

co:caer* 

Q, And you, and SullivEin Were together', A Yes* 

17.05-0)41i,A17; That is all. 

T-Ets.; PEOPLE REST. 

T H E ENDA IT T S  

(11r.• 'Hoffman Opens the -,case to the .Jury on behalf -behalf 

of the defentiant 

als 'ow Awe 

' 



that da 

LOUIS NAVEL, called as s, witness on 'behalf 

the defendants, being first duly sworn, testified as f01101NO. 

OXRECT EXAKINATION BY UR. HO:MAN: 

'hat is your. _num? A- Louis Nadel. 

'There do you live" A. 623 'Bait Ninth Street. 

What is your business' A I am a fruit -dealer. 

Have you a horse and wagon" 

jo you know this defendan' aP 

le 0.r. 

(, Cu the 17th day e) sob ri Was he With You on 

Yes, 

What was he doingfor ,you? 

Chat day* 

Yes, sir. 

was o king for 

T.11. COURT: Which one of the defendants was 

R. HOPPLAN: Kaplan. 

Q What was his work? A Well he helped NA load up, 

and I sent him to customers, to deliver some goods. 
EV 

How lone was he working for you? A He was work-. 

incj the last time from May 23rd. 

Q Until the day f his arrest? A Until the day of 

tie 17th of Septol!iber, I believe. 

Q What time did he quit work on the 17th day of• 

SepteLiber, about what time" A Four o'clock. 

Q Where did he quit working' :A. We unloaded, the 

wagon, nd I live, of course, In the same house there,. and 



I have a cellar down below, and wherd we stop 

that same house. 

What hour of the morning did he go to work on that 

dayo What hour did he meet you, to go to work/ 

Ab6nt oix ol0lockik between six and seven. 

o In the mornine 4 Yes, sir. 

c.s. And ,Jii(L he s uy i±th you, all day,up to four o' clock! 

Yes, sir . 

And a fom o'clock he went away/. Yes 

Ait.ri. hp. FilAN Tliat is all. 

00URT: 

Vbere i5 rot r ,place of husiresac A I live in 

EZZA 14z, ginth 

And i thut vojr toe o mireas" pWell, I run 

routea 01213 0 4 rs. 

A •S7o, fruit. 

Q Fruit A 'Fruit and vegetables. 

CROSS EXAXIATIONJ O'MALJAY: 

Wit diti you say your business was/ A :ruit 

dealer. 

How long have you been in that business! 

A Po.,- tue Lat fifteen years or more. 

At the same address! A No, I have been living in 
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Attorney Street; I can't recollect the number; but I can 

tell you where abouts it is, the house. 

When was the first time you talked with anybody about 

this case When was the first time/ A The first time? 

Yes. A Well, the lawyer asked me the same 

questions what he is asking me now. 

When did he adk you that! Two or three days. &go, 

Or a week ago, 

q. 

anybody about this case? A The first time. 

Now, was 

or when/ A About two or three days ag 
first 

that the time that you had talked with 

That was .he first time .tv.t you ever talked with 

anybody about Aapian, A Yes, sir. 

Q This case A Yes, sir. 

Now, you sa?; he began to work for you May 23rle 

A Yes, six. 

How do you fix that date/ 

would 

31mira, 

How I fix that der9 

Yee A Well, his mother dame up and asked me if 

take him to work, and he was coming home from 

and just 'deeded a boy, and I took him back to 

work, because he Worked once before for me. 

How dia you know it was the 23rd .of may.? 

utde that day he started to work. 

How do you Ltean you iaade the day' 'simply 

looked when 'he started to work. 

Q, When did yov 10010 fi T di t look t tall, 'hilt 



_X just know, 

Q - How. do you recall it was May 23rd' A lrel4 

know it. 

How' Did you make an entry of it in a, book7 or 

anything, A Well, I didn't make any _entry in a book. 

Do you keep books, A I keep books, yes, sir. 

Did you make an .entry there on the day he began 

working for you, A No, because I only employ one ma 

Did you make an entry that day he quit working for 

you' A No. 

9 How do you know it was September 17t 

:Weill I know it. 

How do you know it know what day the boy 

le t, end I know 1 looked for another 

how tio you Lb. tuat 

was not the 16tu of Septsenber7 A 'Because this was on 

Saturday, ano 1 1.)ald him off that day. 

Q. How •uci you know it was not the.Saturday Preceding 

trte 17th Well  I know how ion r that boy was working 

for L . 

Ts tti the beat way you can fix the 17th of 

Septemberf3A Yas, slr. 

You say you (Lid not talk with anybody about this 

I woU4a not li e to ca.e in Court and show 



that he was working for me. 

BY T.E.LE COURT: 

When did the mother say that' 

f_'; ago. 

Q, 

0 ' LEY : 

T'n en it 
for 
s the first time you talked with anybody 

' 

A coup 

it was two or three dKr5 ago, when you talked with the mot r, 

or .;he attorney; 

attorney'', 

Q, 

that righ 

Yes. A Yes. 

9 A talked with the 

Was that the firet time you talked with anybody 

?abr)ut tnis case A TA firat time, o or tiiree days 

%Caen it was larotaakz,t youT t'entIonl dia you 

Pia in you .Ate ciefenwan :tkespik,f4 , left 

. onilca,fa of Seitt,exxiber, whi'oll would be about 

:JO 

T176-,% Twci ane arm half mortals ape*. 

41els, 41i jurzl boul when this nutlex as called 

L.  

• 

rat tin. two or .thre day.3 ago, 

tL.ior Raplsn 

of 4a-r=er . do rou fix 

A IGOu1t not 

n (IV; da:r OZt stopiped 

r fel1ov, and 



I offered the job to another fellow, and hewouldn't 

until Monday. 

Q How do you know it was Saturday the 17th of Sep texber, 

Because I remember it. 

Do you remember what took place on Saturday, the 

.ereceding week the 10th of September" A Yes, sir. 

Q Wah.t t o o.ic place in your business on Saturday, 

SepterTher 10th, A 'What I was doing" 

q Yes Well, I had. been doing the trede 

as I firtire been doing every day. 

Dia you hire anybody that d y A On the 10th" 

$ . 

Did you discharge aTth adr tLat daY 

nybody leavd yozrf erfplov" Wha t 

_. L al7:417 6- M&Vo:   A No, 
_ 

..  ,,,..t) 10%,...... 

i'Tc,Y4 knoL ,.....3.,  c nw, itiVre you ' 

n4tiAl ri„tier qn  SeVher  - 

LL er I ameil-J er 

wizer; 

AAR.; ,Jjr, 
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about it' A Yea,. sir. 

That was two monthe and 

A :Yes, sir. 

Q What were you doing on SepteMber 

serving my route. 

Q What route dici you serve that day. 

I served the:same ,route each  day. 

a half ago, wail -it" 

Q, What did you deliver" , A Ftuits and Vegetables. 

•9, What was that route', 

THE COURT: t woulj ot go into that. 

CPLALLEY: 1 vas just leading up. mëthing 

your Honor. 

Illuat time t‘.$.o you qui , -or1 everyday' I have 

You Lave no hour A. No, 

Whk,t, ime • die. zrou quit on Septeri.be:r 1.7th 

$O 

Vie oaue b,02„Lie t4 lou M _last three. 

,the 4efer6unt 1 Eapit n left, 

he le t four, because it 1..,kes me half an hour 

• 1. rro warg 

W.kk.• * Lt • ika .s.)14,21 .it the day er or e9 

'I a 

'efo 

.p4V 

.i.u.ay 3 Se t el'  Well uess 

I oVic not 



remember that. 

What time did he quit on the preceding SatuTdars 

September 10th? A Wellij would not like to say, tecause 

I oarOtxemember exactly the hour. 

Q If you canit tell Us the hour upon which this 

'defendant quit work on any other day, how are you able 

fix it that he quit work at four o'clock On Saturday, 

September ltth; how do you fix that? A Because ItWasf 

going to get another load of stuff fromthemerket, and 

figured when I got done it would be too late, because the 

market closed at five. 

q Is that the best way you have of *fixing four 

o'clock, Saturday, September 17th? A yes, it takie 

laelker three vartera of an hour before I get Own to the 

nark et . 

When is the first time that you looked at the  

c1oc4 on Saturday, SepteNber 17th' A tie day Kaplan. 

left. 

From that timt, up until t. time you talked with 

t,he attorney, rid ,he mother of the defendant, you had not 

thourilt about that day,' A I did.. 

When di 6 you think about it' A Well, I always . 

4n8t it, the day. the boy left. 

Q Row di. you.know it' A 

I knew wt til I quit yesterday. 

eimP,47 Imew it. 
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But it had not been called to your attention by 

A anybody until. you were asked about this case, is that se 

A Well, nobody asked me that. 

_ 

NO one asked you about it; until the attorney or 

his mother, talked about it; is that right? A Well, 

yes. 

Q That was the first time that you had occasion to , 

call to your own mind what time the edefendant left work on 

the afternoon, wasn't it? A No, sir. 

q :nen-did you ever think about it before that. time? 

A Well, I always did know what time the bky 

Oid'you ever think about it, I say, until this at-

torney spoke to you about it/ A thought about it, yes, 

- 

s ir . 

Q How wany times? A Well, always. Anybody could 

asI me what time the boy left, and I could tell them. 

Q That is the. best answer you can make , is it' 

A Yes, sir. 

2 What ...A.me did y&u say the defendant started to 

work that morning" A Between six .and seven. 

Wilat time did ile_sta-rt work the mOrning before that" 

A The morning before/ 

'(es. fi I guess about the same time. 

0 What time (,ici 8tart work • 1.;he 'morning before  

A I would not like !,o answer that; I don't ramorlber; I 
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-remember one or days. 

Isn't it a fact the only day you tell us anything 

about is September 17th? .A Well, sometimee the work 

begins at six, and I don't start until half past six. 

Tais in was in your employ iron  May. 23rd until 

September 17th. Cah'you pick out any day during that time 

thbt he was working for you that you can. tell this jury 

what he did' A . He was doing all kinds of work-. 

.g Well, pick out some  particular day And tell this 

jury what he did on any particular day? What time he came 

to work, what he did, and *hEi.t time he left off work? 

A Pick out any day during that whole five mnthe 

Well, the boy simply-- there mix was no time he should, 

come because sometimes I started late, and when hee—Fent 

home I always would tel him wilt time to come. 

What sort 0f a day was_ September 17th? 

A T am- never buoy, ,only Tuesday, Thursday and Friday. 

AR. 0'16.ALnEY: I move to strike that out. 

THP, !OURT: Motion -granted, 

What r.iflt of day was Saturday, September 17th' 

Old it rain' A What day' 
-• 

q Saturday, SeiteThr 17th? A It was not raining. 

Sure of ,hat? A Yes, sir. I guess sc. 

W3 t'A '1 kind (YE think so. 

Do rou r eiiembe. anything about t.) A 1 think it 



was a nice day. 

Q, Don't think.: Do you remember what Sort cif .day 

it was" A No, sir, I don't remember. 

O'MALLTI: That is all. 

CIIRIEOT la.AMINATION BY MR. HOMAN: 

You remembe:r the day, you clailq. because that was 

the da,y he quit; I s that right" A Yes, sir. 

Q, And that is the reason why it is clear in your 

mind" A Yes, sir. 

ROFFKAN: That is all. 

A BAn.  H A L B E R MA N, called as a Witness on behalf 

tx? the de..enciants., beirif: first duly sworn$ testified, as fol-

oWs 

paRBOT 1,)XAMIIATION WRR. Hovynkr: 

Wha.t., is ycitrisitu.i na-oe" A AbrahaZ Berman• 

'Ser do rou live" A 168-112 Delancey Street,. 

kO, Vt •,t is your business' A Delicatessen. stores 

Q, How long have you had a delicatessen store" 

lonc a time" A It is about two :,rears. 

Q, Durinc, tho,..e two years, are you on Delancey Street" 

A Yes s) sir.. 

Q Do you .rs,ietiber the month of Sept ;;;-, A Tees 
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Do you remember the 17th day of September' 

Yes, sir. 

•q- .Do you -know what day .of the week that was' 

That was on a Saturdayl 

Q Do you know these boys  A Yes sir. 

•q How do you know them, Are they customers of 

yours/ A 'Yes, they came in some Saturday evenings, 

and they bought sandwiches; they come in Ay place often; 
4 

one fellow lives next to the house. 

Which fell A Littman. 

q

 

He lives next door' 'A No, he worrAs for hi iather.-

he :Aas a Shoemaker store. He work.ed there. 

7BY If UOURT: 

Who does' The -father' A Els •fath . 

14 Works as a suoemaker' YJs, sir. 

Tourneynan shoemaker"- A Yes, sir. 

HOPvld'AN: 

BY R. HOPFLAN: 

He 'does not know What journeyman means. — 

On the 17th of Seiitember, which you claim '9761$ 

Saturday, can you recollect at what hour you saw these boys 

in your store' A Well, it was before five. 

How -long before five A About a quarter to five. 

q How do you remember the time, A I know they came 

in before five o'clock in the store. 

Q Did you talx to any one aboUt • this CaSe7 Did you 
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k to me about this ease A No. 

Are you related to any orthese boys/ A MO ei. 

And what time was it, you say, that you remember 

these boys were in your store on that Saturday/ A It was 

ab0ut five or a quarter to five, something like that. 

' Who asked you to coma here as a witness/ 

A Who'? 

q Yes. A I was _sent a subpoena. 

HOFFMAN: That is all. 

GEOSS EXAMINATION BY MR. B'MALLAY: 

q. With-whom have you talked about this ease 

With whom, 

it Yes. 

THE COURT: Please don't repeat the question. 

Just answer it. The question is, who 'peke to you 

about this dase. 

THE WITNESS: The lawyer.. 

THE COURT: What lawyer/ 

THE WITNESS. This here. (Indicating Mt. Hoff-

man) 

q When did he talk to you, how long. age 

A TI,e time I. the subpoena. 

How lone NE;.o was that/ A A couple of weeks. 

Q. Was th,At.the first time you knew anything about 



thi$Cft$OA T.i.at is all. 

You say the defendant Kaplan Was in your place what 

tjme taut day" A A qu rter to five. 

THE COURT: Speak loud. 

TES VITMSS: It was before five o'clock. 

the Vie t-ik 

often Was he in the habit of corniugin your 

Sometimes he used 40 come• Ln. three times during 

cannot ;;e11 exactly* 

you know Whether he IN• in there hefore On 

e 1 A Probably 
he•

 

 

Do you know'? A Yes, I think he was, 

Whi,,t day', A He was on Monday once* 

Th Yes.at week"' 

That would '. the precedinc Monday A Yes*. 

What time was he there that day" A The saias timel 

before evening. 

. Will you f X it at four  A. Four o'clock., it 

. When was the next time he was .in there'? A The next

tLe, I believe it was Saturday, that Saturday. 

Haw ..%any times had he been in prior to thoSe two  

MY, ,JOURI?: Before those two times' 

Well, about two or three times. 

Two or tiree tiles a vok, would you say, 



Two or three times a week. 

Q 'Was he in on Saturday, Sep ember 17th, A 

q Saturday,September 10th A The 10th 

Yes. A No, not as I know. 

Q Vas he in on Friday, September 2th' 

A T don't know. 

q

 

Was he September qth' A Yes. 

v)lui.t time did he come in taat' 9 A Probably it 

was fie o'clock. 

THE COURT Have you s:ny inepenaent eoo1lect on 

itl witness are you guessing' 

Do you know whether he was in there on .that 
_ 

4now.-0.e was there on ti.:at day. 

On the 8th of September, A Yes, sir.. 

Q What time' A t!our o'clock. 

Was he in on the 6th of September' A 

Q Was he in on the 5th A I can't answer.• 

Q Was he in on. the 1st of September' A 

yes. 

How lonc has he been coming to your store two or 

three times a week' A How long, 

Q, All swatter" A Not all -sugue 

Q Two or three wonths, A About two months. 

g Two or theee times a week' A Yes, sir. 

Q And would he usually come in in the afternoon, about 
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•Sive A Yes, around this time. 

now, during that time, you think he Came in Omit' 

WO or tares times a week' A Yes, sir. 

q And yoll think he was in there on the 5th of 

taber'l Ji Yes. 

About what•time') Four o'clock.' 

. And on the Ath of 8eptedDer 

What gas the ioNt time 

7.,•71" • 

he was not. 

I think you, juBt •said he was there. 

(Test;.i,mony reaa Tiile .$tenoe'T 14-ter). 

BIM 

StE-Lte agttin ITie was there on the 8th, and 7th, 

'o.s I wink you ata*ed two differout ways. Now, tell 

if you know,, whether he was there 

don't knów, just say 

9th. 

&• WhAILEY: 

•'7 A 

the 8th._ If you 
% 

belieYe h. 'a.s there on the 

How do you fix that -date? A 3ecaue I know he 

used to work with his father in the cellar, and he always 

used to come in the store and zet a sandwich. 

WIlat day of the week was that? A • I cannot say, 

I'guess it was on the 8th. 

Q What day of the week? A. Monday--

BY THE COURT: 

Are you auessin,z, witness? A liondayi /.10 lieve. 



BY MR. 0' MALL : 

Sure it was Monday" A Yes, sir. 

What day of the week was the 5th' A :friday, 

think. 

Q, Do you know what day of the week the 8th Was on? 

cautt tell exactly. never kept track of it. 

VIE 0OURT: I am asking you not to guess. You 

are iNrinc testimony under oath, and Imerely call-
_ 

irOu  attention to tits fa.ct. Do not uess. If you do 

not know, say Now, Wft he there on the 8th" 

THE VatTillSil:He was,.aro 6: four • or five o'clock, 

four o oloqk. 

Q. How do !ton th 

be --I.-A.1 a' this ime. 

•-• 

"Why would Ile 

Because he used to 

time" . don t, o 

AO;do roil fix the time as five o clock on September 

Yon say; be .e Ite was tire at twat time. You 

tt ais a reason. Now,Wiitu' is the tea:80n you give 

fiiñ ii";= data'' t cannot &ISWeT taat. 

L.IOURT 

Do yOU iceep any books that would indicate the hour 

or tue at  t„:44s tai defendant 4a4ld 

No, I don't .,;,sev any books. 

And do you-kevi: 

either of thee 

o.,e1 of th.?,hom wLen L customer 



byyi anything No sir. 

oq You say the first time any one spoke to:yOnAgiOu 

this ease Was about two weeks ago; is that right'. 

Yes, it was about two weeks. 

ou I understand then, that you then, for the first 

time, caused your mind to run back two months before that, 

to remember the day that this defendant was in your !Chop! 

Is that tue Way you located it? Is that the way you fixed 

the hour? OrDo you let your mind go back two mnths, merely. 

through memory, and fix it that way? Have you: any writing 

that would fix it certainly? A -No haven't got any 

writing. 

q None Vhatever A No. 

.BN Of4ALLW: 

Now, isn't it a fact you are guessing as to what 

day ne Was in tnere? A Of course I an. I cant say. 

exactly. I aint got no books. 

R. O'rmALLAY: That is all. 

OIRECT i!IXAk'aNATION BY AR. HOYFWN: 

were arrestee A Yes, that day rrtoember. 

How c.o you know they were arrested on that day? 

.because 1 puess itiotner was in the store, and said 

the 1:).Jy was arrested. 



boy was arrested' A I guess it was 

she came in and bought something. 

BY MR. WAALLW: 

BY M. HOPPiaAR: 

day you claim the mother was n the store* 

That was on a Sunday -morning, yes. She came in and 

bought soi.ething. . 

tW RUB 0OURT! 

Abou'i; how lo About three weeks 

Three We  or fo agO° A Yes, sir. 

linmIxtim; 

Do You know tilese boys wer arrested on the 17th 

-4teLibeT 

Roy, ao You know cause his motaer told me 

it siAe ld rrested on the 1?th of 

.:(-1Ljner'N ,lec, !Lae tolo, ale I b&Liee.. 



• R OSE KAPLAN, called asawitness on 'behalf or 

the defendants being first duly sworn, testified as fol.. 

lows: -

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY M.R. HOFFMAN: 

What is your name A Rose Kaplan. 

O'MALL1Y: Now, I think we ought to know whether 

this chila is cap&ble of understanding tue nature of an 

Yta. HOl?R.AN: Sir, 

O'AALLEY: I say, it ought to appear here--

THE UOURT: He says, on account of the child's ten-

der -ears, he wanted to know whether the child under-

stood the natile of an oath, 

JuR. HOFFIALAN: 

That is his privilege. 

BY 0'IALLEY: 

How ola are you  ATwelve. 

Have you ever testified before in Court9 

He can •examine her as to that. 



- 
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A No sir. 

Q, Do you know what proceedings are on here? 

A I know about my brother, when I went home. 

BY I'M. HOPPMAN: 

Do you know what you have been brought here fore 

A Yes, sir. 

g, L11, do you know what is going on here in Cour 

No, sir. 

Have you ever heard of n oath* A No, s 

00 Zr011 know what the word "Oath" means" 

A Yes-, sir.. 

Q, What does it !..,ean A To swea'r the truth. 

To BYI s SIT . 

•And you knov wt te resllit will be if you don't 

te.',duetruth' A Get loo 'ed up. 

will away, if I don't tell the 

tr4i; 

Anci, wiiat do you .,Re an 'by "Put away"' Put over 

: c4s4 Aer, Ax. Huffman, in rega.rd 

rail iouv nir f an oath,. Ask her wriat 

1 'ton l "13 receive in tuat, wAla,t corresponds 

1 N Synt4Fot nel lo Swiday Icaool in. tiie Christian 

S • 

t)J  1,,t0y 14.8 wria.t is .not ttge,: that 

,‘ 



God will punish You A Yes, sir. 

Do you realize that' A Yes, sir. 

And, realizing tnat and knowing that you are 

in to tell the truth-- A Yes, sir. 

Q And, if you don't tell the truth God will punish 

you? A Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Have you ever studied the Commandments, 

(No answer) 

TI E COURT: . Ask her, uror, what religious 

instruction she has had. 

W TEE SCO1 fUBOR: 

• :id you ever go to the synagogue, Sunday School'-

Nol (gar. 

No Rabbi eve,' instructed you" A o,.Bir. 

nv 0 , NALLAY: 

Do r our fath er and mot kar o to Schul e „ the rna-

ogue* A I iice no fataer. 

JUROR:_. 

Jan zrou LjeLL o Yes, a r. 

lpe . 

A To ell the truth. 

yo

 

e211 4a4t1P School. 

s,f2h1 o Public school, No. 72. 

one il,zdr d a u 51:kta Street 



142 

One Hundred s,nd Sixth Street' A And Lexington 

Avenue. 

BY MR. HUMAN: 

Q Do you remelaber the day that your brother was are. 

rested" Do you remember on what day it was, on what 

day of the week  A I don't know. 

Q You donrt know on what day of the week he mg was 

arrested" A NO . 

Do you remenber when yOu last saw your brother home! 

A I think on a Saturday. 

ROW long ago was that' A. I think it is Sep teraller 

in the month Of September. . :1\Tow-I do you know it 

as in the month of Septembel, beoal.xse 2rour school _started': 

t2..z.o..1 mo erth ot 3•etiber1 4 No. 

VAlin did you start goin- to school' J September. 

. gALLEY : on t 1 aa u 

;01EV: t Aer 

7.9u aa7L s in tAle month of 801)-t,triber'> 

• 

L 

1 'f• emenbetr Rflat day _the week it was 

...I:rested*" 

f -s p 6.ce,zici tn brotner 

:J4i) L.3‘3 with _Ler" 

'70 tk'4 LI" P3 ilOjc4 sP- 1 Prh YO 1 lr Mafia '71 



Q, How many are there in your fami3y outside of ytw. 

brother' A. Five. 

How many boys, . and hos many girls? A There is 

on  boy. besides me, and four girls. 

BY THE COURT: 

By the way, now, where did you live on September 

17th  A 242 East Fourth Street. 

Q And w.:Ierd do you live now" A 1575 Madison Avenue. 

Q, How long have you lived there" A .A.bott three weak 

BY /.ail HaTrilLikg: 

In the month of September, when you lived on East. 

Fourth Street, do you ._*ro=ember Boeing your brother, on a 

Saturday l !,10Nie" Ye's, sir. 

Do you ramenb-, ta,g.at ria°,;.r.7 ou don't, say sof 

you do) say dso. Oa you remember that day, Saturday'. 

0 IrOU rehtenber a Saturday in month of Sej t ember? 

A Yes, s..?„,- • 

How do 7rou 

vitaks a Satfarde 

OW it was a Saturdalkr" A I kno 

hecauBe I Wa5 home, on Et 3 

readin,- a bOoki tl.na I suw him. 

, 

1. 

it 

,urdazr, and I was 

100A Wer,-; :r0 ead :!•s.: bales. tales. 

gum1at hour. It wast what tint i;t 

; A.abr es? Akfter four Ito mime tram wo 



"I 

4/ After four, and he cams from work Now•.long did 

he stay home on that Saturday' A He wont to work, inui 

he came home after four, because I was reading the book, 

and. my mother asked mg him whiA time it was, and I heard 

him say "after four". 

Q, what aid he do? A He watt washing himself. 

q "What did he do after he washed himself'? 

He was eating. 

Did he go away' A Yes, sir. 

Did he come home triwt night, to sleep  

think on Saturday they took him awa. 

You think on a Saturday they took nim away and 

thut was the last time you saw him' A Yes, sir. 

After gat day, r bow long-atime. idn't you see 

'..4..e3?" For licw long a time Wa$ hes, in jail, or 

,yrison hol dwsi or how many weeke I think three 

mantas-

Ae was away wiien A hre 

gime 3e-iitember, do you neae 'achlft you see your 

brothoY since September'air, 

Xe thi;,.; thc 'irst time 

Yes,-Lsir. 

And wh-ut time was it on that day when 4 U saw hie 

A A ,. r four. 

And tcAo. 

ron saw h. .SinQe day'9 

tne List time you saw y ur b other 4 - 



that day? Yee -sir.. 

HOPPMAN: That is all. 
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CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. O'MALLEY: 

NALon t your brother been home since he was arrested.. 

on tht day/ A- No, sir. 

Q Didn't you know that your brother was bailed out" 

I knew that he was bailed out. 

Didn't he come home" A , Yes, sir. 

When did he come home/ A I know they took him Qi 

away Saturday and they bailed him out. 

Q When did t ey bail him out do yo know' know? pod' t :you 

.remember/ A (No answer) 
• 

When did you next see him' A I don '.t knoW When I 

saw him after Saturday, 

Q Do you know when heoame lio,e to you' 

A. (No arswer) • 

BY THE COURT: 

Did he come home? A He came homes after they 

bailed him out. 

BY P. O'MALLEY: 

(1, When was that? A I don't remember. 

_9() you know when he left/ A . He left Satprdar. 

Q Do you know when he vent aWay again after being 

bailed out' Do you know when he went away again? 



• 

(No answer) 

Q Uo you know why he went away again? 

know. 

. When you answered the first question, you said, 

"I think it is on a Saturday". Ilt4 how do you fix that . 

Saturday. 

q Didn't you see him every Saturday' A The last 

Saturday I saw him -- that was the last Satiiiday I saw him. 

Q That was the last Saturday that you saw him' 

Yes, 

Did you see him the Saturday before that' 

sir. 

Q What was he doing on that Saturday, before that' 

Before that, he was working. 

Where was he working' A BY Icy brother-in-law. 

4, Who is your brother-in-law' A Louis Nadal. 

The witness who was on the stand is your :brother 

in-law' A Yea, sir. 

Q

 

He married your Sister, did he'A Yes, six 4 

Q He Llarried your sister? A Yes, sir. 

Test 

When wax the first time you talked with your lawyer 

. about this case' A .1 don't know nothing about that.. 

When was the first time You talked to Mr. Hbffban 

about the ease' A To-day, he asked me the same questions, 

and I answered him as I told you. 



A 7481 sir. 

Is that the first time yon tried -to recall what day 

it wks„ ,yOut brother was arrested/ sir. 

You.dorelt mean Ao says You can recall from now until 

a back in 01314teNberjut xactly' what your brother did 

on ttlat 

t:dey oallec 

If I 10107116: ast ?cn to-ar so thing about some,hing 

that •happened t11-es wemke ap.70 to-a 

Jury anythiw. that hcavened ,.4)aioieeka oto-day9 

Could you tell the jury anyt.dir%, that hamlened fir 

filre weeks Pk CITo ouwer) 

11,E,t Z wunt to know is 11,1v r, u ara ahI6 to GOW6 tart 

and ell this j.ury that in nnnth of Decevbery Ow roU ate' 

abie to tell this jury What happens in your ionie on Sep.., 

t;area9 A I saw him on a Satarda 

cOURT: I wouldritt go any ftlirth r on that. 

BR. 011,LALTEN: That is all. 



called as a witness in his own behalf, being first duly 

sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, H077MAN. 

What is your name ? k Isidore Kaplin. 

There do You reside '1575 Madison Avenue. 

Ybrilerlait 242 East ourth Street. 

c.INut were y01) employed at ? A. I was working 

h a fruit aealer. helper. 

Q Your brother-1n- , Mr, Nadal Yes, sir. 

Q Before you went to work for him, were you in the 

House of Refuge ? A No, sir.. 

Q; Where were ,vou A Elmira ReformatorY. 

How long a time were you In Samir About 

e1ghteen ninetteu montbs* 

q Before you were sent to 1mir were you in trouble 

previouto that time A Thatcase Iias sent up for. 

Were ou in trouble in any other ease.? A No, 

You were paroled from Elmira.? A Yes, sir. 

q,• And on the 17th of September .on that dayt WaS your' 

parole-up already ? A No, sit. 

(.2 During the month of September, were you reporting. to 

the parole board ? 

To whom v.ere you reporting ? 



2 

Is he a gentleman appointed by the Elmira people 

A Yes, sir. 

Q How often did you report ? A Every month, from 

the 25th to the_30th day of the month. 

Q On the 17th of September, were you working on that 

ay ? A Yes) sir. 

at time did you go io work- n that day 

About six or seven.iVolock. I can't tell the exact 

time. 

o'clock. 

When Jou (zu 

A. I :gent truight one. 

When jou gct ham/ what did ton do I .17:(ashed 

111: Ltnd dressed, and 4 e something. 

Then where did u go to 9 A I went around to 

Delancez7 Street/ where I usually col every Saturday, to talk 

431. some of the fellows. I used to ltr around tb-t neigh-

.4orhood, and Iam aequ&inted there. 

meet Littman ? A Yes, sirs he was st ndi g in front of 

the dellicatessen store, and I joined him and. a few other 

fellows. 

Did you co in the DellicateSsen store Yes  



Q What did you do there ?• Littman bought ,411. 

couple of sandwiches and we stood there talking, and Are 

went outside again. 

Q About what time of the day was that whop you were 

in the dellicatessen store ? A About five or five.. 

twenty, 

Q After...five ? A Yes, sir. 

did you go to ? A Standing in front of the dellicatesser 

store, me and Littman and another fellow went across the 

gtreetj. there was about two or three fellows, and they 

the way, and he made 'As a propoeition to carry the package. 

7ehd a large package, about that high (illustrating), 

Q Is this the package (People c Exhibit No . 1).? 

A Yessir. 

What ,t:id , e fealow say ta u.?yo  A He made 

'Aue propo ition, lf T vanted to -arry it. for him. It was 

1?eavyi and veli dressed, too.. 

0 Mat uld no sy c TeIl us his exaot words ?-

A He uol ,ou !lease nap me to carry this ? 

lo -rien, Iauve to thke some orders. 

es aodI wish you to cry it". 



will give you twenty-five cents I said, 

Then he offered me fifty cents; and I asked 

Littman whether we should do it, because we didn't make ranch 

money; and we took it around and.he gave us an addresa, 

and we walked straight dawn Delancey Street. 

Q Did this man walk with you ? A Yes, sir. 

Q How did you walk from Delancey and Clinton ? 

Was this restaurant at Delancey and Clinton ? AYes7 

sir. 

Paci#g the Williamsburg bridge? A Yee Sir. 

}lbw did you, walk to Stanton and Ludlow 1 A We 

walked straight down Delancey Street, and up to Ludlow, and 

straight down Ludlow, and we turned down Delancey towardii 

Allen Street, the block before Ludlow,. and we looked for 

the number Which he gave 118 On the paper, and: we couldn't 

find it, and we turned back to the next block, 'where we, 

seen on the corner the name Saffer.. 

Q- Was this man walking with you? A No; be stopped 

a block before:. He said he was going to a druggist, across 

, the street, I believe. 

What did he tell you ? Where was he going ? 

He said, "I an going to make a telephone call: across 

the way. Step inside and wait for me. I will be :right 

back. I am going to take an order on the Way." 

When you: left this man, y u-Went.into this store 



where you were: told to go. What was the name / isadVrii 

(1 What was the address ? A 103 Stanton Street. 

When you got in the store, what" did you tell the 

proprietor ? A We asked for the proprietor, and we 

told him all about our story, that the salesman had sent 

us in there to wait for the package until he came back. 

He says, "I am Mr. Satter", and he said "all 1140", too. 

Q Were there other people in that store When you got 

in there ? A Yes, sir, there was a man there conversing 

with him and we waited. 

Q You stayed right in the store ? A Yes, 

Q In view of the street ? Anybody_on the street 

could look.straight in ? A Yee, sir. 

Q Then did Mr. Saffer'take this package ? 

ok the package ? A As soon• as we came 

in, .we sat down by thebehch, and the package was on the 

tabthe, waiting for the salesman to come back. 

Q Then what happen d-? A We stayed there about. 

two or three minutes, when two  men, came in, and—they 

looked all around the place, and they looked at the floor, 

and they seen us sitting there. They says to Littman, 

"What have you got in the package?" He says, "I don't 



• knew what is in there." He says, "Where did you get it?" 

He says, "It 'aint my package, and he told us to bring it 

in and wait for him". He says, "You come along", so we 

put up a fight; we wouldn't go without - So he says, 

"Let me go out and look for the salesman". 

Q Who said ? A Littman. And the detective re., 

fused him. He said, "You, stay right here -Then I 

begged him to go,.and he also refused me. They stood 

in the place, and then they said to the proprietor, "Come 

along, the whole bunch of you, and you, too": Of course, 

they took us two, and left them there. 

Q • The detectivestook you and Littman ? A Yes, 

sir. 

tt But they didn't take any' of the proprietor of the 

store ? A Nol sir. 

Q Was Leitner, the man who testified, in tickiS 

Store ? A No, ,sir. 

Q Did he walk with you and Littman and the detec-

tives to 17 Allen Street ? A No, sir. 

Q Was he up in 17 Allen Street the evening you were. 

brought there ? A No, sir. 

Q You saw him in Court ? A Yes; that was Tueiii-

day morning, we were held for examination. 

Q. You saw Leitner in Court here ? A Yes., sir. 

RI When was the first time you were confronted. by. 



/Act/ 
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Leitner after the day of this arrest ? A I think be was 

one of those men who was on Delanaey Street with the. sales-

man, but they kept away. He gave us the package 

BY MR. O'MALLEY. 

Q. 'bat was t ? A I believe he looked something 

like Leitner, that fellow did. 

BY MR. BOMAN. 

Q You, say one of the men in this group of men looked 

to you to be Leitner ? A Yes, sir, something like him. 

Q When, fibr the first time, after you saw that group 

of men, and after that picture. was in your mind and after 

your arrest, did you again meet Leitner? A Yes*, it, 

Tuesday morning I seen him, on examination-day. 

Q Tuesday morning when you were brought before a 

Police Magistrate ? •A Yes, sir. 

Q Didn't he appear in Police libat Headquarters ? 

A No, sir. 

Now, Kaplin, this Leitner says that he met you and 

the co-defendant on the 17th day of September, in the neigh-

borhood. of Greene Street, about two o'clock. 

him testify. 

You heard 

He cla›ims you and Littman had been going-up 

town, it the neighborhood of Eighteenth Street, and wal4hg. 

down town. Were you in any of those places on that: 

day, with Littman ? A How could I be in that neighborhood, 

A,Ivn I was working ? 

1000 



Q Will you positively Swear that on the 17th. of 

September, you were on 4 route with your brother-infaaw ?. 

es, sir. 

Q From the early hours of the morning until four 

o'clock that afternoon ? A. Yes, sir. 

Q Did you steal this package, on Greene Street? 

No, sir, I have no idea of the package, etcept that it 

was given to us, and taking it to that store, 

Q When the package was delivered to you by this man, 

did you mark anything on the package ? A No, Sir. 

Q ,Was that package brought to Stanton Street in the 

same condition as it was delivered to you ? A It was. 

Q Sullivan.and GoreVan claim that When they put you 

and Littman under arrest that Littman stated it belonged to • 

his father. Did he make any such statement ? A I.: 

don't believe he did. -

Q Did you hear him Make any such statement. ? 

sir. 

Q What statement did you make to the detectives when 



they put you under arrest 'about a salesman 

them about a salesman ? A Certainly; we Isantett to 

out, and he stopped us. 

BY THE COURT. 

Q .311lid you describe theman, tell him 'what he looked 

like ? A Yes, he was well dressed; didn't look tO 1;0 

a thief; and he refused us. 

BY MR. HOFFMAN. 

Q 'When you say he did not look to be a thief, you 

want the Jury to.understand that he was a well. dressed, 

decent-looking man ? A Yes, 

BY THE COURT. 

Q Describe him to us ? He had a panama hat, an 

Shoes, and a light suit. 

BY THE FOREMAN OF THE JURY. 

Q What kind of hair did he have ? A I don't 

know; tkzt kind of dark, like mine - dark brown. 

BY TIJIE COURT. 

Q Wks he glean shaven, ? A Yes, air, and, from all 

appearances, looked to be a gentleman. 

Q Did he have a moustache_? A No, sir;, he was a 

young fellow. 

How old was he ? A I Judge him to be about 

tenty-five or twenty-six. 

BY MR. HOFFMAN. 

Q Did either of you boys tell the detectives that 
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that fellow was a red head ? A No sir. 

Was the fellow a red head ? A No, sir; dark 

brown hair, he had. 

Q Now, Kaplin when you got into this store, and 

please be careful, and try and remember as best you can, 

within how many minutes after you entered this store on 

Stahton Street, did Officers Sullivan and Gorsvan enter 

the premises ? A About two or thrie minutes; three 

minutes, I believe it was., 

Q And you are positive 

in the store when he came in. 

entered ? 

two. 

We hardly was sitting 

You hardly got in the Store when the detectiVes-

A Yes, sir. 

Abou-ta minute or two ? A About a minute-2 or 

MR. EMMY: That is all, 

TITRCOURT: _Let us suspend now for the day. 

Yowl gentlemen of the Jury, we will suspend until.. 

ten-thirty tomorrow morning. In the meantime, you 

will not make up your minds as to the guilt or inno-

cence of the defendant, nor discuss the matter amongst 

yourself, until it is submitted to you for your 'Verdict. 

The Court then took a recess until• tomorrovi, 

Wednesday, December 7th 1910, at 10:30 A. 114 

/67 
.111Q0111,„ 
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New York, Wednesday, -Dece6ber 7th, 1910. 

TRIAL CONTINUED. 

P r e -s e s t :-

Hon. Edward Swann, 3. 

Appear.ances :-

Same as Before. 

TSIOORU KAPLANI.resumes the Stand. 

CROSS XXAMINATIONYY MR. 0/MALLET: 

Where did you say you 

1575 xuadison Avenue. 

Between what 

Avenues' 

and Clinton Streets A About five blocks. 

You go south) do you, from 7ourth Street' 

P.No answer) 

Q When you go to the corner of Clinton and Delancey 

Stree,,s which way do you go, north, or -south" A North. 

Q Go north' A Yes, sir. 

Well, how zny blocks do you go' A Pivd tlocks. 



you 
What streets dyass9 A Delanovir.,. igington, 

Stanton, &mato% First, Second Third., and Fourth Streets; 

about five or Edit blocks. 

q Are you going south, or north/A North. 

Q What is the first street north of Fourth Street9. 

'Fourth Street is north, isn't it? 

What is the first street north of Fourth Street? 

MR. HD7P1LAN:- Pardon pile a Minute. Do you under-

stand the question! 

MR. O'MALLEY: I have witness. 

THE COURT: He may nut understand the directions 

Of the compass. 

MR. ROPPMAN.: That is what I am.getting at. 

Which way is north  A Up-town. 

What i, the first street north of vourth Street' 

A Avenue A. 

If you start up-town from Fourth Street, what is 

the first street you come to/ „A- If I start up-town from 

Fourth Street, what streets do .I come to? 

Yes. 

.question. 

If you start towards last River, on Fourth Street, 

from your house, what street do you come to first? 

A I go down towards Avenue C. 

Supposing you go north on Avenue C, what streets 
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is the first streelkou come to' .A (So answer) 

What is the first street north of Fourth Street, 

Fifth Street,. 

Did you go towards Fifth Street that day' A No, 

Which way cud you go, A I went dawn tawards,Delanc 

Then, You went south, didn't you? A Yes, sir._ 

Th5 first street -south Of Fourth Street is Third 

Street; ibtt richt? A Yes, sir. 

Q, 

Tie next is Second Street A Yea, sir. 

And the next is Houston? A Houston. 

Anu the qext i A Stanton. 

And he next is what? A Riving ton. 

And the next is what') A Delancey. 

That is 'ix blocks? A Yes, sir. 

Now, you say you quit work at four o'clock that 

day, did you? A Teel 

Q And what time aid you get home? A I.gOt'home about: 

twenty-five after four. . 

Q And what did you do then? A I wont 4p-stairg,. 

and I washed up, and then I put this suit on;. I.../akid it for 

3atUrdays and SundyySi the.I Ate something and left the 

house. 

What did you eat? A I had some fish tald:mottt and. 

some zOup. 

44 



ci That was what isle About five o'clock/ 

A Yes, sir. 

\ .(1 were you in the habit of eating at five o'clock in 

the afternoon  A No; I used to go hone -- it is assording, 

to when I Get through work: 

Q, holi. long na.6 you lived on Fourth Street9 

About two or threeyeara. 

How aio you come to go down to the'corner,of 

Delancey Street and Clinton Street on that.  day' 

A I have -some friends down there and Saturdwks and 

Sundays I spend my time down there. 

ç. Dia you have an appointment with anybody' 

A No, sir. 

Were you in the nabit of hanging around that cor-

ner-9 A No1 sir. When I get through, I go around .for a . 

few minutes, &fld go home. 

A7here do you usually hang outcatAnights" 

4 X have no hang outs. 

Q Row did you come to go down there on this after-

noon' A I used to live in that neighborhood,' Attorney 

Street and Broome. 

Q Did you have any. appointment with the other de-, 

fendant down there' A No, sir. 

Q Now, when you got to this deliCatessen store, you 

say you went in, did you" A Yes, sir. 

r 

r 11 

t‘stt,, 



Q. And you Said something about sandwiches; you had 

some sandwiches! A No he bought some, the other fellow; 

he bought some sandwiches, and then stepped outside, with 

a 'few other fellows. 

‘Did you see any sandwichea there? 

my supper home. 

Q Whitt time was it when you got down there? 

fi I think it was about a quarter to five. 

0„ Did you walk dawn from 'Pourth Street" Yes, s 

Now, then, what was the first thing You.sa*! 

A When I came from the house, towards Delancey Street!. 

after you got in front othisdelicatissen 

store" .41 We talked a while, and then somebody beckoned 

to the two -of us, to come -over. 

0 Was that the man whom you say gave you the pachag 9 

A Yes, sir. 

Q. Where was he standing at the time? A On the New 

York side of the WilliamsburGh Bridge, 6wards the wall 

there. 

On Delancey, or on Clinton' K On Delancy Street. 

Q Delancey runs east and west doesn't it? 

A Yes, sir. 

BY TEE COURT: 

q How far was that from Sam-Saffer's place' 

A About six or seven blocks. 



BY KR. 0 MALLIZ: 

• You had a talk with him there, diclyoiA 

Yes, 

Oid he tell you what his business was, • A Yes, 

That did Ile say his business was 

not ' 11 me 

n' 

Salesman. 

wn,om Ile worked" No,sir; he did 

he said he was a salesman for a skirt 

RE14 2:-ou eye, seen him before" A No., sir. 

An, EQ fa': Ls You know, You 'were satire strangers 

to airo" A Yes, sir. 

And he rfred you somethin he, for carrying 

tais ,Jawkage" A Ies.7 40.r. • 

How much rjr he oer you" Twenty-five cents. 

What "'ic•& he finallz, are to eixe Irou" I Pifty. 

con B.I re.fused 

C. It that time -- When dif he tel  you Where lie wanted 

,y,74v What was that  
Viten 

,Die he tell you he canted yob: to ,a:e tb cks(e" 

i1ght there.. latde vrowiltion. he sa.1d, "I Aave 

tQ take u few orders .for my house, whore I work, and I want 

you to taii.e this for LT:e 

When diG. ue tell you wigere ite *unted you e it'9 

On Saturday, 2e %ember 17th. 

Vin6n was tfte time huientione6 Ihe 'ddress wlere he 



Wanted you to take it' A On that day. 

Q; Igad it before, or after, he fixed the 

It was after he fixed the price. 

Q So, at the tine he offered you fifty cents, 70 

didn't know where You were going with the package, 

A No,. sir. 

Now, then, what course did you take, after you 

started with the package 

Delancey Street. _ 

Xastl or west' A West, down to Ludlow, and through 

Ludlow 

We went straight through 

down to Stanton, where he left 118-. 

Where uic he leave you' A On Stanton Street. 

At what street' A Corner of Ludlow. 

He left you t4ere" A Yes, sir. 

Anu uiu he wal)4.-, -with you all along'. A Yes, sir. 

Wald right beside you  A Yes,. sir. 

Didn't you_testify yesterday that he followed you 

about a block' A ollowed me' No, sir. 

BY Th. COURT: 

Q. Well, how far clic he go with you' Tell the jury 

hov, fa- this unknown person went with you' A He went 

as far as Stanton Street, and he sal, "T am going to tele-

phone, and you wait in the store for me until I come back"2 

BY 0 Ik.ALLEY: 

won't 60 the corner of Stanton and Ludlow with you? 
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• Yes, sir. 

Q And then what' A He gave us an address before 

we went with hiql he wrote it on a papers aid he said, 

"You wait in the store until I go and telephone". 

Q 'Where did he go to telephone' . A On Stanton 

Street. 

Q Did you see him go in the store" AL- MO, sir. 

Q Yesterday, you were asked this question: Q Was 

this man walking with you/ A, 'Noi he stopped a block 

before. He said he was going to a druggist, -across the -

street, I believe." Now, did he stop a block before, 

or didnit he' A No, sir, I made that mistak 

Q. That was a mastake,. A Yes, sir. 

BY TEA COURT: 

Q, How far .was the drug store that you say he waht into() 

to telephone, and to wait for you, how far waL thatialmay 

from Sam Saffer's place" A Across the street I believe. 

BY ALR. 01MALLIIY: 

Do you know whose drug store it was" A No, sir. 

Old you see him go into the drug store' 

No, sir. 

Dia you see a drug store there' A Yes, sir. 

Tnen, 12.e left you, and told you to go into this 

store'A Yes, sir. 

ct Now, when you went in there, what did you do' 



A We explained to the proprietor of the store, and he Said. 

we can wtit. We left the package on the.tables and We sat 

near the counter. 

Q- Who waS there at that time' A The daughter, 

the husband, and the woman. 

Q What were their names/ A -I don t,Icnow. I never 

was in there before, and I never had apy business with 

him. 

Q Are you sure of that/ A Yes, sir. 

Q Tliere were three persons there, were there' 

A There was another person, a. young man; he was talk-

ing with the 1)rol1rietor. 

Q Four, all together  A Yes, sir. 

And had you ever seen any of those people before' 

A No, sir. 

• Hare you seen them since' Je, Yes, I have seen the* 

in Court. 

Q; Have you seen them since that time* No, 

Q Are any of them, here as witnesses., dO you know, 

A - No, sir. 

Now, what did .0 do after you got in there' 

A I sat hear the counter, and the package was -on the 

table. 

Then wh t happened' A I was in there about two Or 

three minutes when tLese two ilien came in. 



open. 

The package was not opened, A AO, sir. 

You heard the officers testity, did you not, that 

the package was open 9- Yes, sir. 

Q, And that one of you was sitting down, and the other 

was standing up, by the paokage A Yes sir* 

q And that one of you had your coat off' A air. 

You did not hear him testify to that" A . Yes, 

heard that. 

Q And you say it is not 0 A NO., sir. 

Do you say it is not so or it is s0'. 

sir, it is not. 

What dic. you say to these'peoldewhan you went 

in there', A We told him about the salesman" and he told 

us to wait for him; he would be back soon; and he went to 

make a call, and then he.asked who he wan. We didntt know' 

we told him,. he was a salesman, and he told us to Wait here 

with the package, and he said, "All right, wait 'until he 

comes baek". 

DiC you tell him who the Salesman. was' A Who the 

walesman was' 

Yes. A I didn't know who he was. 

Did you describe him at all, A Yes sir. 

Did they say they knew who he was'A No sir. 



Had you ever seen either officer Sullivan 01 

Gerevan A No, sir. 

q You ,never had any trouble with any of thee 

No, sir. 

Q, And do you know whether or not the other defendant 

here, Littman, had any trouble with them? 

look at it' A 

Q Wasn't taere writing on it' A I didn't see-- 

didn't look at it. 

(1 It had a palier around it, did it not/ A Yes, sir. 

And cay YOU say whether thi,tt was, or was 

paper (.aandinc witness People's Exhibit.No. 1)/ 

It looks the same as was on that package. 

Couldn't you see that writing on that paclage1 

Io, I didn't look at it. 

Dia the store keeper, or the man who, had this dry-

store, Saffer, did he Iodic at it? 

Yes sir. 

'Dais fellow was an entire stranger to you  

Yes, sir. 

You say he gave you the address of Saffer/ 



• Yes, sir. 

Wherewas thiqt written? A Pardon MA. 

Q I say, did he write that sddress down for yo 

Yes, sir. 

• Q On what 1-- A On a piece, f paper. -

Q Have you got that piece of papernow, A No, sir, 

I throw it Tight away. I had it in my memory. 

Q You say you didn't need it' A No, sir. 

YT GOURT: 

When did you: throw it away? A That tame day. 

13efore, or after, you saw Saffer? A Before; while 

Was doing towards tile store. 

Q Why did you throw it oway before you got to Safford; 

A Because I remembered -- I never expected .any trouble 

to cotae.out of it. 

BY MR. CoMAZT,MY: • 

When did you aect to see thisstranger again? ! 

The salesman9 

Q Yes. A Just as soon as we was in the store. 

he says he was going to bake a call. • 

Did he giire you anY reason why you Should ao into 

ti:k: store W1t e„iaeicaze, A yes, sir. 

q What was it/ A He said he was going t bake a cap., 

and b right back again. I don't'know what he was _going 

to do with the Jackale. • 



Q Did he give Ydu any reason why you ebpu e gone 

into the store, or why you should not have remain 

streets' A No, sir. 

gone with him to the. telephone booth!. Do you, 

No, sir. 

.Q Now, let us see. You have be convicted before, 

have you? A Yes, sir.. 

Wn A On October 28th 

Q, 'What year*, A 1908. 

For what crime, A Attempted rand 3aroeny,. second ' 

degree. 

Q. Via t were with do i A packager' 

is not a cast 

We you av ted.befoy,e9 A, .Yee, sir. 

-When^ f Ma.t was rininjr door bell; . . 

t raue,lher tl about tire years ago. 

Vt or yo ClxiArged with th.en A Disorderly 

conduct, I think; T. don't now. 

C We2,0u sent Urly V.24 -Eig, than"A, To the PrOfeotory. 

latw. A:crt,=)ctiro. Catholic Protectory.. 

-ur 1.Jov lo4c9 A Five days, 

elre. Et.r.re tea or maliaious mischief/ 
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Q, Sure of that" A Yes, sir, Maybe that ij th 

case. I didn't know what they charged ma With., 

BY THE COURT: 

were convicted of attempted grand• larcenY9 

liOvFMAN: Objected to as incompetent,; irrele-

vant and immaterial. 

COURT: Very 'well, I will withdraw it. 

BY MI. D'AAJWW: 

rae'ra did you ay you lived before you lived at Bast 

Fourth Straet, Cannon Street, did you say" fi ITo, sir. 

Yousalk. Irou lrired nroame t,11.6 Cannon' 

neicAbtmlood of Clinton und Oelancep' Stets, on the 17th of 

_cm the home, T al 

'Lae viithest .dn't ear Cr/at. 

xel 11: :glad a reason. 

Aut., did you say about Cannon and SroomeStreets, 

HO WXN: Ha didn't say Cannon and Broote. 

d Bro.ame tIrd Attoxneyo if MY memorY serves 41244 



Q What did you say about Broome and AttornV 

I said I used to live around there and I wont down 

to talk to some fellows, Saturdays and Sundays. 

Didn't you mention Cannon Street at all? 

No, sir. 

You were arraigned in the Magistrates Court? 

Yes, sir. 
there 

And you Amade a statement, didn t you/A Yes sir.. 

Did you at that Ume say you:were given this. package 

by a stranger". A The, sir. 

QI Are you sure of ta64,t' ft Yes, six. 

Didn t roat tnat e say that this package w s 

given 4,o yon r Oetactive Leitner?' A I did not. 

q will you swear J;() ttat' A Yes, sir. 

Oiun yo71, in e istrates Court) msntion that 

the luam Who al /oared be with this stranger on the street 

micalt be Leitner" Did you say anything like that' 

A Ye 8 sir. 

What°It i.djthi't say it there, but I said it here. 

You, didn't sty anything like that in the magistrates 

Court, did you') A sir.• 

BY THE COURT: 
-t 

q Was Leitner in the .Magistrates Court/ 

H w soon after your arrest was that' T4e day after? 



Three days after. 

41 Three days after' A Saturday, Sunday Monday and 

Tuesday. Tuesday was the first time I seen him dam 

there. 

BY .MR. OlUALLEY: 

Weren't you arraigned in the Magistrates Court on 

Londay' A I was. V. 

Wasn't Leitner there that day" A I don't believe 

he was. 

Monday or Tuesdpe. 

Q Will you swear you did not set; hivinthere on Monday 

morning! A No, sir, I would not swear. 

if Leitner was there on Tuesday, and may have 

been there on Monday, so far asyou know,. you said nothing* 

to the Court about either Leitner having g-iven you this 

package, or having seen a Ran that looked like him with this 

stranger, did you A No, sit. 

BY THE CQURT: 

4/ Do you say now it was Leitner who gave you the 

package' 1 Yes, sir. I did not notice him standing 

by the wall. 

Q What is your testimony now' Was it Leitner that • 



• 10,41 -

gave you the package' A I.don't say he was 

standing there. 

I am not asking you who was standing there. 

Do you now testify it. was Leitner who gave you the package 

and told you to deliver it to Saffer" A . No sir. 

Q What" A No, sir.. 

Q What do you mean to say, then, in regard to it/ 
What 

Do you say Ile was -- is your testimony on that point" 
i\ 

say he was standing therei this stranger was stand-

ing there, with a few other fellows, and one looked to be 

like Leitner. I didn't say Leitner handed me that 

package. 

3Y :MR. O'MALLEY: 

When is the first time you testified to that°, 

Istais the first time' A That Leitner was standing there" 

That you said there was a man who looked like 

Leitner there' A Yesterday. 

Q When was the first time that you told it to any-

body' A Yesterday was the first time. 

When you came on the stand' A Yes, sir. 

Q The first time you ever mentioned it" A Yew, sir, 

I recalled it. 

BY TilE COURT: 

Q Did you ever see Leitner before that day/ 

No, sir. 



17th of September, was it' A .Yie ro 

Never saw him before' A Not sir. 

Do You know any reason why Leitner-wonid try to 

implicate you in the commission of a crime? A Yes, 

"Willy'? A He does that for money. 

You. think for "mnelr he Would try to implicate you'. 

sjz. 

Do you know why he Would pick yol out, instead of 

somebody else" A X aint the only one. he picked 

others out, and they got convicted, just because he. got a 

few dollars off tile detecti es. 

Q. Is it Ydur Ti e7 tau.* the de ectivde paid him' 

Yen, si.r. 

You Llean the City aetectiVes" A Yes, 

that evidence have you of that'? Rave you any--

evidence of it, or is that merely your suspicion? 

That is rEv: evidence. 

Q Have you any evidence of that, or is that merely 

your stispicion, that that maytbe so? A Well I have heard: 

lots of peovle say that he sent their friends away, up7 

--stairs, in my room. 

Q You mean in the City prison, Yes, sir. 

T het told you in the City prison that that is so? 

Yes, sir. 

Q. Did they give you any instances' A Yes, sir, 
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told me one fellow got two years from Iltin6 

BY MR. O'HALLE.Y: 

testify* 

Who was it, 

They are afraid. 

ny THE COURT: 

Q, 

don't know. Nob° 

Is n•eitne'r a man 'great influence in the neigh-

or 2gro4 :;?•owex) or of great ,01117 Did they 

at about I. don't know. 

:liaat are i4eT afraid of"I' Why can-"..t they go on . 

the ottlaut an el he t :Uth P They' are afraid of 

Court T.4ey don't like A be seen testifying. They have 

alai' own  

s ar.1 

RE DIRECT e110.! 1P 116'M 711V L1 OPPIXT-z 

In answer 

hadagaintyou. 

mi COURT: 

owirt, queationl 

If you know. 

s to what TJeitnep 

(Oontinning) If you know, do vou, want the jury to 
he 

understal d that Leiner was after you., or Was after-the 

Receiver') P Ho was af ter the receiver. 

GOUR.e: What makes you say that' 

Tell trie Court and ;Fury what makes you think he was. 

after after the receiver, after this man Saffer9 A - To .my 

knowledge, there vas a robbery, the night before and I 
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heard of it up in Allen street; some goods were.staie; 

and they brought in two bags, after they took us to the 

station hoase with the receiver, together; I be1iere tha 

this Leitner trailed this receiver, and sent word to the 

detectives, 'Sullivan and Gorevan, to coma down for him, 

and trap him, just for the sake of a few dollars. They 

kiieti a receiver will give ncney to get out of trouble. 

By luck, we was n that store. The stranger gave us this 

packace, 'ciAld we '•iias arr 5ted, ani theY had an excuse. 

W•uen tétec txes SulXilran .hd Gorevan arrested you 

that nigit., on Stan.ton7Stret, di 0 arrest the .store-

:keeper-2 i o, sir. 

Yid tIld ofeiaers take you and Littoi•n. to police 

laead cintzte s, at 1? Allen treet'l A Yes) 

_Oaffer 

'ft ex you. were at 17 Allen Stre t, did they bring 

Yes, they sent three other men down; 

they brought us, an6 they remained there. 

(-1 After. you and Littman were brought to 17 Allen 

'Street, f•etective,4 vr again sent out, and safer was 

arrested' V8, ‘51r. 

OW, wAhen laffer was broupht to the station house, 

Was tier ; bron; tue of_icers/ Did they 

brin o N) rty" 'es, sir. 

dow ij this  

• W; Atm other goods.' 



.46 

•/1111. HOMAN: Yee ei r• 

MR. OIMALLBT: 

• 5101TaAN: lain simply following up 

Judge's suggestion. 

THig COURT: fill right. 

•UR. O'MALLEY: Go &bead. 

MR. HOFWAN: That is all. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. 

I object to it. 

u say tie nkxw Aan beckoned to y across: 

the street" A Yes, 

q And told you he ha4 a parcel he wanted• you to carrY' 

Yes, slr; it was a hot• day, and he said It Wai too 

•much trouble; i.e was dressed •well, and the 1acage was 

deasy. 

ç. It Was a 4ot day, anu he was dressed well and the 

package 4ealry': A Yes, si 

Yes 

Q, 

rats ' 

.14e offered you twenty-rive cents' A Yes, sir. 

t•hd you refased it/ A Yes, sir. 

Anti tsn Lte offered you fifty cen'Es, 

unuerstooti Jim to 8a2,- th4t you accepted the fifty 

vou JI 

feb, t r. 

3.t, an fter t i'ty ce ts, wItho t 

't Knovd wliere he waited,you to ta it' 



knowing where you Were to take that parOell 

I then asked him where we were to take I 

explained. 

You. had already been in the protectory 

Yes, sir, only for five days. 

Q And you had already been in the State Reformatory, 

at Elmira/ A Yes., sir. 

Q And, qid it occur t U, rit then, for a young 

man ;rho had been Irteadj convicted, to accept a- daroel 

from an unkno n .,.derson. upon, the street, and to carry that 

away with you, I-flight put in trouble . Did you reflect that 

way at alIr' ,c1 

it nwssex occnrred u.°). t No, sir, ,because I 

• obtxrled ceJ ere for ealesuen, and nelTer had any 

Oig you eon Liar, at t.la that fifty eents 

was a sasonable prict carry a ,--i?arc 1 six blocks? 

It .s -eavy, me hot4,,,. f us was there. 

Yes, sir, I carried 

it aboA, tRO b1o, took it, and I took it -again. 

RefoTlw•or:;, 

any•to Jfi. vers4 

tth o! you 'Jie it 

N.r011 4now tLe °tiler de endant in the State 

/Lave Ileard of him, but I never had 



This other defendant' A NO, 

Q. You did not meet him there, A No.,a 

Q Did you know at that time that he had 1Yeeia 

State Reformatory' A Yes, sir. 

I think you said you consulted hiR bstore you took 

the parcel; is that right' A He was standing thereto 

listening to the proposition. He calld the two of us 

over. 

Q, Do you know any reason wily:he Should call you two 

younG Nen over to take taat Aroel/ 'A .1 don't know, un-

less'ths2.1e had some reason for .doing so. . 

But wt was it, do you "think„ if you know' Have 

you any taeco7y of A I suppose they thought of 

tis Reosivex, colL ;bade sousthinc up, just to get SOMR 

.I7X5 /AY'S in it,SO tar on blame them, nd..,7et the reoei.Ter 

out. 

0 ypn s svaot t any   taat the parcel might 

have be&.i No 13 

WLex7011 der:: in 3af:fer's storal and tasse to. 

detctives 

you° 

in, w  is Wab fi.r.st thing they said to. 

•finaIL:T to you' Did tiley. tell you 

finall t.. 'erte .,steutivesf' A yes, Biz*, they Wan-

ted to nit 'is Lrauwu.e ws told them that stoi7, and they 

tirA - !4. 

yi layA(4 • • r " • 

2 u.id, Oontt tell that, come . 



A 

Why did you put up a fignt as you express 

We never expected any trouble; we were 

be placed under arrest. 

Q You were perfectly innoce4tand these detectives  

cme in tere and arrested you, and was that the roason-

you put up a fight, as you express it' A Yes sir. 

Q On account of your rano° nee'A :Yes,:Sir. 

1i1 OROgS EXIANINATION: 

BY 1.7.11. O'MA.T0L1Y! 

Ole 7jou 4ave 

you hEla A1H4,ii 

1112r o. ttiai? in beinr ,aicen, if 

v-e$, 

What aL' you :have to ear" in trouble.. 

Aow would you b.,: in 41'0101e, tfyou had not done 

anythinf:" vrong: 7.tie ofic.er from Mimi a, any 

middemeanem, taer yon 

016 yon taink you 

No, 

cor 't misdemeanor. 

von inJ you itd c ommit t ed any crime' 

k 1704 sa-, nnt s oonsi6er it so. 

so' . They sr e expert enc ed 

don' t take no bluff s 

oluf.' would Ltier ilaye to take/ ft X though.t 

tie  wou3. Itzr testi ony. 

A blat taey would not believe 

the testintins', -tt, oulei ,end .ine right back., 
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So, you were afraid of that.70_ A Y sir, 

You were convicted before of Istealing a package' 

R. NOFFMAN: Objected to. The witness bas 

answered -that in answer to your Honor, and in anew.r to 

me. 

. THE GOURT: said neer. Objection 8U5 

tamed. 

NB. OviaLMY1 That is all. 

JfALt. OPP;a1 

Q, 'When You eak about the 9Etro1e you °naturally 

feared twat any suspioi n brough;., to the 

$ult in yo beinc taken back to B1mira 

Yes, el:r. 

HO. Mat is a. . 

BY 2R3 0011R: 

00 you read €Lish A 'Yes, sir. 

T. What dij you hink about the address on that package, 

Which i actor sSeft to a :rim in St. Joseph, Mlbsouti/ 

Your 14ono.r, I uidn' t nol;ioe what Ws written on it. 

I Ec. ;:g.in ...bout 6,as 111411, after he told you 



across the street, into a drug store, and telliMg7012 

something about waiting; I don't remember just what yau 

ss.:id about that; and with a package addressed to a firm 

in St. Joseph, Missouri" 

ER. HOPPMAN: Objected to, because this witneAs 

did not know it was addressed to kissoUri. 

Q You say you did not notice that at all" A No, sir., 

Didn't look on the packhge at all, to see where. it. 

s b.ddressed" A NO, sir, and even then 

What oconrred to you about the man, after he agreed 

00 Jay you fifty cents, to take tais six blocks, followed 

you, and sep4rbted fram rou, going across the street, from 

Saff r s p1ace, in a drug sto-ce, didn t that o cur to 

you unusual  1 

Did it cauBe, apy suspicion on, ow.' part" 

P 11o, sir, if it2.4“. 

ri-bt 

BY 777R. HOW: 

Vh.en aiu 

I would lialre dropped the package, 

you this money9 

me anythi ditin't came back. 

f Didn't pay you at ail? A NO, sir. 

This n wa.s" an ent.ire stranger to you  A___:,Yes, sir. 

And Left packart;e Without paying you? 

Yes, air. 

He didn't pay 
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Tlig COURT: Gentlemen, I have 4-litaiti of the Cty 

here, and I find from it that where the aftlbOa' egYs 

17 Allen Street is, is seven blocks from Stanton 

Street, six blocks up and one block over; so I with 

you would look at it, and see if you can agree on it. 

I have marked it, for your convenience.-- six blocks 

up and one block upver., 

BERNARD I T T: I C uly sworn 

as interpreter in this case, 

HARRIS LI.TTMAX, called asawitness on beaux  

f the defeuqant4, beine first duly sworn, and examined 

through 111,!,3rni, a L. MItnick, interl) e,er, t estifiad. as 

llawst-

fiWerv TION VSTJ.tiAN:. 

What, is your nai A Harris Dittman. 

Wh•ee you. live' A 206 Delancey Street, 

Mr. ittmtn wha is your business" A Shoemake„ 

h 1.1/ Yes, sir. 

17th20 da2k of September, which 

Yes, six. 



No, sir. 

But your son works in your store on Saturdays' 

Yes, sir. 

Q How do you know it wwas after three o'clock when your 

son brought the key to you? A I.know it, because I had see 

seen it. V. 

Did you talk to him about the time A To.), be 

finished the owkr on a Saturdpy, and he stopped. 

Q Ur. Ltttman, your son was in trouble before, 

wasn't he 4 Yes, sir. 

Q Did you appear as a" witness for him at a trial' 

A No, ir. 

Q And fads is the first time you, hare' appeared as a 

witness in behalf of your son? A Yes, sir. 

HOITINAN: That is all, 

BY THE 001171T: 

*Why 61on't you a Jiear as a ,itness for you son 

on the first trial2 

linr11,1ANT: Objected VO. 

MR 001AT: Objection overruled. 

1J.HTPPLAN: Exc.ption. 

Because I did not know of his first trouble, and I am 

taR.en up with the work thut I have to do. 
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Did you know he wasbeing tried at the first 't;'. 

I found that out Later. 

CROSS 3XAKINATION BY hR. O'MALLEY: 

Do you know how many times your eon has been 410 

That I do not know. 

Would you be aurprised to know it was fire or sic 

times, 

R. HUPPLAV: Objected to 48 immaterial. 

THB COURT: Objection sustained. 

how 1on6 has you'', son been working for you

Three months. 

Q When aid he begin°, A Three mo nths before the 

17th day •o:Z SeilteMber. 

What month:wap, that in' A Kbout July, or June. 

Vhere had lie been prior to that time? A I believe 

he was arrested. 

Do you kiww. he be wa 'serving time' 

HOYPMAN: Objected to as incompetent, irrele-

vant and immaterial, whetherhe.knows. 

THY; COURT': 

Now) the District 

Attorney is entitled to test tn t by 'asking him as to 

his actions at othe, dines. 



he was detained: 

his movements on the 17th. 

arrested, but I don't know where;  

remeNber where. 

You . nat in the stork on that day? 

I'lhere was your son on Saturday, September 10th, 

i{e was in the cellar, 

What time did he leave the store that day? 

About five, or half past five. 

Where was he on Saturday, September 3rd,' 

What time did he leave 



What time did he 

What.time did he 'tat on Vednesda, He doesn't 

wo.p?k later than ix a. Et.A. tlui,e4 

Q Vinen wa he first SiMe you Aked to anybody in 

didn't ';aldit c4t am- one. 

't you sooken to an .one about it before you 

:When did you talk with. the 1WKYi Monday. 

This luion Y 54,r 

Is that first tini you talked about i 

Yes. 

So, that is the first time that you had occasion tP 

talk to anybody in regard to what your son did on Saturday, 

September 17th/ A Yes, 

0„,_ And you were able to rôall distinctly that upon 

that  ay your soh came ,o you, about three thirty in thp 

Lfternoon, and gave you the keys / A Yes, Sir. 

0,11ALLW: That is all. 

Rh LIIRECT iaXkil,TATION BY R. ROPFlIAN: 

Ir. Littman, you remember it very clearly--



n the %itneswelmouth,' 

ThE COURT: Ctijectio# 8UBtEiflGdI 

Do you remember it because that .wae he last dar 

you w your son  

.4eZrSo, 

COURT: Objection sustdined. 

2rou, oee vOUT . after he delivered to you the 

the 17th day of ,ep ember, up to your meeting him 

NAI

 

you co t see him. in Tpmbe Pri on9 

al sir. 

How iea diC yo e.jii in the Tombs' 

Z21. 02LAIVi • Wected ,0 4S immaterial.: 

.271.4 t 1), t, 1e' 2 state-

Onc e (if r twice waie&as 

• HOPRANt 

/4 ORRIS L T T A Nrs one Of the defendants, herein, 

oalie 4.s. a witness on hiia1f of the defense being first Axtly 

sworn, testified as 1ollow8:-

DER:1MT ALiTI0N:1;'Y HOMAN: 

c Mat is your name' A Morris LittMan. 

Wnere do you 1iTe A 206 Delfincer Street. 

How old are you, Littman' A Eighteen. 

What ere you mployed at in the month of September, 
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\ 
and for whom were you working, A Working tor lgy athtr. 

Q - Did you go to public school, City of New Tor .9 

A Yes, sir. 

CI Up until what age, A Well, fourteen yearts, about, 

q Yall were in trouble before, weren't you' A Teat 

When was 1.110:: first time you ever got into trouble, 

Try und recall i-;,a beat as you, can"- .A Well, I got in 

trouble when 1 was e young felloW71 a little boy., 

Q. Was that tile fj.rst time' A .Yes, sir. 

Q 7ow, then1 atr tx,.,t time, when you ret into . 

tnaofole' 

after, think. 

0 Xlft; 

Men 1 (T,ot in trouble rabcii;it a year and a half 

yon the second time' Where 

were yOU Sent t A I rh 5,e1t to the liouse of 

nefUge. 

T W. ;70, Claildrenk Court. 

1:5,CJT r,v_; Aonse of Refuge, by 

Judge Nayo, when next aid ,j'ro/.4rt into. trouble/ A About 

a year and • half or so. afwr, or a :fear. 

Q Before wLai; ' A I canit recollect the name, 

Q• Where did thc ;had o sent you to? A New York City 

ReforL:atory. 

Q. And, ftor thet times ad you get into trouble' 

A Yes, sir, I did. 

Q 1,7/-ii„tt Judc,3" A Judge kulqueen. 



tt Where did Judge Mulquen send you to A New. 

City Refornatory -- I mean  New York State AbrOrravOr 

Was that the last time you got into trouble! 

Yes, sir. 
,t• 

Q When were you released on, the ref ormator7 

A In the month of June. 

The various times lax.en you vot in o trouble, did you 

figlit the case, or di c yOu ,akie a plea' 

P always stweil. "T AM gUij v.", whenever I was arrested'. 

Q. All t4Ose.tdides, you laeaded that you were guilty"-. 

.A Yes, sir. 

Q. Sj.noe 6on . of .Tuns, and up to the l/th day of 

Septetiberl were you working for your father" A Well, about 

a dar or tvo after first day., I cane home. 

A day or two alter you cot out of the reformatory" 

A Yes, sir. 

You vs,77e 1)aroled from ,,ejle Reformatory, yoD,were 

permitted to be released on larole, is that 'right, 

A Yes, Sir. 

And you e re,drtine to the parole officer" 

A Yes, sir. 

To whm^ A To Rogers, in ,ifteenth Street. 

q Now, tIman, let us come to the:17th day Of September. 
, 

This was on a Saturuay" _you work on that day" -

A I did. 
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(I What hour of the morning did you go to iOur father's 

place of business, A Well, I went there late that morn-

ing, about eight o'clock, or half past eight. 

.14 to what hour that afternoon did you remain in 

your father's business A I think it was about half past 

three. 

What did you do after you left your father's 

business' Did you go home' A Went home. 

Q And what did you do WI:ten you got home "A First I 

took a bath; then I ate -- I didn t eat; I didn't eat 

tiftat day. 

Q, Was your mother home A Yes. 

And how long did you stay home was 

home More than  an hour. 

Q. Then, w.it did' you do,• after you left the housed' 

Where did you ce A Then, I went right down to the 

delicatessen store. 

0, Where is this delicatessen store A 168-1A 

Delancey) two doPrs away frQrn my father's. 

And is taiF, delicatessen store run by the man who 

appeared here on te stand yesterday, Mr. Aerman9 

Yes, sir. 

q Can you recall what hour it was when you were in . 

that store/ A I know it was in the _evening-. 

Q, What time' A Well, it Vas after half past four 



five o'clock. 

Between half past four and five o'clock' 

Something like that. 

Q Did you then mestKaplan9 A I vas Waiting th 

It was about five minutes before Kaplan came along.. 

You were on Delancey Street, in front of this store*. 

before Xaplan came along  A Yee, sir. 

Did you know RaPlan' I knew him to say 

HOw often dit: you m et him' A Very often; two 

or three times a week. 

Q And az was this place at De16,ncey:Street in front 

o the Williamsburph '9ridge, where you met' 

right opposite. 

Dd you. Aeet other boys there' A 

two or three other boys. 

Yes, sir, 

Yes, sir, about 

Q Dia you meet Kaplan on that day by appointment' 

A No; no, sir; not by appointment. 

Q Dia you nave any appointment to meet Kaplan, that 

afternoon'A o, -eir. 

Before the 17th day of September, did you over meet 

Leitner, the private detective' A No,. air. 

Q. You say that you and :Kaplan went into this delica-

tessen store, or die, Kaplan go with you in thesdelioateesen 

store' A During th t time. 



When you got out, did you stand on the 0 

when you left the delicatessen store' A 

sidewalk; about three feet from the door; 

feet from the door. 

Q Within the street line' A Within the sidewalk. 

Q. Now, tell tie what happened while you boys Were to-
41 , 

gether with regard to this vackage A' Well, We were 

talking; we happened to be talking about-- I soon some sketch 

and he was not there, 

and he asked me 

I wa taking about another fellow, 

what was it and I told him.. Anyway we 

was talking and la &int= about some song, some comical song, 

ana two fellows across the way, on the opposite side right 

opliosite the store-- tuere was a package standing by the 

wall, leaning against the wall. 

Do you bean the .wall of the bridge/ A The wall 

of the bridge; and tile writing was facing towards the. 

Wall, the writing on -,4e 1)ac4age, and the fellow spoke 

to Kz.i.) lan first, and said 

Did you I.Lear 

man' A I did. 

wLat the fellow said to Kaplan this, 

CI Tell us wit he said  A I didn't hear the Whole 

conversation, 1117c I 1eard tLiF, much: gust when I came over, 

Eaplan was saying to him-- we came almost together -- he was , 

in front of me-- KalaiaL said, "No". -Tnen ne said, "I will 

give you fif.;;y cents", and }''aplan said, "No". Then he . 



said to me Do you want to do it", and I sea's* 19i A viti 

but the fellow insisted-- he didn't exactly insist, but 

seen it was quite 'a burden ,for him, and I says "Go onk 

?ilea favor" and Kaplan _took the package, and 1—welkeii 

with him. Kaplan took it a couple of blocks and I took 

it off of Kaplan and we got right near the door, and this 

fellow, who 'was with Kaplan. was Walking k alongside of 

liaplan also. 

How: did you walk front Oelanoey Street to Ludlow" 

rdbat r•oute did you 'take we walked straight up. 

Oelk4no12t Otrec, ML Warheu into Ludlow. 

When YOu 

What haypened"' 

he di‘n't say nothi 

telephOne. 

'across the way". 

drug' store. 

the co.rno of Stanton and Ludlow,. 

.The fellow Says -- he. Walked_away. 

he said, "Wait., I am going to  

we,nt to .1:41.e opi,o$it;e'corner, to the 

Did he tell you were to go with the package' 

We had the address. 

WI-Jut was t;1,,•s addressr' It 10.ads right on  the 

corner', I think 

Street. 

letas 181, something like that, Stanton 

Ijat corner ws it"A Ludlow. 

Stanton awl LI(dlow" A Stanton and Ludlow. 

You an6 ,4414,1Rnwent irto this to 6" .A Yes, sir. 
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When 'irou got into the store did you meetthe proprie 

tor" A_ Yes, sir. 

Ur. Saffer9 A Yes sir. 

What did you tell hie A I told him he s id, 

"What have you got there" No. First, I says, "Who i 

the proprietor". He says, I 8E05, "'What is 

your name" he says, 9Ar. Sifter" 4 Bs said, "What' 

have you ot there" I told him, 'We were sent in here, 

the nan c411 be lere right avia-Ir says, "All right"' 

de says, aat eedve you tatexe" I says, "Wait a 

minute he will be x4ere"; and Iskit down, It was a warm 

dar. And in about a minute ox two minutes, couldn't: 
don't think, 

help, er wentyit seemed t4ht Way to me, two detectives 

care in, .xcitea, nd said., "Waixt zaave• yougot there."... I 

told firt it is none of their busitess, first off. seen 

taey wt.lee welx ureab ,Jerhaps they m e a 

Aillatc,xe.I loo kett tlierat, bind I seem it was not the fel-

lows that sent 4.1.a3 in. I aid, what lb tilei.r business 

anu i.-;hey they inbintea, a.nt, tolet 41Aa they were detectives, 

told" What thinfx was, and I actdally begged them 

o Le  go out. 

Tell uo V _W., you saic, to the detectives' A That 

is whtl. I 8aid.. 

virst I said -- when 

we were arcuing, 6 n;hr‘l /lave you got here. I said 



none of his business. 
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Re says, "Who are you, talking to! 

1 will give you a bust in the eye, I will give youla'bust 

in the mouth" I says, for what are you, going tOtuSt 

me in the Month' He says something, I can't'remegIber 

what he saidi I was excited. Then. he said, "Come on dOlin 

to the station house.. 'I says, "What do you I was' 
• 

arrested once before, and I knew things like that happen, 

and I says to him, I says, "Let me go outside and Gall this 

fellow" and he wouldnIt let me got Be held me by the hand. 

He says,- "Neer 'Mind,„ co— on with ms. We will get the 

fellow a.fter', and we had to o with him. We went down 

to ./..ead quEaters. 

Befo e you went with him, was that package opened 

in the store; before you went 'kith him.' A What Package . 

c Thi 2a0*ge :rou browht there" A No, sir. 

That package was closed  A Yes, sir. 

Was there a v'Lc4age on the table or counter of the 

.store" A 'Pirst it ,,.Nas on the side of the counter, and then 

before We sat down, T F,ilre. it a chuck on the counter. I 

threw it on the coullt.e.... 

Were therx! peole in the. store, A Yes, sir, there 

Wa There was Kr. Saffer and his wife and his daughter, 

think. 

Now, theli, lt2t me as:1‘ you; When you went into that 

'storol- did you into a back-roOM' A NO, sir. 



Q A Aan standing on the street could lo 

the store, couldn't he A Yes, sir. 

MR. 0/MALL: Objected to as leading 

Th.111 COURT: Objection sustained. 

q Now, Littman on the 17th of Septembers were you 

walking with Eaplan for a period Pt about three hours 

on Greene Street, up-town, towards Eighteenth Street, or in 

those 1ocu1ities9 A No, sir* 'ben I got arrested, it was 

about half past five, and: wn I topped work -it was after 

threei inC that alone 

heard Leitner say th.a.t he saw you and Kapitan 

together at two thirty, and kept trailing igo you up to 

abov e o'clock' A 7es, 

Is that statezen4, true" 

Is it true sir. 

leitnar testil'ied that you and E:;lan for on a' 

I Aeard him say that. 

It is impossible. 

Prince Street bar at Greene Street; is that statement 

true A No, sir.. 

Dia you .21,a.K„e are' st&taktent to officers Sullivan and 

Gorevan to the effect' t.L.a..; the parcel belonged to your -

father': A No, sir. 

Lnd do yob Nallt jury to understand taLat the 

statement you mEtde to t,Lem at the tiMe of  arrest is 

identically the twk,eut?int 14ich, you make here regarding 

sulenmae 



Q When you and Kaplan were placed under ATre t. 

officers Sullivan and Gorevan, did they place the O)**r 

of the store under arrest, A No, sir.. 

ci Did .Leitner, this private detective go into the 

store while v u'Ard Kaplan were held by the detectives/ 

A No, sir. 

Did Leitner walk with the detectives, ormith the 

Q When the detectives brought you to 17 Allen Streets 

was Leiter there' A Mb air* 

Q, Row long were you detained at 17 Allen Street bolo 

e PrOVTletor of this store waS brolieht 

A rt was more than balf tour. 

uuing that time, and up to the arrival of Saffor. 

Letner, the 'rivate d tective, make his aP.2) arz.n.oe at 

polioe headquartere No, sir. 

Q When ;a the first ,;',ime you saw Leitnere A In the 

'istrates Conrt, 

Now, then, .z.r.'Ld that when you. ent over on 

elanoey Street, i..,aere were seve:ral sflefl, stand1n7:, together' 

Q Do yo oogi- io you re all that Leitner wes 

one of t ose itwn . A Well, I could not aay positively, but 

one of them looked almost the same, like him, but X would 

not swear to it, 



trate, 

noti: 
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And did you make that statement to the Police 111 

I did. I told him exactly the saMe as 1. do 

104 HOMAN: That is all. 

CROSS EXAULNATION BY NR. 041ALLNY: 

q When you joined Kaplan, at Delancey Street, who Was' 

there besides you and .he7.anybody? A Yes sir. 

• W ho Were they' 1 Two other fellows. 

Q, What are theil.i naJenes A Sam. 

Whet is his nar.1,e) A I couldn't tell yon,his 

last name. 

Vbat is the nulae o.1 111,3 °tiler fellow'? A Harry. 

W40.1; it

 

his last nanW' A I couldn't tell you his 

name. 

Do you know where the el? A One 1,ilree on, 

genry Street. 

What nuinber" A I couldn't tell you the number. 

How long had you known those fell.ow.s9 A- -About 

three' or four months. 

Q Had seen them quite frequently! A 'Yew, sir, 

names 

And stillyou are unable to give the jury their last 

A Yes, sir. 

Or where they live/ A Yes, sir. 

And how long had they been stOlding with you before 



this stranger came up? Not long. 
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1:4 They were there when he called you over? A Yes icir. 

And they, saw you go? A Yes, sir. 

You had never -seen this stranger before? 

No sir. 

Q, And you say you went over, and, you said something 

about seeing a package" A Yes, Sir. 

Q Witere was thai ackage" A On - he other side, 

leine uv against the wall. 

Q, And thre was wri ing on it, was there? 

A Diere was, as I found out afterwards, when I seen the 

wrapper. 

You saw the wrap,der" Ayes, sir, afterwards.--

And you saw the address on it, did you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, The name of 'Wheeler tk, Mother, St. Joseph Missouri" 

fi I didn't read it. 

Q, You didn't read it' A No, sir. 

Q, How did you know there was writing there" 

I got a gaze on 

You testified, on your direct examination, that this 

thing was standing up against the wall, with the writing 

turned towa.ra the wall? A Yes, sir. 

Q How did you see that" A Because I saW there was nO 

writing on it. 

How did you know that the writing was turned toward 



But you didn't know there was no writing on it 

at thLt time A Noljsir. 

Q You say you had been working that day, had you? 

Yes, sir. 

ou How long "ili14 you been working for your rather'. 

u do you gaeany? That day only? 

Any time" A I don't know what you mean. 

How long had you been working for your father' 

Months, weeks, days' 

Yes. A As soon as I got out of the reforua-

to1. 

How much a thy diu you t;at? , what I 

needed. 

How much a dEor did you earn' Bow much did he pay 

you? A He didn't pay me no exact-- what I needed, he 

gives me. 

How much did he ever give you at any time! 

He gave AA two dollars, three dollars, a dollar, a 

a -half, and a quvtar. 

How freqUently did he give you z that' 

Whenever I asked him for it. 

Did you have any money with you that day' A Yes. 

How much, A I had a few cents. 



When did you get that from 1i140 

. i_got that the night before. 

How much*did he give you at that.time" A Be sire 

me about sixty cents. 

Q What sort wOrk did you do A I used to write 

letters to his customers 

What is your fatner s business' A He is a whole-

sale dealer in new and second hand Shoes. 

In what  A Second hand Shows. 

How many 9eople worked for him" A He used to 

have two, He has one now. 

One, since you left' A Yes) Sir. 

And who was workinc ith you on that day' A On that 

day) none of them. 

"nu were alone in the store A Only myself.. 

q Are you a shoe maker' A Yes, sir, I can eaa. 

Wer.6 you tiakthc. shoes that day? A I :Jleaned that 

at Elmira. 

Were you making shoes on that day? ANo, sir. 

Villat were you doing? A I was sowing vamps. 

What' A Sewing pickets on shoes.. 

Q, Working all day, were you? A Yee, sir. 

A Since I BA working there. 



2.0 

Q Let us see your hands? Mitness (=halts the 

palms of his hands) 

Q Were you there when the str anger offered to give 

you some money for carrying this package? r- Tie, sir* 

What did you hear him say' - A When he• made a 

proposition for fifty cents" 

Yes. A We says, "No", first. I actually 

didn't take pity on him, but I said, "Do him a.favor any-

way", because it was a heavy bundle, and it was 'a very 

warm day; 

You wanted to do him a favor? A Yes sir. . 

Q Why should the money enter into it, then' 

A I wouldn't do it for nothing. 

0 You wouldn't do it for nothing' A . No, -.sir. 

Notwistanding you wanted to do him a favor' 

A Yes, sir. 

And he finally offered you fifty cents? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Did he tell you where he wanted you to take it? 

A He wrote on a piece of gaper. 

q So, at the time you agreed to take it for fifty 

cents, you didn't know where you were going to take it' 

A Nol sir... 

q So, you might be going to the Bronx with it'  

A. /f he told me it was going 80 far, .1: could change My 



he wanted it to 

q He followed you over to the store? A Yes sir. 

Q, And you had never met him before, he was an 

entire stranger to you' A 14s, sir. 

And when he got to Uhe corner of Ludlow and Itanton 

Streets, he told you - what did he tell you9_. A He says, 

"Now, listen" -- he /fiade a ,motion; he said, "I am going to 

the drug store* and I want to telephone to a. party". 

9 That is all he said' Yes. 

Did anythifIrE occur to you about it:being peaaliar 

than he should send yoo..1 ine,4) store' A Not at that 

ram/lent. 

You at never seen him before, and he had never seen 

you before' A No, sir. 

Didn't you think it was rather a careless thing 

for a straager to.do' / No. 

You did not' A- No. 

Would you do that' A I did- it hany times before. 

Every 'day I was workinc, I would do that. 

You have been arrested and convicted severL1 times/ 

crime? A I could not rewomber the or1zo.4. 
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Wasn't it burglary? A No, sir. 

.Will you swear to that? A May, 1904? 

• BY PliTil COAT: 

Were, you, at, or about that time, convicted of 

burglary? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. O'MALLEY: 

Q

 

And you were sent to the liouse of Refuge" 

A Yes, sir. 

Q. When was the next time you were aonvicted? 

A If you call my attention to At. 

On olay 3rd, 1906 -Y-did you violate your parole' 

A Yes, sir. 

And were re-arrested/ A Yes, sir. 

Q And sent badk/ A Yes, sir. 

On January 10th, 1908 were you arrested and eon- . 

victed/ A I was never convicted. I always said I am 

guilty, right away. 

'January, 1910/ A (No answer) 

BY THE COURT: 

pid you always say you were guilty of the crime , 

you were charged with, or did you take a lesser plea in 

each case A 'Whatever they offered me. 

Q Weren't you indicted for. one thing, and the Judg 

allowed you to plead to a lesser thing, and, you pleaded to 

that 9 A Only once, your Honor. 

• 
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-BY MR. COMATAMY:' _ 

2 -q. What did you plead to in: 1908,.  do you know' Was 

it petty larcsny'v 

Q Didn't you:plead to patty larceny' A: When I was 

sent to  the Reformatory' 

On January 10th, 1908? A I can't day for pure. 

In Docwilbe , 1908, weren't you convicted, or plead 

guilty? A I don't rememlier'MY record, because 'I let. 

those things go out of my head:* 

Q. Isn't it a fact on that day you were arrested and . 

charged with haVing stolen a packige-- convicted of haying 

stolen a 1-?apkage9 

hOFYLLAW: I object to ithe forw of the question. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Weren't you, on or about that time, indicted for, 

and Pleaded guilty-- weren't you indicted Tor stealing a 

package from an express company's wagon, and didn't you 

plead guilty to an attempt to steal the package from the 

expres company's wagon, 

La. HOPPAAN: Objected to, on the ground there is 

nothing in this indictment charging. this defendant with 

anything witir except .a second offender. 

Th-1,1 COURT: Objection overruled. 

HOP7MAN: Exception. 

A I was indicted for attempting to steal a package. 



q Prom an e3;9ress company e wagon, or a 

ordinary wagon. 

°BY MR. WAALLEY: 

(1. And you plead guilty on that 00c/wipe 

I did. 

And where Were you ent then? A New York City 

Reformatory. 

A That is the time I was sent to the Reformatory. 

Seel 0 don't remember 'hem things. 

Q, What were you charged with stealing at that time 

A That is what i. Ecn talking about now. 

9 'What were you charged with stealing, in December, 

1908' A You will hare' to tell me what T was arrested for, 

and I will'tell you if it was true, 

DeceMber ,23rd, 1908, New York City, wagon thief, 

forfeited bond, January 21st, 1909M A I didn't forfeit 

lay bond. 

i. Officers Nennedy and Ztmmerman, Fifteenth Precinct. -

Now, Uo. you recall A- Yes, but didn't forfeit my 

bond. 

Q. Were you arrested- A Yes, 9ir. They Fot it all 

mixed up. Tney said I forfeited may bond. I couldn't come 

4iere, when I was in the house of Refuge. 

What were you charged with at that time' 



A That is the tlaa I was sent to the 

matory. 

BY THE COURT: 

ct !hat age did you give then, in 1908? 

A I give twenty years old. 

Q What WAS the first answer you made to counsel here 

affecting Your age" 

Yionor, 

NO A• That is my right age, your 

eighteen years old. 

Q In Oecember, 1908, you said you were twenty" 
• 

A Yes, sir. TA reason I did that was my lawyer told 

me, If I Wanted r:o go t 

the House of Refuge, 

Elmira, instead of going back to 

would have to—give the higher age. 

Suppoeinj you gave you real age, eighteen" 

It wouldn't help me BO much. 

IS tat your real Bea.son"A Yes; that is the 

truth, also. 

OY LR. WAALLEY: 

How old do you say you are now" A My right age is 

eigAteen. 

What was yoUr age when you were first convicted? 

can't remember. 

Tilat was in 1904. Wiat was it? 

ITIIE COURT: Ic_t me finish with him on that 

point. 

BY TRE COURT: 

When you were arrested this time, why did,yOu give 
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your age as twenty-one" A I wanted to 0 to il?01. 

prison. 

Q You always have a reason for those thinget 

Yes, sir. 

Q You did give your age as twent7-one in December, 

1910" A Yes, sir, 

n December 1910, you gave your age as twenty' _ 

Yes, sir. 

And now, you giVe your under oath, on the stand, 

as ighteen J Yes, sir. 

What is your real name'A Morris Littman. 

Is tliat your real name' YOB, Sir.. Q. 

Didn't you mke a statement to Judge MUlqueen, 

giving anotlIer lia.a No, sir. 9 

Q, Didn't you tell judge Mulqueen_your name was Litt-

owitz  A NO. 

You did not  A No. , 

I will read to you from the stenograph.e's minutes, 

an6

 

.sic you ik v,.aey correct. "blat is rignt, your 

Honor. Yon don't :LJave to botIel- with tiat. MY,Iright narile 

was, Littmanollitz, a#1i they all go by the name of,Littma 

Why did you give the name of Toseph Greenberg' 

I was not an honest fellow at that time, and I admit' 

I was doing wrong things right long. 



BY R. O'AALLEY: 

libLen you entered the store who was there" A The 

proprietor. 

.1; And who else' A His wife and his daughter. 

(1 Anybody else' Customers' A Just when we.00MS 

in, there was mother man there. 

Q, Vhat did you say when you got in there". A Asked. 

for the proprietor, and he Says I said, "Are you U. 

Saffer" And he said, "Yee". I told him what it was;; 

I was sent by a man, and he wa kind of surprised, and 

said., "Wait a minute, you will see"; I was exPecting him 

in any second. T laid it down, and just before' that r 

put it bacA. on t e counter. 

Didn't you offer he stuff in tf,iat package for sale 

to those people in that store A No, sir. 

Didn t you have your coat off, as the officer sayW 

sir. 

Q Isn't it a fact you were in that store at least 

ten Olnutee A No, sir. 

and you had to wait until they got through with thee 

A No, sir. 

Q Do you swear to that'? Yes, s 



BY THE COURT: 

Q Has the defendant any other name 

No sir. 

• Oild you ewer know him by the name of Feld= 

A Do you ilieanKaplan' 'A 

(1 Yes. A No, sir. 

BY Wa. O'MALLAY. 

Q, 

trxi s 

Where were you efore you went to ork for your father 

ast time Were you in/II:mire Yes, sir. 

What -time did you leave Elmira' A. The month of 

This year') A Yes, sir. 

Was that before, .or after, Kaplan leftjneree' 

I could not remember that. 

Q Don't you know Iii4eitner he left before you did', 

I don't exactly remember that. 

ct Didn't you know Eaplan up tere A BY sight, I 

-sup,pose I knew him, but you can't talk to anybcidy up there. 

What Oevartmentwere you in') A In the shoe 

department. 

Q 42-ere was hec A I don t remember that. 

Q You had never met him until you r,ot back here to 

New York 

with him? 

You had never conversed with himtX1Iti5. after you ,got 

I have seen him, but I have never .conve sed 



back to Nevi York" Ye, eir. 

When was the first time you met him after you 

back here to the 'City" A About three months ag 

mon th, • 

Months. 

That would be along in September' A About thr 

while I was out. While I was out, about three 

TFall COURT: lir. 

go any further, 

ey, I don/ t think I would 

LR. OiNALTAW: Ths,t is all. 

IWIn4ANT RtRM 

OMB 

0 N Y. 

R, called as a witness on behalf  

8 peo)le, in rebuttal, being irst duly sworn, and 

examineli through Bernard I. Xittnick, previously sworn 

s- Dit.3reter, testified as folloirs:-

aR8CT 371"A)1INATI0N PY MR. OWLLW: 

WilE,t is you?* name A Katie.  

Nilere do you live' k 101 Stanton Str ei. 

DO Ir017. • •,,v a store tri. re/A Yes., sir. 

uo you remember having seen hese two boys in your 

store clt one time in Septembwr, A Yes., it was on a 

Saturday tietat caty came in. 
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(4, Will you tell the jury what the did when the  

in, what they said, and what they had 

A They came in with a bundle; bad customars Lath 

$to el and I was attending to them at the time. Then 

they said to me, You buy some goods", and I said, 

wrlo . Then they said, We vill open the bundle and see 

what We Laave fs,ot". A soon as they took the oissors 

from 4he counter, anf out op n the bundle the two detec-

tives them came into th store: Then the detectives asked 

them where t)riay ot the bumuie fro1, nd they eaid from - 

their fathe 

Y 

fIOW ao you Icnovi taa, A Tiiat is *hat they 

defendants said,'ana Ii.eard it. 

In Vika•', .4.wl!..tAta6s' A In. EflGlisi. 

Les us ear you say at in A A I under-

stand hr T can,t...p, eak1111nrlih. 

BY 011iA4bNn 

Tor to soy it do the best you c. . (In 

English) He said, 711e're you ,,00k, the goods".. H4 0 

y f6v6hern.' 

The liackaEe was aa.)en A They out. it open yes, 

and immediately the dtectives came in. 

Q Haw long were they in the place, about, the do• 

fendante A About ten or twelve minutes; about that 



time. 

c„, :Before tiLe detectives came in' A Ye5, is 

they sat aro. 

y were they there., that long, do you knov4 

0002! She illaY not Jolow what they Were 

ing ,44bout. 

it ;eryolt Uoin, the Arne they were the 

th,a store, and I was attendin 

-7.ABLAI Oustoras's ws(ht out. 

'Want )nedefenaants, aid you' 

tilen ask.d.t4e_de efldixnts what they wanted* and they 

— tkl.f 7 0 Ott fit 

L140 

CROFT MIAPIIN'AcoIoN 

7+rclir witnesS. 

• R P,vPIWIP 

Saffer, were Irou a 'witness in the Police Court, 

slr. 

• WilD toll you t colue he this Morning' 

aae dete-utive caue with apai2erl :c'nd 4-, it .0,49 

coxie1urittI oa&e. 

'What detective was it, The one that came t 

Yes') A I don,t .gnow where AA i0f. 

Do you se,-.1 hin In Court') A There he is. (Indicating 

Officer Gorevan) 

When aiu he serve you witu this adblident0 



Just then, when he Caine. 

Where in your store Yes. 

216 

Q.'When . A Before I,came dawn here, he came tkutrils 

and, we got on the car, and all came dawn together. 

Officer Gorevan went o your store this morning, a 

brouvit you here A Yes. 

Old offioer Gorevan speak to you  A No sir. 

He is one of the officers that ma,de the arrest on 

the 19th of SeptaLtiber" A Y061 air. , 

When you got on ,he car to come doWn here, did he 

have anything to say to you' fr. He said nothing to mei 

notninc. - The only thing he did ws that they sent' me a 

subpoena, anti I mist dome to the trial. 

Q 0 idn't he tell you what you must testify to' 

J.7a. 01A,ATIX3Y: Objected 'to. 

COURT! Let her answer. 

A Mo- nothing at all. He said nothinc. 

Were you arrested on the nicht of ';:h lith of 

Septelliberc A When i.die boys 'were arrested,' 

Q- That night' A X02 not Inte my husband. 

Q Dith'1t the officers want to .4e you, and, you 

pleded with them that you had xliany cLildren at home, and 

that they should tkJCC your husband' A No, they came 

inivwdiiltelyand took by husband. 

Q, When they took, your husband, were the premises 



searched' Yes they did. 

Did they find property which the; have taken/ 

That I don t know; 

Won't you swear that the of r leers 2 when ther. made 

the arrest, and, while you were there, took property from 

the rear room of your store/ I was not there at the tint, 

time„ because I went away. 

Wilm,n your husband was arrested, were you in the store' 

. A No, Ias no  there at the time the officer arre s tied 

hin, but wiLen they 'Gook hi z away from the store, I was up-

stairs with my chi dren1 and when they took my husband from 

tL $ oe I ou down. 

Didh't you plead with the officers not to arrest 

rou that night' A Why should I ask them not to arrest me', 

J. didn t c.o anything. MY hu8ban is the boss. 

Will you wire r, that when you' husband was arrested, 

A at the officers did not take v o2erty which they found 

in the rear room" A I don't know. I wt,s not there. 

When I Game down, ivy husband was already taken in ônstody. 

How mny times were 'rou arrested' 

i.0 'MALL(: Objected to. 

4OURT: I will -allow it. 

ft Oxilr once. 

Row long ago' A A feve wee.ke ago. 

Q After he 17th of S temiber Yes, sir, after 

the lth. 



How many times was your husband arrested, 

MR. WILALLAY: I object to that, 

improper. 

THE COURT: It has nothing to do with thin (*Ss* 

She may answer it though. 

Ask my husband. L don't know. Ask ay boss. 

Don't you know how many times your husband has been 

arrested" A That Lalave nothinC to do with. 

Q Do you r exaerther weeinE me in your store 

Le was in Ey store. 

• Do you remember -Gelling me that it costed you 

six hundred dolla-r to get mot of this case'. 

A No, I'dia not the lawyer anything. No no. 

You now swear that you did not tell me that it 

cost you six hundred dollars to get out of this case, 

71.71 ODURT: Which case" 

.14:07,7-41XT: This cas_e. The arrest which arose 

out of this transaction, 

No., only that he asked MA I shall dome dawn and testify 

for the. boys, and do something for them as witness. 

What happened with your husband's case -in the 

Police Court7 

nIMALLEY: Objected to as immaterial. 

TO? COURT: Objection sustained. 

Was your husband discaarged" 



R. O'MALL Objected to. 

THE COURT:• Objection sustW.ned. 

MR. ROFFMAN: That is all. 

RE DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR.. O'MALLEY: 

Tslis 'Counsel asked you'to come down and testify, 

did he' A Yes, he cone and told ZA to come here and 

say something for the boys,. 

Q And wha,t did you tell him' A I said, "What have 

I to do with it' I have got nothinc, to •do with it. 
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